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* Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
† Excludes exceptional items

Highlights

Sustainable earnings

Like-for-like  
net income

1.4%
1.4%

(2.9)%

(1.2)%

2014

2013

2012 
EBITDA†

 £302m
£302m

£340m

£313m

2014

2013

2012 

Growing profits

Profit before tax†

£121m
£121m

£137m

£121m

2014

2013

2012 
Adjusted EPS†

19.0p
19.0p

20.5p

19.0p

2014

2013

2012 

Cash generation Debt reduction

Net cash flows 
from operating 
activities

£278m

£296m

£278m

£291m

2012

2013

2014

Net debt

£2.4bn
£2.7bn

£2.4bn

£2.5bn

2012

2013

2014

Financial
■■  Further progress in like-for-like net income with growth of 0.5% in the final quarter resulting in an increase of 

1.4% for the full year 

■■  EBITDA* before exceptional items of £302 million (2013: £313 million), in line with expectations following the 
impact of planned asset disposals

■■  Profit before tax and exceptional items maintained at £121 million (2013: £121 million) as interest savings from 
reduced debt offsets reduction in EBITDA

■■  Profit after tax improved to £30 million (2013: £4 million loss) after net exceptional charges, principally relating 
to property matters, reduced to £65 million (2013: £99 million) 

■■  Adjusted earnings per share† in line with prior year at 19.0p (2013: 19.0p)

■■  Strong cash generation from operations enables continued reduction in net debt, down to £2.4 billion (2013: 
£2.5 billion)

■■  Partial refinancing of 2018 corporate bonds and a new revolving bank facility completed on 7 October 2014 
provides a smoother and extended debt maturity profile with a reduced overall cost of borrowing, improving 
flexibility and optionality 

Operational
■■  Net proceeds from disposals of £73 million (2013: £150 million). The asset disposal programme materially 

reduced to focus primarily on under-performing assets with proceeds re-invested for higher returns

■■  Capital investment of £66 million (2013: £62 million) across the estate of which 41% was focused on growth 
driving initiatives, up from 32% achieved last year

■■  Operational focus aimed at improving publican profitability which has helped deliver a 16% reduction in 
business failures

KPIs



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

Contents

Strategic Report

Chairman’s Statement 02

Strategic Review 03

Chief Executive’s Review 06

Financial Review 13

Corporate Social Responsibility 15

Risks and Uncertainties 21

Directors’ Report

Directors’ Report 26

Board of Directors 30

Governance Report 32

Audit Committee Report 37

Nomination Committee Report 43

Directors’ Remuneration Report 44

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation  
to the Group and Company Financial Statements 67

Accounts

Group Income Statement 68

Statements of Comprehensive Income 69

Balance Sheets 70

Statements of Changes in Equity 71

Cash Flow Statements 73

Notes to the Accounts 74

Independent Auditor’s Report 122

Shareholder Information

Five Year Record 127

Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders 127

Shareholder Information 128

Notice of Annual General Meeting 129

Explanatory Notes to the Notice of Annual  
General Meeting 132

Award Winners 138

Community Heroes - Regional Winners 140

The Atlas, Fullham

The Bath Arms, Cheddar

The Tickled Trout, Wye

The Arion, Ainsdale

D
ire

c
to

rs
’ R

e
p

o
rt

A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
Sh

a
re

h
o

ld
e

r I
n

fo
rm

a
tio

n
St

ra
te

g
ic

 R
e

p
o

rt

01Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Chairman’s Statement

The progress the Company has made, together with the 
refinancing exercise relating to the bank facilities and the 2018 
corporate bonds that completed on 7 October 2014, provides 
us with a platform to review the longer term direction of the 
business, continue our operational improvements, further 
reduce debt and generate value for shareholders.

Profit before tax and exceptional items for the year was 
maintained at the same level as last year at £121 million. 
Growth in like-for-like net income was achieved in each quarter 
of the year which is a testament to our continued focus on 
driving through initiatives which support our publicans and 
ultimately enhance our income. While the economy generally 
has shown some signs of strengthening, the consumer 
recovery remains fragile but steps we have taken in previous 
years to grow the business are beginning to come through 
so that we are cautiously optimistic that our improving trend 
will continue.

I am also able to report good progress on the Company’s 
debt and balance sheet issues. The business continues to 
proactively manage its debt profile; a partial refinancing of 
the 2018 corporate bonds and the introduction of a new 
revolving bank facility was completed on 7 October 2014 to 
help smooth and extend the debt maturity profile and reduce 
the costs of borrowings. Going forward we plan to scale back 
the asset disposal programme which has been a feature of 
the last few years and focus on disposals of underperforming 
assets to deliver proceeds to invest in the retained estate 
rather than to pay down debt. This is a real turning point for 
the business and an opportunity to move towards achieving 
EBITDA growth. We currently expect to generate around 
£60 million in the coming year from disposals of properties 
which we do not consider can deliver value to the business 
and plan to invest approximately £70 million in our retained 
assets, increasingly targeting growth projects that can deliver 
incremental returns.

The trend of debt reduction has continued and in 2014 we 
reduced total debt by a further £117 million, with total net 
debt at the year end now £2.4 billion. While debt reduction 
will continue, it is no longer the priority use of excess cash.

Dividend
In the near-term we intend to use excess cash flow to fund 
business growth in order to generate value for shareholders 
by sustaining the operational progress we have seen over the 
last year, and therefore the Board believes it is not appropriate 
to resume the payment of dividends at this time.

Board of directors
We announced in November 2013 the appointment of Simon 
Townsend as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) with effect 
from 6 February 2014 and Simon seamlessly transitioned 
from Chief Operating Officer to CEO, reducing the number 
of executives to two. We welcomed Adam Fowle as a non-
executive director on 6 February 2014. Adam has brought 
to the Board extensive experience of customer service and 
strategic skills and is already providing excellent advice and 
support to our commercial teams and insight into alternative 
operating models.

Employees and publicans
Our engaged and hard-working employees and publicans 
are critical to our success. The Board is pleased with the 
results of employee engagement activities, culminating in an 
excellent 92% response rate to our employee engagement 
survey undertaken in the year which concluded that four out 
of five of our employees are highly engaged in their work and 
the business, and delighted that our publicans continue to 
include award winners. I would like to thank them all for their 
hard work during the past year.

Outlook
We ended the 2013 financial year with an improving trend in 
our trading performance and maintained that through 2014. 
We do not underestimate the fragility in market conditions 
but acknowledge signs of recovery and the improving trends 
in our own business. We are pleased that for the first seven 
weeks of the new financial year we have continued to deliver 
like-for-like net income growth in line with our objectives for 
the year.

R M Walker 
Chairman
17 November 2014

“I am pleased to present our results 
for the financial year ended 30 
September 2014. Through 2014 the 
Company has continued to make 
steady progress, resulting in an 
increase in like-for-like net income 
of 1.4% for the full year. ”

Robert Walker
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Enterprise puts publicans at the 
heart of everything we do

Our market
The UK pub sector has witnessed a steady contraction over 
the last decade resulting in a significant reduction in the 
number of pubs, down to an overall market of approximately 
47,000 pubs.

Pub profitability has been significantly affected by numerous 
factors including; the smoking ban, the global recession, low 
alcohol prices in supermarkets and the financial effect of 
increasing business taxes, utility costs and other overheads. 
In addition, consumers are becoming ever more discerning. 
Operators must continually respond to changing consumer 
needs to remain competitive. However publicans, supported 
by their pub company, who are committed to developing 
successful businesses using the resources available to 
them, will still succeed. The support we can offer includes 
business building support offered by local regional managers, 
partnerships with suppliers enabling delivery of our ‘pub 
offer’, training for publicans and investment in our estate to 
maintain its quality and unlock its potential.

We put our publicans at the heart of everything we do, 
supporting them to drive their businesses forward.

The Anglesea Arms, Hammersmith
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Regular fixed income Dry rent (lower rental)

Variable income (higher sales = higher income) Wet rent based on sales

Beer supplies

Resources and expertise

Lease agreement

SCORFA*

Training and business support

Stability and low risk opportunity

* Originally defined by the EU Commission, “Special Commercial or Financial Advantage” reflects countervailing benefits 
such as management support and other services and cost savings provided by Enterprise.

Mutual 
interest 

in a 
successful 

pub

Property 
owner

Business 
owner PublicanEnterprise

Our model makes a pub business more accessible than the 
purchase of a freehold, while providing the same feelings of 
ownership, autonomy and pride for our publicans that come 
from them building their own successful pub businesses 
that offer exceptional local support to the communities they 
serve. 

There has been some adverse publicity and criticism of the 
industry over the past few years regarding the tied arrangement 
on which our business model is based. This culminated in the 
Government conducting a review that concluded in June 2014 
with the Small Business, Enterprise and Employment Bill 2014, 
which recommends that a new Statutory Code, enforced by 
an independent adjudicator, is needed to ensure that the 
industry continues to operate in a way that is not prejudicial 
to the publicans. Enterprise currently operates within its 
own documented and British Institute of Innkeeping (BII) 
Benchmarking and Accreditation Services accredited Code of 
Practice that is part of a flexible industry-owned framework of 
self-regulation, which we believe works effectively and is the 
best solution for all interested parties. However, we recognise 
the intent of the statutory regime and are working with the 
appropriate bodies to ensure the final legislation presents a 
workable solution for the industry, although we believe the 
framework under which we currently operate is broadly in line 
with that which the Government is proposing. 

We have always considered that our business model is fair to 
our publicans, as they pay an element of both wet (variable) 
rent based on the commission we receive from sales of 

drink products, and dry (fixed) rents from the letting of the 
property, which together form the return and payment for 
using the property to run their business. To this end, both we 
and our publicans have a shared interest in our pubs being 
successful. If the publican struggles and less beer is sold we, 
the landlord, receive less wet-rent and the publican pays a 
lower effective rent. When we work in partnership to drive 
beer sales, both Enterprise and the publican will benefit from 
higher volumes and potential profit. 

Enterprise profits from the wholesale margin as we are a 
major purchaser of beer and other wet products. The terms 
we enjoy through our size and economies of scale would 
not be available to individual publicans buying drinks on their 
own terms. This allows us to offer to our publicans SCORFA 
(Special Commercial or Financial Advantage) benefits, such 
as investment, training, business support and other business 
building and cost saving opportunities. 

We can also boast having the largest product range in the 
industry, which we can make available to our publicans. 
Enterprise offers products from over 480 brewers, including 
over 1,300 varieties of cask ale. Craft beer continues to go 
from strength to strength and we support craft brewers 
and our publicans to capitalise on its success, promoting 
independent brewers through our partnership with SIBA 
(Small Independent Brewers Association). 

Our business model
Enterprise Inns plc (Enterprise) is the largest leased and tenanted pub business in the UK with 5,348 trading pubs at year 
end, representing approximately 25% of the leased and tenanted pubs in the UK. The diagram below shows our business 
model. We own the pub and the tenant or lessee (the publican), is responsible for its management. The publican usually also 
contracts to purchase some or all of their drinks products from us, often referred to as a tied agreement.

Strategic Review

04 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
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The pub operations strategy is dedicated to creating the right environment for publicans to build successful and sustainable 
businesses and to deliver growth. This relies on quality publicans wanting to join Enterprise, having agreements which support 
their business and above all, a level of consistently brilliant service delivered to publicans that allows them to focus on managing 
their pub, its customers and its condition.

Effective execution relies upon our team working hard to partner with publicans to help build their business through locally tailored 
support. We believe that employees, who are engaged in our business, goals and strategy ultimately deliver a better service and that 
our ways of working define what we stand for and how we behave with all our stakeholders, be they customers, suppliers, investors 
or the communities in which we operate. This includes ensuring that we have high quality, tailored communications and marketing 
support for our publicans and their business.

Effective investment in and maintenance of our assets is essential to the on-going success of the business. Therefore we operate 
a strategy of recycling the proceeds of disposals of the underperforming assets in the Group into a significant level of targeted 
capital investment. This includes encouraging and assisting publicans to invest in their properties, either in line with their repairing 
obligations under their agreements or additional investment on growth focused capital expenditure. We have developed an 
effective property team to identify a plan for each of our assets and respond to the operational team and publicans by assessing 
and investing the appropriate capital in the estate.

Given the general economic climate and the high leverage of the Group, we have focused on ensuring that we operate with an 
efficient and manageable capital structure. As part of this it is essential that the Group operates within the financial covenants 
required by our debt instruments, which requires a clear financing strategy to provide the business with sufficient resources 
and flexibility to invest in and grow the business. Part of this strategy includes the consideration of new funding sources as 
appropriate.

The operational execution of pub operations and 
property management to optimise the performance for 
Enterprise and the publican is based on:

■■  Retail offer – planning and 
implementing the right proposition 
for every pub, for which we strive 
to deliver like-for-like income 
growth;

■■  Publican – driving forward 
various initiatives within 
our pub operations to help 
support publicans, making 
them more profitable, and 
hence reducing publican 
failure; and

■■  Property – enhancing the quality 
of the estate through targeted 
investment and disposal of the tail 
end of the estate. 

Where these three activities are perfectly aligned, we 
are able to optimise the return for Enterprise and the 

publican, driving the business forward with sustainable 
income growth. Through the effective management of 
these activities we can optimise our relationship with 

publicans throughout their time with us. We can 
attract the best publicans, support them to 

improve their trade and, when necessary, 
manage a smooth transition to a new 

publican. 

While we strive to deliver this growth 
strategy through our focus on our 
pub operations and our property 
management, we also continue to 
ensure that our capital structure evolves 
to offer the flexibility and certainty 

necessary to provide the foundations 
for business growth.

The KPIs used by the business to monitor our 
performance against our strategic objectives are 

shown on the inside front cover and are discussed in 
the Chief Executive’s Review and Financial Review as 
appropriate.
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Our business strategy
Enterprise has developed its business strategy to focus on operating a leased and tenanted pub model. Our clear goals are 
to return the business to EBITDA growth and create value for our shareholders by focusing on the following three strategic 
areas:
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Chief Executive’s Review

Simon Townsend

The provision of services such as free WiFi and discounted 
Sky entertainment packages, combined with extensive 
training programmes, product marketing, business advice and 
direct financial assistance are all aimed at reducing publicans’ 
costs and growing their sales to enhance their profitability 
which, in turn, benefits our income. As a consequence of 
such action, we have seen a 16% reduction in the level of 
business failures in the year. 

The improvement in trading performance has been achieved 
across the estate with all geographic sectors reporting 
stability or growth in like-for-like net income. The Southern 
estate has performed particularly well helped by strong 
trading in and around London. We have 732 pubs within the 
Greater London region and their like-for-like net income was 
£70 million in the year, up 4.4% on the prior year. The top 90% 
(4,813 pubs) of our estate, in terms of income earned, grew 
like-for-like net income by 3.1% in the year, demonstrating 
the strength of the core estate.

Location

No. of 
trading 

pubs 
at 30 Sept 

2014

Net 
income*

FY14
£m

% of total 
net 

income
FY14

Net 
income

FY13
£m

Net 
income 
change

FY14
%

North 1,594 102 27 102 –

Midlands 1,724 110 30 110 –

South 2,030 158 43 153 3.3 

Total 5,348 370 100 365 1.4

*  Net income represents like-for-like pub level gross profits, stated before 
property costs of £29 million, unallocated central costs of £6 million and 
excluding £3 million of net income relating to disposals or non-licensed 
premises.

Enhancing returns from the estate
Our asset disposal programme has materially reduced in scale 
as we no longer rely upon disposals to repay debt. During the 
year we generated £73 million from asset disposals compared 
to £150 million of asset disposals in the prior year. Disposals 
primarily relate to under-performing assets with the proceeds 
re-invested to drive like-for-like net income growth and improve 
the financial returns in our retained estate. The objective of this 
equalisation of divestment and investment activities is to re-
deploy invested capital to optimise our returns which will lead 
to enhanced total earnings. We target Return on Investment 
(ROI) of 15% and have achieved an average ROI of 19% on 
schemes delivered in the last twelve months. 

In the current year, we re-invested £66 million compared to £62 
million in the prior year, of which, 41% was directed toward 
income enhancing opportunities, up from 32% last year. 

I am pleased to report our full year results for the year ended 
30 September 2014, during which period we have delivered 
EBITDA before exceptional items of £302 million. While this 
is down £11 million on the comparative period this is primarily 
due to asset disposals in line with our plans. Profit before 
taxation, excluding exceptional items, is consistent with last 
year at £121 million. 

The stabilisation of profit before taxation is an important 
milestone for the business and has been delivered through 
an improved performance in like-for-like net income growth 
across the pub estate combined with a significant reduction 
in the level of asset disposals. The decline in EBITDA has 
slowed as a result and has been offset by interest savings 
from continued debt reduction. The improved profitability of 
the retained estate is further demonstrated by the increase in 
average EBITDA per pub during the year, up 1.5% to £55,700 
per pub. 

Delivering growth
Like-for-like net income across the pub estate grew by 1.4% 
for the full financial year, with growth achieved in each quarter 
of the year. In the first half of the year performance was, 
to some extent, flattered by a relatively weak comparative 
period. The second half of the year began with some relatively 
good weather and a modest benefit to income from the FIFA 
World Cup finals in June. In the final quarter of the year, we 
faced more challenging comparatives with a strong period in 
the prior year and were therefore pleased to achieve growth 
of 0.5% which we believe reflects real improvements in the 
underlying performance of the business. 

These improvements are being delivered through the 
successful implementation of our many initiatives aimed 
at enhancing publican profitability and through our capital 
re-investment, which is targeting a greater proportion of 
investment at projects that will deliver incremental income. 

06 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
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Development of the Enterprise model
Our core business model is, and will remain, the operation 
of leased and tenanted pubs, utilising the flexibility 
offered by our range of tied agreements. In this model the 
entrepreneurial publican meets the needs of consumers and 
responds to changes in the competitive landscape at a local 
level. We continue to believe that this model provides the 
optimum solution for us and our publicans in the majority of 
our pubs. However, it is important that we are prepared to 
access the value opportunity that could be available through 
other specific retail formats or operating models for some 
assets within our estate. 

We are evolving the Enterprise model in a number of areas. 
We are building an improved understanding of consumer 
trends and competitor activity to inform our investment 
and divestment decision making. On occasion, the local 
publican may require operational support and Enterprise 
capital investment to ensure the retail offer is optimised for 
a particular pub. In such circumstances, it may be beneficial 
for us to have greater involvement in the operation of the 
pub to enhance our returns. We have seen benefits from this 
intervention in our 183 Beacon pubs over the last three years 
and we have now extended this approach to nine Enterprise 
managed pubs. 

Additionally, we are developing our commercial property 
capability to ensure that we secure the best use and 
consequential value of our assets. This can include the letting 
of assets on a free-of-tie commercial property basis and also 
the use of turnover related rent agreements. We currently 

have 159 commercial properties generating £7 million of 
index-linked annual income. 

Strong cashflow and efficient capital 
structure 
We have a manageable and tax efficient capital structure 
comprising predominantly long-term debt, consistent with 
the valuable security of our freehold assets. Our total net debt 
at 30 September 2014 was £2.4 billion, down from £2.5 billion 
last year. This debt reduction has been delivered by the strong 
cash generative nature of the business, with £278 million of 
cash flow from operating activities (2013: £291 million).

On 7 October 2014, we completed a partial refinancing of the 
2018 corporate bonds which effectively moved £249.5 million 
of debt that was due to be repaid in 2018 to a later maturity 
of 2023. At the same time we commenced a new four-year 
non-amortising bank facility of £138 million. The combined 
effect of these transactions was to smooth and extend our 
debt maturity profile at a reduced overall cost of borrowing 
which provides us with greater on-going flexibility to grow 
the business. 

Whilst debt reduction will continue, primarily through the 
scheduled amortisation of the Unique bonds, it is no longer 
the priority for the use of excess cash. In the near-term, 
having funded the cash cost of our recent refinancing, we 
intend to use excess cashflow to fund business growth in 
order to generate value for shareholders by sustaining our 
operational progress. 

The Bath Arms, 
Cheddar
The Bath Arms has historically been the hub 
of Cheddar village. There has been an Ale 
House on the site since 1738, with the current 
incarnation of the pub becoming established 
in 1816. Following an extended period of 
design, consultation and liaison with the 
local community a redevelopment of the site 
commenced to restore it to its former glory. 
The Bath Arms is now a focal point for the local 
community and the surrounding areas as well 
as being a wonderful place for tourists to stay, 
eat or have a drink. The site benefits from six 
luxury letting rooms and a modern skittle alley 
and is now once again considered the heart of 
Cheddar village. The site is well supported by its 
community, will host a festive fair throughout 
December and will proudly be the home for the 
Cheddar village christmas tree.

D
ire

c
to

rs
’ R

e
p

o
rt

A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
Sh

a
re

h
o

ld
e

r I
n

fo
rm

a
tio

n
St

ra
te

g
ic

 R
e

p
o

rt

07Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Operational review 
Our operational teams are working ever more closely with 
our publicans in order to deliver the improvement in like-
for-like net income that we have achieved. Enhancing pub 
profitability through the provision of services which grow our 
publicans’ sales, or reduce their operating costs, is key to 
ensuring that our income growth can be sustained. 

Attracting and retaining the right publicans to 
the Enterprise offer
Our business model is based on building enduring 
partnerships with great publicans. We are competing not 
only with other pub companies to find great people, but also 
with many other franchise and retail hospitality organisations. 
Our unique blend of flexible agreements, estate quality 
and business support ensures we can attract some of the 
very best entrepreneurial business operators and provide 
them with the opportunity to establish their own business 
providing valued services to local communities without the 
financial risk and constraint of asset ownership.

Our high quality pubs in the heart of thriving local 
communities offer compelling business opportunities and 
we have continued to invest substantial sums in our estate, 
including throughout the economic downturn. This year we 
have invested £66 million into the estate with some 41% 

invested in programmes that will generate incremental 
income. Within this total we have invested in excess of 
£100,000 in 70 pubs, in excess of £50,000 in 188 pubs and 
between £20,000 and £50,000 in 600 pubs. 

In addition to the quality and location of the amenity, we have 
continued to evolve our transparent and flexible agreements 
coupled with appropriate business support in order to 
attract and retain the best publicans. Sometimes the form 
of a particular asset or the needs of a publican’s business 
plan require us to offer uniquely tailored agreements, and 
in the appropriate commercial circumstances we will offer 
completely free-of-tie (FOT) leases, standard commercial 
leases or turnover based agreements.

We are committed to providing the help and support required 
to ensure our new publicans are able to quickly establish 
their new business. Our “100 Days” programme has been 
specifically designed to support new publicans during 
this critical period, building on our existing comprehensive 
support package, offering more concentrated and bespoke 
help, support, advice and experience from our team of 
regional managers. We believe this proactive investment in 
new publicans will establish a more sustainable long-term 
business for our publicans, for the communities in which our 
pubs are located and, as a consequence, for our shareholders.

Northend Vaults, 
Gloucester 
The Northend Vaults is one of the most 
historic buildings in Gloucester dating back 
to the late 16th or early 17th Century. After a 
number of uses, it became a public house in 
the 20th Century and has remained as such 
ever since. The pub suffered a number of 
unfortunate events, including a significant fire 
in 2012. Having reviewed all options, Enterprise 
commenced restoring it to its former glory 
in September 2013. This restoration was 
completed in close consultation with the local 
conservation officer to ensure the historic 
parts of the building were fully restored to their 
original specification and in March 2014, nearly 
two years after its closure, the pub re-opened 
its doors and started pulling pints once again. 
The pub is now going from strength to strength, 
utilising a new beer garden at the back and the 
completely refurbished trade areas.

Chief Executive’s Review
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We have recognised that some publicans who have been 
running a pub for less than a year really benefit from peer-to-
peer mentoring provided by fellow Enterprise publicans. This 
support is provided by our most experienced and successful 
publicans who can provide invaluable, relevant and easily 
accessible advice.

Unfortunately, even the best publicans may, on occasion, 
need support to tackle unforeseen or unavoidable challenges 
to their business. In the last financial year, we have therefore 
provided temporary concessions and other financial support 
to publicans at a cost of £7 million (2013: £6 million). This 
expenditure can be in the form of direct financial assistance or 
support which is targeted toward business-building activities 
that will enhance footfall and income for the publican.

While a change of publican can 
be a catalyst for revitalising the 
prospects of a pub, a key strategic 
aim for our business is to avoid the 
need for a change of publican due 
to business failure. We are pleased 
with the progress we have made in 
reducing the incidence of failure by 
16% to 486 in the current financial 
year and we are targeting further 
improvement in this area.

Our core leased and tenanted 
model provides a wide range of 
flexible agreement options but 
sometimes local consumer or 
market conditions can require 
a more extensive evolution of 
our offer. Through our Beacon 
“managed tenancy” agreements, 

of which we have 183 (2013: 185), we have seen that our 
increased involvement in the operation of a pub can assist 
its trading income and its sustainability. Our Beacon model 
pubs grew like-for-like net income by 7% in the financial year 
and have evolved to become a successful operating concept, 
providing a simple, value-for-money, drinks-led pub offer. 
These pubs are still operated under a tenancy agreement, 
but are supported by a dedicated retail team focused on 
sales, marketing, retail standards, customer service and cost 
control. 

We have further evolved this model such that we now also 
operate nine managed pubs and plan to extend this trial in 
2015. We expect to evolve our approach over time, informed 
by the evidence from the operation of these managed 
pubs, with the strategic objective of understanding the 
potential additional economic benefit to be derived from 
managed and semi-managed operating models; to evaluate 
the performance of defined retail concepts; to assess the 
transferability of benefits to the leased and tenanted model; 

to determine the value protection opportunity that arises 
from taking full operational control of pubs at risk of business 
failure; to assess the commercial and supply chain benefits 
to the Group that can be derived from a managed operation; 
and to develop a largely outsourced, scalable back-office 
capability which provides the essential control environment 
for such operating models.

Supporting publicans to grow their businesses
The average period of occupation of the publicans who 
operate our pubs is currently over six years. During that time, 
we invest in many activities aimed at promoting and growing 
the publicans’ business. These activities are delivered 
through our “Pub offer”, our exceptional local support and 
through extensive communication and marketing initiatives. 

Average period of  
publican occupation: 

6.4 years (2013: 6.2 years)

Our “Pub offer”
We have negotiated market-leading terms to enable our 
publicans to take full advantage of both Sky and BT Sport 
entertainment packages. These deals, which are enjoyed 
by over 900 of our publicans, enable them to offer a great 
entertainment experience to their customers at a substantially 
discounted cost. 

We have also partnered with Arqiva, a communications 
infrastructure and media services company, to offer a free, 
high speed WiFi service to our publicans and their customers. 
Not only does this service help our publicans attract additional 
footfall and increase customer dwell time in their pubs, it can 
also typically save them £500 per annum, and over 2,150 
pubs have had the service installed to date. Increasing the 
number of pubs that have access to high speed internet 
also gives us the opportunity to interact with our publicans 
through our digital communication channels and will provide 
the platform for increased electronic ordering and marketing 
as we further develop our digital capabilities.

In the final quarter of the financial year, we launched our 
online ordering service to publicans and over 650 publicans 
have used the service to date. This facility also allows us to 
provide our publicans with up to date business solutions, as 
well as making it easier for potential and existing publicans 
to interact with us.

Business failures

2014

486

(16)%

20132012

579

(21)%
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Exceptional local support
Our regional managers are at the centre of the commercial 
relationship between us and our publicans. We have invested 
in an enhanced induction and training programme for our 
regional managers to ensure they are best equipped to 
recognise and respond to changing market conditions and 
provide appropriate business support to publicans. We are 
also driving efficiencies in working practices within our 
central functions to reduce the administrative burden on our 
regional managers in order to enable them to spend more 
face-to-face time with publicans. 

We offer a wide range of training courses for both new and 
experienced publicans. The vast majority of our training 
is provided to our publicans free of charge. We tailor our 
training to take account of the evolving marketplace and 
the individual needs of our publicans and provide a range 
of training formats including classroom style, on-the-job 
training, business mentoring and access to on-line courses. 

We provide easy access apprenticeship schemes for publicans, 
working in partnership with our established training experts. 
Apprenticeships can help improve core staff skills, covering the 
essentials required to run or work in a pub including customer 
service; health and safety; licensing law compliance; and cash 
handling. By offering these apprenticeships, we are providing 
the foundation on which to develop a successful career in the 
pub industry and we are pleased that over 100 apprenticeships 
have been created by Enterprise publicans in the past year.

The quality of our pubs and the capability of so many of our 
publicans, has been recognised on numerous occasions 
during the year in national and local media, as well as by 
many different awarding bodies. This includes accolades for 
service excellence, design, entertainment, and beer quality, 
together with AA Rosettes, Michelin Bib Gourmands and 
Michelin stars. In the 2014 Great British Pub Awards, Kevin 
and Michelle Abbott of The Anchor Inn in Wingham, Kent 
were named as the Best Entertainment pub in the UK, while 
The Grafton in Kentish Town, run by Joel Czopor and Susie 
Clarke, was crowned as the overall 2014 UK Pub of the Year.

In 2012 we launched our Community Heroes Awards 
programme where we committed £1 million over 10 years to 
community causes and initiatives promoted by our publicans 
and their customers. In 2014 nearly 300 publicans applied to 
enter the Enterprise Community Heroes Awards, all of them 
making a significant impact on the communities they serve. 
Adrian Emmett, publican of the Lion in Treorchy, was the 
2014 National Award winner, receiving £10,000 to continue 
his remarkable programme of community activity whilst the 
other 17 regional finalists each received £5,000 towards local 
causes and activities of their choice. 

Communications and marketing
In April 2014, building on the success of our 2013 roadshows, 
over 1,500 publicans attended our “Enterprise Live” events, 
representing a 29% increase in attendance over the prior 
year. These trade shows brought together an even wider 
selection of suppliers and product categories, enabling 
publicans to access exclusive offers with potential savings 
of up to £7,000 per pub. We were also able to showcase our 
pubs to interested applicants, meeting and interviewing over 
280 prospective publicans as a result.

Our marketing team provides an extensive range of trade-
building support to publicans, from marketing initiatives to 
detailed help and advice providing valuable information and 
business support. This year, we have distributed thousands 
of free business support kits to help publicans maximise 
trade on key occasions. 

We promote a wide range of popular and new brands every 
month, enabling publicans to take advantage of discounted 
prices to drive additional sales and improve gross margin. 

Regulatory review
Draft legislation to establish a Statutory Pubs Code (the 
Code) to regulate the activities of large tied pub companies, 
together with an independent adjudicator to enforce the 
Code, was announced on 3 June 2014 in the Small Business, 
Enterprise and Employment Bill 2014. Whilst we remain of the 
view that the industry-owned framework of self-regulation is 
effective and is the best solution for all interested parties, we 

Chief Executive’s Review

Kings Arms, Frating The Anchor Inn,  
Wingham

The Grafton,
Kentish Town
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recognise the intent of the statutory regime and are working 
with the appropriate bodies to ensure the final legislation 
presents a workable solution for the industry. 

Separately, we welcomed the Government’s decision to 
reduce the burden of duty on beer sales for the second 
year in a row. Beer sales represent a significant proportion 
of turnover in the majority of UK pubs and this important 
gesture, coupled with the removal of the hugely damaging 
duty escalator in 2013, has provided an important boost to 
investment and employment in UK pubs which continue to 
be the home of responsible drinking.

Property review 
An underlying strength of our business is our predominantly 
freehold property estate. Our estate comprises 5,406 
properties with a current book valuation of £3.8 billion. 
Within the portfolio we have 5,348 trading properties and 
58 properties which are non-viable, closed properties. Some 
93% of the properties are freehold or quasi-freehold (long-
term leases of over 50 years). 

Portfolio as at 30 September 2014
No. 

of pubs 
Total value

£m

Property, plant and equipment 
(PPE)
– Freehold and finance leases
– Operating leases

5,028
260

3,809
10

5,288 3,819
Non-current assets held for sale
– Freehold and finance leases 118 30
Total pubs 5,406 3,849*
Non-viable closed pubs (58)
Total trading pubs 5,348

*  Represented by total PPE (£3,834 million) excluding other assets (£25 
million), together with non-current assets held for sale (£30 million) and 
operating lease premiums (£10 million). 

Our pub estate is re-valued every year in part by independent 
valuers and in part by our professionally qualified in-house 
team. The valuation is performed in accordance with the 
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors’ “Red Book” 
valuation standards, which reflect the current and future 
rent and other income streams expected to be generated by 
each property, capitalised using an appropriate multiple. As 
a result of the annual valuation, we have written down the 
value of the current estate by £75 million (2013: £139 million), 
a 1.9% (2013: 3.4%) reduction to £3.8 billion with £42 million 
charged to the Income Statement and £33 million reflected 
in the revaluation reserve. As the valuation methodology 
seeks to take account of the medium-term prospects for 
income, over time we should expect sustained growth in like-
for-like net income to be reflected in valuation stability and, 
ultimately, growth.

Disposals of £73 million to redeploy capital to 
optimise returns
We have materially reduced the scale of our asset disposal 
programme as we no longer rely upon disposals to repay 
debt. During the year we generated £73 million from the 
disposal of 230 properties, at an average value of £317,000, 
compared to £150 million raised from the disposal of 428 
properties in the prior year at an average value of £350,000. 
The reduction in average value achieved reflects the fact that 
the vast majority of these disposals are under-performing 
assets where the returns do not justify their retention. 
Our strategy is to optimise returns by re-investing disposal 
proceeds to drive like-for-like net income growth and enhance 
financial returns in our retained estate. 

Our disposal programme is expected to reduce in size again 
next year with proceeds for the year to 30 September 2015 
expected to be in the region of £60 million of which up to £40 
million is expected from our Unique estate.

Investment of £66 million with increasing 
proportion focused on growth projects 
We have strengthened the capabilities of our property team 
and enhanced the processes controlling capital investment 
to ensure that we are able to deliver enhanced returns. 

During the year we invested 
£66 million (2013: £62 million) 
in enhancing the estate. For 
the year to September 2015 
we are planning to increase 
our investment further 
with spend in the region of 
£70 million. This is the first 
time in many years that we 
plan to invest more than 
our proceeds from asset 
disposals. This positive net 
investment in the total 
business is a necessary 
enabler of EBITDA growth.

Of the £66 million of capital 
investment in the year, 
£2 million was invested in 
central infrastructure and 
£3 million was invested 
in fixtures and fittings for 
our pubs. We invested £23 
million on maintaining the 

condition of the estate and £11 million in support of our letting 
programme, both of which protect our income streams as 
they typically involve investment in the asset infrastructure 
as opposed to the retail offer. Often such investment is made 
as a result of a business failure or change of tenancy. As we 
reduce the level of business failures, we expect to reduce 
the proportion of total investment directed at this activity. 

Levels of capital 
investment compared 
to levels of disposals

2012 2013 2014

£73m

Levels of capital investment

Levels of disposals

£66m

£150m

£62m

£208m

£63m
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We are targeting more capital into programmes that will 
grow incremental income, often coupled with additional 
investment from our publicans, to improve pub profitability 
and enhance our income. In the year, we invested £27 million 
in growth-driving initiatives, representing 41% of our total 
capital investment, up from 32% in the prior year. We target 
a minimum ROI of 15% and have achieved an average ROI of 
19% on schemes delivered in the last 12 months.

% of capital investment spent on growth 
driving initiatives

2012 2013 2014

23%
32%

41%

Commercial property management
We are able to optimise our income from the vast majority 
of our assets by trading them as pubs under the leased and 
tenanted model. However, we are increasingly identifying 
the prospect of greater value by trading the asset in an 
alternative use, either as FOT pubs or “non-pub” assets, 
and we currently operate 159 such commercial properties, 

although we expect this number to grow in the coming years. 
Of these properties, 137 are FOT pubs, that are included in 
the analysis of trading pubs shown on page 11, and 22 are 
non-pub assets such as convenience stores. Whilst we have 
typically sold non-pub assets in the past, we now consider the 
sustainability of income and returns to determine whether or 
not to retain the asset as a commercial property.

An additional aspect of commercial property management is 
to ensure that our tenants, whether tied or free-of-tie, are 
aware of their legal responsibilities with regard to the upkeep 
of our assets and to ensure that, where appropriate, such 
obligations are enforced. We complete property condition 
inspections for each of our assets at least twice a year and, 
where rectification work is required, we implement a clear 
process of repairs enforcement.

W S Townsend 
Chief Executive Officer 
17 November 2014

Chief Executive’s Review

Case study 3

The Foresters 
Arms, Lower 
Cumberworth
The Foresters Arms is a rural village gem 
that was failing to meet its full potential 
in an increasingly competitive dining-out 
marketplace. We therefore commissioned 
a design which better reflected the local 
market opportunity, improved the entire 
retail proposition and enabled a new publican 
to realise the full potential of the site. A 
full internal and external refurbishment 
was completed, with input from, and in 
conjunction with, our new publican who 
shares this vision. The new Foresters Arms 
is currently outperforming our original 
expectations, delivering significant increases 
in turnover and profit, restoring the pub’s 
place at the heart of the local community.
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Neil Smith

Financial Review

Income statement
As presented in detail in the Chief Executive’s Review, for the 
year ended 30 September 2014, we have delivered EBITDA 
before exceptional items of £302 million, down £11 million 
compared to the prior year primarily due to the disposal 
programme. 

Like-for-like net income is derived from our rental income and 
the net income from the sale of beer and other products to 
our publicans. Adjusting for the effect of disposals we have 
seen our like-for-like net income grow to £370 million (2013: 
£365 million). In the year our like-for-like net income from 
rents have declined by £1 million, primarily as a consequence 
of business failures, whilst our income from beer supply 
has grown by £6 million as pricing and mix benefits, net of 
discounts, have offset volume decline. 

Pre-exceptional finance costs of £165 million are £12 million 
lower than the prior year as a result of our strategy of debt 
reduction, the primary savings being a significantly reduced 
average drawn debt on the bank facilities and reduced 
costs in relation to the Unique bonds following scheduled 
repayments totalling £68 million during the year. This equates 
to an average interest rate in the year of 6.7% (2013: 6.7%).

Total pre-tax exceptional charges are £85 million (2013: £163 
million) comprising a £75 million (2013: £165 million) charge 
in respect of a reduction in the value of the estate of which 
£42 million (2013: £84 million) arose from the annual valuation 
exercise and £33 million (2013: £81 million) arose from the 
revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held 
for sale; a £7 million (2013: £14 million) charge relating to 
goodwill allocated to disposals; a £10 million (2013: £nil) 
provision for a settlement charge in respect of our pension 
obligations; £3 million (2013: £2 million) of exceptional 
administrative charges and £2 million (2013: £3 million) of 
exceptional net finance costs. These exceptional charges are 
partly offset by the profit on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment (before goodwill allocation) of £12 million (2013: 
£21 million).

Total tax in the year was a charge of £6 million (2013: credit of 
£38 million), representing a charge of £26 million (2013: £26 
million) on the pre-exceptional trading profit and a credit of £20 
million (2013: £64 million) relating to the tax on exceptional 
items. The effective tax rate on the pre-exceptional trading 
profits arising in the year was 21.3% (2013: 21.5%), broadly in 
line with the prior year.

Adjusted earnings per share (EPS) of 19.0p, was in line with 
last year. Basic EPS was 5.9p compared to a loss of 0.8p 
in the prior year, primarily due to the impact of the disposal 
programme and the annual property valuation. 

Cash flow
Net cash flow from operating activities at £278 million (2013: 
£291 million), was down primarily due to the reduction in pre-
exceptional operating profits of £12 million. 

Net cash flows from investing activities generated £7 million 
in the year (2013: £88 million) as we significantly reduced the 
scale of asset disposals such that disposal proceeds were 
only £73 million (2013: £150 million) which were used to fund 
capital investment of £66 million (2013: £62 million).

Financing cash flows primarily reflect interest paid of £167 
million (2013: £183 million), net loan repayments of £129 
million (2013: £168 million) and the purchase and cancellation 
of £10 million (2013: £8 million) of Unique bonds. 

Capital structure
We have a long-term, secure, flexible and tax efficient 
financing structure comprising bank borrowings, securitised 
bonds and corporate bonds. We are a cash generative 
business and have used excess cash flows to reduce debt. 
During the current financial year we have reduced net debt 
to £2.4 billion (2013: £2.5 billion) and at the year end we have 
property assets valued in our Balance Sheet at £3.9 billion, 
representing a loan to value ratio of 62% (2013: 62%).

Corporate and Convertible bonds 
As at 30 September 2014 we had £1,125 million (2013: 
£1,185 million) of secured corporate bonds which are non-
amortising, secured against ring-fenced portfolios of freehold 
pubs and attract fixed interest rates averaging approximately 
6.5%. On 3 February 2014, we repaid upon maturity, a £60 
million corporate bond from available cash flow. The next 
scheduled maturity was the £600 million corporate bond due 
in 2018. 

On 7 October 2014 we completed a partial refinancing of our 
2018 corporate bonds. The partial refinancing will result in 
a lower interest cost and an extended debt maturity. Prior 
to the refinancing, £600 million of 2018 secured corporate 
bonds were outstanding with a coupon of 6.5%. We received 
and accepted tender instructions for £249.5 million of these 
bonds at a cash purchase price of 108.75% of their principal 
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amount. In connection with this partial refinancing we issued 
a new £249.5 million secured corporate bond due in October 
2023 at a coupon of 6.0%, resulting in a reduction of the 
corporate bond due in 2018 to £350.5 million. The new issue 
benefits from a security package on substantially the same 
terms as the 2018 bonds. 

In addition to the corporate bonds, we have an unsecured 
seven year convertible bond that was issued in September 
2013 for gross proceeds of £97 million. The convertible bond 
has a coupon rate of 3.5% and is convertible at a share price 
of £1.91 into 50.8 million ordinary shares.

Bank borrowings 
At 30 September 2014 our drawn bank borrowings net 
of Enterprise cash were £46 million (2013: £41 million), 
broadly in line with the prior year as cash generated from 
the business has been used to repay corporate bonds 
and scheduled amortisation of securitised bonds. As at  
30 September 2014 available bank facilities were £141 million 
which were committed to 15 June 2016 at a cost of 400 to 
450 basis points above LIBOR. 

On 7 October 2014 we also replaced our bank facilities with 
a new £138 million non-amortising revolving credit facility 
which is available through to September 2018. This extends 
the maturity of our previous facility and also benefits from 
improved terms, simplified covenants and lower pricing with 
a new interest rate of 300 basis points above LIBOR. 

The total cash outflow arising from the bank and bond 
refinancing was £28 million, being £22 million in respect of 
the repurchase premium on the bond, which will be charged 
as an exceptional item, and total fees and disbursements 
of £6 million, of which £4 million will be charged as an 
exceptional item and £2 million will be deferred over the 
life of the new debt instruments. The exceptional charges 
and all of the cashflows will be recorded in the year ended  
30 September 2015. 

Securitised bonds 
During the year we have repaid, in accordance with scheduled 
amortisation £68 million of the Unique A3 and A4 securitised 
bonds, which together with £10 million of bonds purchased 
and cancelled, leaves £1.2 billion outstanding at the year end. 
The bonds amortise over a period to 2032 and attract interest 
rates of between 5.7% and 7.4%. At 30 September 2014 the 
Group was £79 million ahead of the amortisation schedule of 
the “class A” securitised bonds through early repayment and 
market purchases.

The £10 million Unique A4 securitised bonds that we 
purchased in the year were purchased at a nil premium to 
their nominal value. These purchases continue the planned 
programme of purchase and cancellation of Unique class 
A notes which ensures that we are one year ahead of the 
scheduled debt profile.

Over the next three financial years to September 2017, the 
Unique bonds are expected to amortise by £71 million in 
2015, £74 million in 2016 and £78 million in 2017. 

Balance Sheet
Our Balance Sheet remains strong with a total net asset 
value of £1.4 billion. We have seen a significant period of 
debt reduction since 2008 which has reduced Group net 
debt from £3.8 billion to £2.4 billion and reduced short-
term bank borrowing from £1.1 billion to £46 million. With 
the completion of the partial refinancing on 7 October 2014 
our business can move into a new phase where the Balance 
Sheet can enable rather than constrain business growth.

The share price at 30 September 2014 of £1.24 (2013: £1.44), 
which equates to an equity value of £624 million, compares 
to a net asset value per share of £2.80 (2013: £2.81). The 
differential between net asset value and market value reflects 
current market sentiment but does not, we believe, reflect 
the underlying value of the Group.

N R Smith 
Chief Financial Officer 
17 November 2014

Financial Review

14 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

Corporate Social Responsibility

It is an important duty to operate a business in an ethical 
and responsible manner and manage those responsibilities 
effectively. In continuing to evolve and develop our Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR) agenda we recognise that it can 
play a major part in leading and influencing our publicans as 
well as our own people and operations.

This report does not contain information about any policies 
of the Group in relation to human rights issues since it is 
not considered necessary for an understanding of the 
development, performance or position of the Group’s 
business activities.

We have continued to make progress 
in this area during the year, which has 
been recognised by our continued 
inclusion in the FTSE4Good Index which 
is designed to objectively measure the 
performance of companies that meet 
globally recognised corporate responsibility standards.

Our CSR delivery framework is based on five strategic drivers 
that ensure we make a real and sustainable difference to our 
people and publicans and the communities in which our pubs 
are located. These drivers are community, people, publicans, 
responsible retailing and environment.

Community
Owning and letting pubs throughout England and Wales 
means that our business can affect local communities in 
terms of amenity and employment opportunities. A driver in 
the success of publicans will be how they run their businesses 
which must be sensitive to local issues, communities 
and customers. Pubs should provide a friendly, safe and 
controlled environment, and make a positive contribution to 
local communities.

We work with publicans, local authorities and other local 
community interest groups to ensure that licensing hours and 
conditions attached to pub premises licenses are appropriate 
and take account of the opportunities and interests of all 
parties. Through our membership of the British Beer and 
Pub Association (BBPA), we engage with Government 
departments within the Home Office and the Department for 
Culture, Media & Sport, to promote understanding of, and 
compliance with, the licensing regime. Each of the pubs we 
own is unique and our publicans aim to provide a distinctive 
service to attract a broad range of customers and community 
groups. They aim to create a congenial atmosphere and 
to promote the prevention of crime and disorder, the 
preservation of public safety, prevention of public nuisance 
and protection of children from harm and must operate so 
that commercial initiatives do not override the core values.

Pub is The Hub
We continue to support the 
philosophy and ethos of The 
Prince of Wales’s ‘Pub is The 
Hub’ campaign, encouraging 
rural publicans to diversify 

and deliver a wide range of services to the communities they 
serve. This will help to secure the longer term success of the 
pub and keep it at the heart of the local community. A number 
of our publicans have developed a range of community 
services including post offices and village shops. 

Supporting industry trade bodies and 
associations
We support a number of key trade bodies and associations 
including the BBPA, the leading body representing Britain’s 
brewers and pub companies who strive to promote and protect 
one of the nation’s most iconic and important industries. We 
work with the Federation of Licensed Victuallers Associations 
(FLVA), an organisation looking after the business interests of 
self-employed licensees in the licensed trade. The BII is the 
professional body for the licensed retail sector with charitable 
status and a remit to raise professional standards. We work 
closely with the BII on a variety of initiatives that support 
our publicans and the industry; we assist all new Enterprise 
publicans with their subscription to the BII. 

Community Heroes
Our Community Heroes Awards are now in their third year and 
were created to honour those publicans who make inspiring 
contributions to their local community. The awards are about 
going above and beyond the call of duty, having a positive 
impact at the heart of the community and giving recognition to 
our publicans who make a real and significant difference to the 
community they serve. Local initiatives don’t have to be big; 
they just have to be positive. Activities such as championing 
local football teams, showcasing local art, raising money for 
charity or offering a meeting space to local committees, are all 
great examples of going the extra mile.

D
ire

c
to

rs
’ R

e
p

o
rt

A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
Sh

a
re

h
o

ld
e

r I
n

fo
rm

a
tio

n
St

ra
te

g
ic

 R
e

p
o

rt

15Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

This is a long-term project for the Company and we are 
investing £1 million over a ten year period to fund our 
Community Heroes Awards. They celebrate the contribution 
of our publicans who have such an impact on the fabric and 
cohesion of their communities. All of the many applicants 
make a significant, positive impact on the communities they 
serve. The national annual award winner receives £10,000 to 
spend on local initiatives with the other 17 regional finalists 
each receiving £5,000 towards local causes and activities of 
their choice. Adrian Emmett, publican of the Lion in Treorchy, 
was the 2014 National Award winner, receiving £10,000 
to continue his extraordinary programme of community 
activity. The judges were particularly impressed with Adrian, 
who engages the community with an active programme of 
initiatives throughout the year such as the 2014 summer 
music festival, which attracted around 2,000 people and 
raised enough money to buy iPads for the local primary 
school.

Charity
In July 2014 around 450 
of our pubs supported 
Cancer Research UK’s first 
ever national fundraising 
BBQ weekend, electing to 
donate 10% of their food 
sales from the event to Cancer Research UK.

The Group operates a Charity Committee consisting of 
employee representatives from each department. The role 
of the committee is to organise a number of fund raising 
activities for both local and national charities throughout the 
year, along with agreeing Enterprise donations to employees 
undertaking charitable activities.

Corporate Social Responsibility

People
Employee engagement survey
Our people are key to the success of the business. We value 
the contribution of each and every one of our employees. 
We want to create an inspiring working environment where 
everyone is engaged and motivated. In 2014 we conducted 
a Group wide employee engagement survey, “My Opinion”. 
With an outstanding 92% response rate, the survey 
concluded that four out of five of our employees are highly 
engaged in their work and the business. The more detailed 
results have been shared throughout the business and the 
feedback is being used to inform our people strategy. A 
number of improvement initiatives are already well under 
way as a result of the survey and our intention is to undertake 
the survey again next year to measure the year on year 
improvement.

Health and wellbeing
We encourage our people to adopt a healthy lifestyle. 
Enterprise offers a flexible benefits scheme to members of 
staff, including benefits such as the cycle to work scheme, 
leisure club membership, private medical and dental 
insurance, flexible holiday benefits, a health screening 
service and a confidential employee assistance programme.

Employment policies
The Group’s employment policies and procedures are 
described in detail in its staff handbook, which is available to 
all employees on our intranet. This handbook takes account 
of relevant employment legislation and best practice. New 
policies, procedures and related training are developed 
as required. The Group’s anti-bribery and corruption code 
of conduct sets out how Group employees, publicans and 
suppliers must act to ensure that our zero tolerance approach 
to bribery and corruption is upheld.

Community Heroes winners
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Diversity
We are committed to equal opportunities and the creation 
of an entirely non-discriminatory working environment. The 
aim of our diversity policy is to ensure that no job applicant 
or employee receives less favourable treatment because of, 
amongst other matters, gender, marital status, race, age, 
sexual preference, religion, belief or disability. All decisions 
are based on the merits of the individual concerned. The 
Group is dedicated to undertaking its business operations 
in a way which respects individual human rights, treats 
individuals with dignity and allows freedom of association.

We give full consideration to applications for employment from 
disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be 
adequately fulfilled by people with disabilities. We endeavour 
to retain the employment of, and arrange suitable retraining 
for, any employee who becomes disabled during their 
employment as well as providing training, career development 
and promotion to disabled employees wherever appropriate.

At 30 September 2014 the number of employees was as 
follows:

Employees Male Female

Directors 6 –

Senior managers* 9 7

Employees* 292 214

* Full time equivalent employees.

Training
We are committed to training and developing all of our 
employees. We place great importance on developing skills 
and potential in order to support our employees, harness 
talent and drive business performance. Wherever possible we 
endeavour to fill our vacancies through internal progression. 
Training is provided in a number of ways, through on the job 
coaching, formal training courses, e-learning and mentoring. 
E-learning is particularly effective in providing regular training 
and process updates to all our field based employees. We also 
sponsor a number of employees in studying for appropriate 
professional qualifications. During the year we are pleased 
to have been awarded Development Partner status with the 
Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA) and 
Approved Employer status with the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (ACCA). 

All-employee share schemes
We encourage employee ownership of Company shares 
through the provision of a Save As You Earn scheme (SAYE) 
in which 165 current employees have entered into savings 
contracts. In addition, the Company continued to offer an 
all-employee Share Incentive Plan (SIP) in December 2013 
in which 129 employees purchased shares out of pre-tax 
income, up to HMRC approved limits, where shares are held 
in a trust together with an award of matching shares by the 
Company in accordance with the SIP.

In recognition of our employment policies, we have attained 
the prestigious accolade of an Investors In People Champion.

Publicans
In line with the entire industry, we are totally committed to 
fair, transparent and lawful dealing with our publicans. We 
have a Code of Practice under which we manage relationships 
with publicans, arrange training to support our publicans and 
to develop business potential. 

■■ Business support and training – We want to ensure 
new publicans are as prepared as possible to run their 
new pub. We require all new publicans to complete the 
Pre-Entry Awareness Training course run by the BII. We 
have an industry leading induction programme called 
“100 Days” to offer intensive help and support to our new 
publicans. All our publicans can also benefit from free 
business development and training courses.

■■ Best practice – We are committed to encouraging all our 
publicans to support the communities they serve.

■■ Mentoring – We have introduced a publican mentoring 
service for publicans who need additional help and support 
to establish their business. This invaluable support is 
provided by some of our most experienced and successful 
publicans. 

■■ Marketing Support – Throughout the year we offer our 
publicans special deals and online ordering promotions.

■■ Gaming – Gaming and leisure machines are an integral 
part of the business for many pubs. We ensure that 
our publicans are aware of both their legal and social 
responsibilities under the Gambling Act 2005.

■■ Drug awareness – It is the responsibility of all publicans 
to create and maintain a safe, secure and relaxing 
environment for their customers. We support our publicans 
through free training and help and advice to ensure they 
can fulfil these obligations.

■■ Retail standards – Our regional managers work with our 
publicans to help them ensure they offer the highest levels 
of retail standards to their customers and provide a safe 
and welcoming environment at all times. As beer is such 
an intrinsic part of a pub offer, Enterprise works closely 
with Cask Marque an independent body that assesses the 
quality of beer served by member pubs.

■■ Apprenticeships – We have developed an apprenticeship 
programme to support our publicans to promote the 
industry by developing talented team members. We are 
committed to supporting our industry in attracting and 
training the right people for the future. 
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Responsible retailing
The irresponsible consumption or retailing of alcohol can 
have detrimental effects on the social structures of local 
communities. Publicans, supermarkets, off-licences, the 
Government and the consumer all have responsibilities 
towards the promotion and management of a responsible 
drinking environment. We seek to be responsible by the 
following means:

■■ Drinkaware – The Company is a sponsor of the Drinkaware 
Trust. Drinkaware promotes responsible drinking and 
finds innovative ways to challenge the national drinking 
culture to help reduce alcohol misuse and minimise 
alcohol-related harm. This independent UK-wide charity 
is supported by voluntary donations from across the 
drinks industry and provides people with accessible, 
evidence-based information about alcohol and its effects. 
It works alongside the medical community, third sector 
organisations, Government and drinks manufacturers and 
retailers to promote responsible drinking;

■■ Proof of age – We actively promote various proof of age 
schemes to all publicans, providing details of a variety 
of schemes to new publicans enabling them to operate 
a scheme in their premises. We promote the industry’s 
Challenge 21 campaign and have provided campaign 
materials to every pub;

■■ National alcohol harm reduction strategy – Through 
membership of the BBPA, we have actively participated 
in discussions with the Government in the fulfilment of its 
National Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy; 

■■ Addressing consequences of alcohol misuse – We 
continue to work proactively with local authorities and 
have made commitments to provide support for schemes 
such as Best Bar None and Pubwatch to develop and 
implement policies and strategies which are designed to 
address the potential consequences of alcohol misuse 
whilst not penalising the majority of responsible publicans 
and their customers;

■■ Drinks range – We supply our publicans with an extensive 
range of products including many low and no alcohol 
alternatives; 

Corporate Social Responsibility

Tennant Arms, Skipton,  
embracing Le Tour de France
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■■ Drink labels – We support suppliers who have introduced 
sensible drinking messages on their products; and 

■■ Responsibility deal – We support the Government’s 
Public Health responsibility deal and encourage our 
publicans to embrace responsible retailing and enjoyment 
of alcohol, especially in the safe and sociable environment 
of the pub. We continue to proactively communicate units 
of alcohol by measure to ensure our publicans can easily 
inform their consumers. 

Health and Safety
Enterprise takes the Health and Safety (H&S) management 
of its employees, publicans and supply chain partners very 
seriously. To ensure the H&S function is best placed to meet 
the evolving needs of the business, we operate two H&S 
management groups designed to ensure that every area and 
function of the organisation has a say in the development of 
relevant systems and procedures.

Health and Safety Management Group (SMG) – meets 
on a bi-monthly basis to discuss and debate any day-to-
day operational H&S challenges, demands and required 
solutions for the organisation. This includes any changes or 
breaches to our policies or procedures which are designed to 
maintain safety with minimum impact on our operational and 
commercial objectives. 

Strategic Health and Safety Group (SSG) – meets on a 
bi-annual basis to oversee the strategic direction of H&S 
within the business. This group is specifically tasked with 
a governance role to discuss the business’s performance, 
operational targets and objectives in relation to H&S.

Primary Authority (PA) – the Company continues to 
participate in a Primary Authority Scheme (PAS) relationship 
with Westminster City Council. The PAS arrangement ensures 
a company trading across council boundaries is guaranteed 
access to robust and reliable advice in relation to regulatory 
responsibilities for H&S, which includes subjects such as 
gas, electricity and asbestos. The Better Regulation Delivery 
Office (BRDO), an independent unit within the Department 
for Business, Innovation and Skills, oversee the PA approach 
and ran a number of pilot PA schemes for fire safety. The 
Company participated in one of these pilot exercises with 
London Fire Brigade, which ended in September 2014, and 
recruited a national fire safety adviser to further improve 
management and compliance in this area. The Company is 
working with the BRDO to identify a suitable PA partner for 
fire safety going forward.

Environment
We recognise our responsibilities to achieve good 
environmental practice and to continue to strive for 
improvement in areas of environmental impact. Our approach 
is to work through education, communication and direct 
action wherever possible.

Packaging waste
Enterprise continues to fulfil its obligations imposed by the 
Packaging Waste Regulations based on all recyclables sold to 
publicans, an annual total of approximately 2,600 tonnes. In 
2015, Enterprise will change its membership to the SUSTAIN 
Drinks Packaging Partnership, a pub industry initiative led by 
the BBPA, which will provide an improved waste packaging 
consultancy service and lowest cost compliance. SUSTAIN 
will also help us prepare for the more complex obligations 
required for our managed pubs, including food packaging 
waste.

Greenhouse gas emissions
We are constantly looking for new ways to improve our 
carbon footprint and have put initiatives in place at head 
office in order to achieve this objective. We continue to utilise 
passive low-energy lighting, a voltage optimisation unit and 
minimise the amount of waste which is sent to landfill by 
recycling more than 75% of the waste produced in head 
office. We have also installed large screens and polyphones 
in all meeting rooms to increase our capability to hold web-
based meetings and conference calls, aimed at reducing 
staff travel.

Cars available to certain employees as part of the Company’s 
car scheme are currently subject to a CO2 restriction of 120 
g/km.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Greenhouse gas emissions statement
The greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions statement below provides a summary of Enterprise’s greenhouse gas (carbon) 
emissions from 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014. It gives a summary of emissions from fuel combustion and the 
operation of our facilities (which include our offices and company cars (scope 1), and from our purchased electricity use 
during the year (scope 2). We have adopted the operational control approach, as defined in the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, A 
Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard (Revised Edition), 2004. Therefore, emissions associated with our tenanted 
pubs were not included in this statement as they are considered to be outside of our operational control.

Assessment parameters
Baseline year 2014

Consolidation approach Operational control

Boundary summary All facilities under operational control were included apart from four managed houses.

Consistency with the financial statements The use of the operational control approach causes a variation to those assets listed in 
our financial statements. Our tenanted pubs listed on our Balance Sheet were not under 
our operational control and are therefore not included in our emissions table. However, 
approximately 259 leased vehicles which were under our operational control appear in our 
emissions table but not in our consolidated financial statements.

Emission factor data source Defra (October 2014)

Assessment methodology The Greenhouse Gas Protocol and ISO 14064-1 (2006)

Materiality threshold Materiality was set at group level at 5%, with all facilities estimated to contribute >1% of 
total emissions included.

Intensity ratio Emissions per full time equivalent employee (FTEE)

2014 2013

tCO2e tCO2e/FTEE tCO2e tCO2e/FTEE

Scope 1

Fuel combustion (natural gas, diesel and fleet vehicles) 1,403 2.84 1,380 2.94

Operation of facilities (refrigerants) 6 0.01 9 0.02

1,409 2.85 1,389 2.96

Scope 2

Purchased electricity 481 0.97 450 0.96

Statutory total (Scope 1 & 2)* 1,890 3.82 1,839 3.92

Group metrics 2014 2013

Full time equivalent employee (FTEE) 494 470

Intensity ratios (gross emissions) 2014 2013

Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per full time equivalent employee (tCO2e/FTEE) 3.82 3.92

* Statutory carbon reporting disclosures required by Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013.

Note: Four managed houses were excluded from this statement as they did not meet the materiality threshold. This 
represented 5tCO2e of Scope 1 emissions and 14tCO2e of Scope 2 emissions.

20 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

The Board formally reviews the material risks and ensures that these are appropriately managed by the executive 
management team. The Board retains ultimate responsibility for the Group’s risk management framework, including 
reviewing its effectiveness, however it has delegated responsibility for annually reviewing the overall effectiveness of the risk 
management programme to the Audit Committee. The internal audit function provides assurance to the Audit Committee on 
the effectiveness of the internal control procedures through completion of the annual internal audit plan, which takes into 
account current business risks.

The table below sets out the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and how we mitigate them. This is not an 
exhaustive analysis of all the risks the Group may face as there may be additional risks and uncertainties that are not presently 
known to the Board or have not been included in this section on the basis that they are not considered to be material.

Strategy and business model 

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Regulation of the tied pub model

Following a prolonged consultation regarding the 
introduction of a Statutory Code the Government issued its 
response in June 2014. It is proposed by the Government 
that there will be a Statutory Code and an independent 
adjudicator appointed to oversee the Code. It is currently 
envisaged that the costs of the adjudicator will be borne by 
larger companies such as Enterprise. 

Although this removes some of the uncertainty in the 
sector, until the parliamentary process is complete and the 
final detail is known, the potential costs of implementation 
and the operation of the regime could have an impact upon 
our profitability, our operational strategy and our relationship 
with our publicans.

The Group is committed to the tied pub model and works 
closely with a number of stakeholders to support the pub 
sector, evolve the tied pub model and ensure it operates an 
appropriate and legally binding Code of Practice to promote a 
mutually beneficial relationship with its publicans. The Group 
actively engages with the Government, trade bodies and 
other stakeholders and has contributed to and continues to 
participate in the Government consultation process. 

Whilst we remain of the view that the flexible industry-owned 
framework of self-regulation is working and is the best 
solution for all interested parties, we recognise the intent of a 
statutory regime and are working with the appropriate bodies 
to ensure the final legislation presents a workable solution for 
the industry. 

Licensing and other regulatory factors

There is a risk that changes to the regulations relating to the 
sale of alcohol could have an impact on the Group’s business 
and the ability of our publicans to operate their pubs. 

These risks include changes to licensing legislation, 
increases to alcohol duties imposed by the Government and 
the impact of social responsibility issues on the industry in 
general.

The Group works closely with Local Authorities as necessary 
to ensure licensing requirements are dealt with whenever 
appropriate.

The Group is a member of a number of trade bodies and 
associations, is a contributor to the Drinkaware Trust, 
and works closely with these organisations to promote 
responsible drinking practices. Further details can be found in 
the Corporate Social Responsibility section of our website at 
www.enterpriseinns.com.

Litigation

The Group operates in a heavily regulated industry and may 
be involved in legal or statutory proceedings in relation to 
our pubs or publicans. The impact of such litigation may be 
immaterial in value but may result in harm to the Group’s 
reputation. 

The Group employs an in-house solicitor and other specialists 
to ensure we comply with legislation and to manage any 
litigation with our publicans.

The Group will work with Local Authorities as necessary 
whenever any statutory issues are raised in relation to its pub 
estate. Where appropriate, the Group takes legal proceedings 
against publicans to ensure compliance with their agreements.

Risks and Uncertainties
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Strategy and business model (continued)

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Health and Safety

A H&S incident could result in serious injury to the Group’s 
employees, publicans or their customers.

The Group has developed an effective H&S management 
system to ensure compliance with all legal duties placed 
on the organisation by H&S law. All systems are subject to 
regular review with training provided as appropriate.

The Group employs a Health and Safety Manager and a Fire 
Safety Manager to maintain the H&S management system 
along with the identification and remediation of specific 
risks and ensuring employees are aware of regulatory 
requirements. 

The Group operates a strategic and operational H&S regime 
and operates within a Primary Authority Scheme with 
Westminster City Council.

General economic conditions

The Group’s business operations are sensitive to economic 
conditions and the general economic outlook remains 
uncertain. In addition, changes in interest rates and other 
economic factors could lead to an increase in the Group’s 
weighted average cost of capital (WACC), or could impact 
profitability either of which could lead to an impairment in 
the value of goodwill carried on the Balance Sheet.

The Group regularly monitors its key income streams and 
publicans’ performance to ensure the Group is competitively 
placed in the market, including regularly reviewing financial 
forecasts to assess the impact of economic conditions 
on its budget, strategic plans and its publicans. Careful 
consideration is given to all publicans’ requests for additional 
operational and financial support as well as assessing 
appropriate investment in the development of our pubs to 
ensure that we remain competitively placed in the market.

The Group continues to foster mutually beneficial 
relationships with key suppliers to ensure the impact of any 
price increases is minimised wherever possible.

The Group regularly reviews its WACC in line with the capital 
structure, and compares to its competitors. It annually 
reviews the carrying value of goodwill and would write 
down the value if it deemed an impairment was necessary. 
Any goodwill that is allocated to pubs that are disposed, is 
written off during the year.

Risks and Uncertainties
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Pub operations

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Employees

The Group is reliant on its employees to provide key support 
functions in order to achieve its strategic aims.

The Group is committed to providing appropriate employee 
training, retention and reward policies and has attained the 
prestigious accolade of “Champion” status for Investors In 
People.

The Group has introduced an e-learning training programme 
to support our employees’ on-going development.

Supply chain management

The Group places reliance on key suppliers and distributors 
to ensure that there is a continuous supply of drinks and 
other products to its publicans. The Group is exposed to 
interruption or failure of these key suppliers and distributors 
which could result in such products not being delivered to 
publicans on time.

The Group works closely with its key suppliers and 
distribution partners to ensure good working relationships, 
as well as taking reasonable steps to try to ensure that 
key suppliers and distributors have appropriate disaster 
recovery plans in place to maintain continuity of supply.

The Group also has its own contingency plans to minimise 
the disruption of any external interruption to supply.

Publicans

The Group is reliant on the ability to attract, train and retain 
the best quality publicans for its leased and tenanted pubs, 
and failure to do this could impact on the Group’s strategic 
objectives. 

The Group’s publican recruitment and training programme 
and its variety of tenancy and lease agreements are 
designed to attract the best quality people. We offer an 
industry leading range of flexible agreements, funding 
options, tailored deals for appropriate applicants and award 
winning training courses.

Property management

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Property valuations

Valuations of the Group’s property portfolio have been 
affected by general economic conditions and resulting 
downwards pressure on maintainable income streams. 

These circumstances could continue and therefore reduce 
the valuation of the portfolio over time. There is a risk that 
changes in the UK property market and general economic 
conditions could impact on the value of our portfolio and 
the ability to dispose of underperforming pubs and the 
realisations from such disposals. Property valuations also 
have an implication for the overall value of the Group and 
impact on financial covenants.

The Group ensures that every pub in its portfolio is valued 
annually at market value by qualified external and internal 
valuers in accordance with RICS Valuation Standards (8th 
Edition). These valuations comply with the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

We conduct a full estates review on an annual basis 
which allows us to set future strategy for each pub in the 
estate. This review also guides our investment in capital 
expenditure, allows us to consider possible alternative uses 
or to dispose of those pubs which no longer fit our strategy.

We invested £64 million on developing and improving our 
pubs during the year.
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Risks and Uncertainties

Capital structure

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Liquidity risk

The Group has a flexible financing structure comprising 
bonds issued from the Unique securitisation (securitised 
bonds), corporate bonds issued by the Company and bank 
borrowings. 

The primary liquidity risks are the requirement to meet 
all on-going finance costs, repay the principal amounts 
of the securitised borrowings as they amortise, ensuring 
there are sufficient funding facilities in place to enable the 
business to meet all cash flow requirements as they fall 
due and meeting the financial covenants associated with 
the financing structure.

The Board regularly reviews detailed financial forecasts 
to ensure there is sufficient cash available to meet the 
requirements of the Group. These reviews include the ability 
to meet restricted payment conditions in the securitised 
bonds in order that cash can be released by the payment 
of dividends through the securitisation structure to the 
Company.

There are a number of options available to the Group to 
manage its financing commitments including the disposal 
of pubs, reducing capital expenditure on the estate as well 
as raising new capital through the bank facility or issuing 
new corporate bonds. 

Throughout the year the Group tests all of the financial 
covenants and forecasts are prepared during the budgeting 
process. The Board regularly reviews detailed financial 
forecasts of the Group to ensure there is sufficient 
headroom on all covenants. 

On 7 October 2014 the Group completed a refinancing which 
effectively moved £249.5 million of the £600 million debt 
that was due to be repaid in 2018 to a later maturity of 2023. 
At the same time the bank facility was extended to 2018. 
Other than the on-going amortisation of the securitised 
bonds, these are the next scheduled repayments facing the 
Group.

Based on all of these factors the Board is comfortable 
that there is sufficient headroom to meet the liquidity 
requirements of the Group.
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Information technology

Risks and uncertainties Mitigation processes

Systems failure

The Group’s daily operations are reliant on its information 
technology systems for accounting, reporting and 
communication. There is a risk that serious disruption could 
result if these systems fail for an extended period of time.

A business continuity plan is in place to ensure the business 
could continue to function in the event of a major systems 
failure. This plan is regularly tested.

There are comprehensive controls in place to protect 
information technology systems, including anti-viral 
software and the back up and off-site storage of data.

Cyber risk

Increasing levels of cyber-crime represent a threat to every 
business with the potential to cause a loss of system 
availability, which could have a consequential financial loss.

The threats facing IT are regularly monitored as part of 
the on-going review by the IT Steering Committee, which 
regularly reports to the Executive Management Group.

IT disaster recovery and business continuity plans exist and 
are tested regularly to ensure the business could continue 
to function in the event of a major systems failure. There 
are comprehensive controls in place to protect IT systems, 
including anti-viral software and the back up and off-site 
storage of data.

A full review of security was completed by an external 
consultant during the year, based on the “10 Steps to 
Cyber Security” document published jointly by GCHQ, 
the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and 
the Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure. A 
number of enhancements to the Group’s already robust 
IT security will be completed before the end of the 2015 
financial year.

Strategic Report Approval
The Strategic Report, outlined on the inside front cover and then pages 02 to 25, incorporates the Highlights, the 
Chairman’s Statement, the Strategic Review, the Chief Executive’s Review, the Financial Review, the Corporate Social 
Responsibility Report and the Risks and Uncertainties.

By order of the Board

L Togher 
Company Secretary 
17 November 2014
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Directors’ Report

The directors have pleasure in submitting the statutory 
financial statements for the Group for the year ended  
30 September 2014.

The Governance Report on pages 32 to 36, and the Corporate 
Social Responsibility Report (with regard to information about 
the employment of disabled persons, employee involvement, 
share schemes and greenhouse gas emissions) are also 
incorporated into this Report by reference.

The Company has chosen, in accordance with section 414 
C(11) of the Companies Act 2006 to include the disclosure 
of likely future developments in the Strategic Report (see  
pages 02 to 25).

Results and dividends
The Group’s profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to 
£30 million (2013: loss of £4 million). 

The directors are not recommending the payment of 
any dividend on its ordinary shares for the year ended  
30 September 2014 (2013: nil).

Share capital
As at 30 September 2014, the Company’s issued share 
capital comprised 555,977,435 ordinary shares of 2.5 pence 
each as set out in note 30 to the accounts on page 114. 

Authority of the directors to allot shares
The Company was authorised by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 6 February 2014 to allot shares and 
to grant rights to subscribe for, or convert securities into, 
shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £8.4 million. 

This authority will expire at the 2015 AGM and the directors 
will be seeking a new authority for the directors to allot 
shares, and to grant subscription and conversion rights, to 
ensure that the directors continue to have the flexibility to 
act in the best interests of shareholders, when opportunities 
arise, by issuing new shares or granting such rights. There are 
no current plans to issue new shares except in connection 
with employee share schemes and on conversion of the  
convertible bond.

Purchase of own shares by the Company
The Company was authorised by shareholders at the AGM 
held on 6 February 2014 to purchase up to a maximum of 
14.99% of its ordinary shares in the market. The price per 
ordinary share that the Company may pay is set at a minimum 
amount (excluding expenses) of 2.5 pence per ordinary share 
and a maximum amount (excluding expenses) of the higher 
of: (i) 5% over the average of the previous five business days’ 
middle market prices; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last 
independent trade and the highest current independent bid 
on the trading venue where the purchase is carried out. No 
shares were purchased under this authority during the period 
under review. This authority will expire at the 2015 AGM and 
the directors will be seeking a new authority for the Company 
to purchase its ordinary shares, which will only be exercised 
if market and financial conditions make it advantageous to do 
so. Further details are set out in the explanatory notes to the 
Notice convening the AGM on pages 132 to 137.

Treasury shares and the Employee Benefit Trust
As at 30 September 2014, the Company held 50,000,000 
shares in Treasury as set out in note 30 to the accounts on 
page 114. There has been no change to the number of shares 
held in Treasury during the period under review.

In addition, 4,645,712 shares are held by the Company’s 
Employee Benefit Trust and movements during the year are 
set out in note 30 to the accounts on page 114. These shares 
are held to satisfy awards made under the various incentive 
and employee share schemes, details of which are set out in 
note 31 to the accounts on pages 114 to 118.

Issue of shares
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 relating 
to authority to allot shares and pre-emption rights, and any 
resolution of the Company in a general meeting, all unissued 
shares of the Company shall be at the disposal of the 
directors and they may allot (with or without conferring a right 
of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise dispose of 
them to such persons, at such times and on such terms as 
they think proper.
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Material shareholdings
As at 30 September 2014, the Company was aware of the following interests of 3% or more in the Company’s ordinary share 
capital:

Company

Number of
 ordinary 

shares

Percentage of
 voting rights 
of the issued 
share capital

Glenview Capital Management LLC 60,907,216 12.04%

Prudential Group (M&G) 51,091,757 10.10%

Standard Life Investments Ltd 38,152,456 7.54%

Morgan Stanley Securities Ltd 25,317,467 5.00%

Odey Asset Management 24,372,137 4.82%

BlackRock Inc 22,185,710 4.38%

Platinum Investment Management Ltd 20,023,487 3.96%

Dimensional Fund Advisors 19,929,866 3.94%

Subsequent to the year end and up to the date of this report, there have been the following significant changes:

(i) The holding of Prudential Group (M&G) has decreased to 50,172,599 (9.92%).
(ii) The holding of Standard Life Investments Ltd has increased to 45,813,398 (9.05%).
(iii) The holding of Morgan Stanley Securities Ltd has decreased to 25,300,707 (5.00%).

Directors
Biographical details of the directors currently serving on the 
Board are given on page 31. The interests of the directors 
in the Company’s shares, along with details of directors’ 
share options are contained in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 44 to 66. There have been no changes in the 
interests of the directors between the Balance Sheet date 
and the date of approval of the accounts. Adam Fowle joined 
the Board on 6 February 2014. Ted Tuppen and Susan Murray 
retired from the Board on 6 February 2014.

Audit information
The directors confirm that, so far as they are aware, there 
is no relevant audit information (as defined in section 418 
of the Companies Act 2006) of which the Group’s auditor is 
unaware and that all directors have taken all the steps they 
ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Group’s auditor is aware of that information. This confirmation 
is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the 
provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006.

Political donations
The Group has not made any political donations during the 
year and intends to continue its policy of not doing so for the 
foreseeable future.

Going concern
The directors have considered the Group’s financial resources 
including a review of the medium-term financial plan, which 
includes a review of the Group’s cash flow forecasts for 
the period of at least 12 months from the date of approval 
of these financial statements. The Board is satisfied that 
the Group’s forecasts and projections, taking account of 
reasonably possible changes in the trading performance of 
the Group, show that the Group will be able to operate within 
the level of its current facilities for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason, the Group continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing its financial statements.

Events after the Balance Sheet date 
Full details of significant events since the Balance Sheet  
date can be found in note 35 of the financial statements at 
page 121.

Financial instruments and treasury
The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, debt and 
borrowing facilities are set out in the Strategic Report on 
pages 02 to 25 and in the financial statements and notes 
to the accounts on pages 68 to 121. In addition, details of 
the factors likely to affect the Group’s future development 
and performance are set out in the Risks and Uncertainties 
section on pages 21 to 25. Further details on our policy  
on financial instruments and capital risks and management 
are set out in notes 24 and 25 to the accounts on pages  
100 to 109.
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Directors’ Report

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held on 5 February 2015 at 11.00 a.m. at 
the registered office of the Company at 3 Monkspath Hall 
Road, Solihull, West Midlands B90 4SJ. The Notice convening 
the AGM, and an explanation of the resolutions to be put to 
the meeting, are set out on pages 129 to 137. Copies are 
also available on the website. The directors consider that all 
of the proposed resolutions are in the best interests of the 
Company and its shareholders as a whole. It is the directors’ 
recommendation that you support the proposed resolutions 
and vote in favour of them, as each of the directors intend 
to do.

Additional information
Set out below is a summary of certain provisions of the 
Company’s current Articles of Association (the Articles) 
and applicable provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (the 
Companies Act). More detailed information can be found in 
the Articles and the Companies Act.

Articles of Association
The Articles (adopted in substitution for and to the exclusion 
of all existing articles by a special resolution passed on  
20 January 2011) may only be amended by special resolution 
at a general meeting of the shareholders. A copy of the 
Articles is available on our website. 

Significant agreements: change of control
All of the agreements in relation to bank borrowings, 
convertible bond and corporate bonds, to which the Company 
is party, contain provisions that allow the counterparties to 
terminate funding to the Company in certain circumstances 
where there has been a change of control of the Company. 
These are detailed within the financial instruments note to 
the accounts on pages 100 to 108.

Rights and obligations attaching to shares
The rights and obligations attaching to the ordinary shares 
are set out in the Articles.

Voting rights attaching to shares
On a show of hands, every member who is present in person 
or by proxy shall have one vote. On a poll, every member 
who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for 
every share of which they are the holder.

Where shares are held by the Trustee of the Employee Benefit 
Trust and the voting rights attached to such shares are not 
directly exercisable by the employees, it is the Company’s 
practice that such rights are not exercised by the Trustee. 
Shares purchased by employees, along with matching 
shares, held in a SIP Trust are capable of being voted through 
a direction to the Trustee by the relevant employee.

Under the Companies Act, members are entitled to appoint 
a proxy, who need not be a member of the Company, to 
exercise all or any of their rights to attend and to speak and 
vote at a general meeting. A member may appoint more 
than one proxy in relation to a general meeting provided that 
each proxy is appointed to exercise the rights attached to a 
different share or shares held by that member. A member that 
is a corporation may appoint one or more individuals to act on 
its behalf at a general meeting as a corporate representative.

Restrictions on voting rights attaching to shares
No member shall, unless the directors otherwise determine, 
exercise any voting rights either personally or by proxy at a 
general meeting if any call or other sum presently payable 
by him/her to the Company in respect of any share or shares 
remains unpaid. Otherwise, the Company is not aware of 
any arrangements between shareholders that may result in a 
restriction on voting rights attaching to shares.

Deadlines for exercising voting rights attaching 
to shares
Votes are exercisable at a general meeting of the Company 
in respect of which the business being voted upon is being 
heard. Votes may be exercised in person, by proxy, or by 
corporate representatives (in relation to corporate members). 
The Articles provide a deadline for the submission of proxy 
forms (electronically or by paper) of not less than 48 hours 
before the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or 
the adjourned meeting.

Shares in uncertificated form
Directors may determine that shares may be held in 
uncertificated form and title to such shares may be transferred 
by means of a relevant system or that shares should cease to 
be so held and transferred. 

Variation of rights attaching to shares
The Articles provide that rights attached to any class of 
shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders 
of not less than three-quarters in nominal value of the issued 
shares, or with the sanction of an extraordinary resolution 
passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those 
shares. At every such separate general meeting, the quorum 
shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy at least 
one-third in nominal value of the issued shares (calculated 
excluding any shares held in treasury). The rights conferred 
upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise 
expressly provided in the rights attaching to those shares, 
be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further 
shares ranking pari passu with them.
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Transfer of shares
There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares in 
the Company other than:

■■ restrictions which may from time to time be imposed by 
laws and regulations (for example, insider trading laws);

■■ restrictions pursuant to the Company’s share dealing code 
whereby the directors and certain employees require 
approval of the Company to deal in the Company’s shares; 
and

■■ where a person with an interest of at least 0.25% in the 
Company’s certificated shares has been served with a 
disclosure notice and has failed to provide the Company 
with information concerning interests in those shares.

The Company is not aware of any arrangements between 
shareholders that may result in a restriction on the transfer 
of ordinary shares.

Dividends and distributions
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company 
may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare 
dividends not exceeding an amount recommended by the 
directors. The directors may pay interim dividends whenever 
the financial position of the Company, in the opinion of the 
Board, justifies such payment. The Board may withhold 
payment of all or any part of any dividend or other monies 
payable in respect of the Company’s shares from a person 
with an interest of at least 0.25% if such a person has been 
served with a disclosure notice and has failed to provide the 
Company with information concerning interests in those 
shares required to be provided by the Companies Act.

Appointment and replacement of directors
Unless determined by ordinary resolution of the Company, 
the number of directors shall not be less than two but is not 
subject to a maximum number. While a director is not required 
to hold any shares in the Company by way of qualification the 
Company has adopted shareholding guidelines for executive 
directors which require them to build up and retain a holding 
of shares equal in value to their base salaries. Executives 
are expected to build up the required shareholding by the 
fifth anniversary of them joining the Board. Further details 
on directors’ shareholdings are contained in the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on page 61.

The Board may appoint any person to be a director and 
such director shall hold office only until the next AGM, 
when he or she shall then be eligible for reappointment by 
the shareholders. The Articles provide that, at each AGM, 
all those directors who have been in office for three years 
or more since their election or last re-election shall retire 
from office. However, in accordance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, all directors of the Company are subject 
to annual re-election.

Further details of the directors’ service contracts can be found 
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 64.

Powers of directors
Subject to the Articles, the Companies Act and any directions 
given by special resolution, the business of the Company is 
managed by the Board who may exercise all of the powers 
of the Company to, for example: borrow money; mortgage or 
charge any of its undertaking, property and uncalled capital; 
and issue debentures and other securities, whether outright 
or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of 
the Company.

The Company was authorised by shareholders at the AGM 
held on 6 February 2014 to allot, issue and make market 
purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares. This authority 
will expire at the 2015 AGM and the directors will be seeking 
a new authority for the Company to allot, issue and make 
market purchases of the Company’s ordinary shares. Further 
details are set out in the explanatory notes to the Notice 
convening the AGM on pages 132 to 137.

Directors’ indemnities
The Articles permit the Board to grant the directors 
indemnities in relation to their duties as directors, including 
third party indemnity provisions (within the meaning of 
the Companies Act) in respect of any liabilities incurred by 
them in connection with any negligence, default, breach of 
duty or breach of trust in relation to the Company. No such 
indemnities have been granted.

Compensation for loss of office
There are no agreements between the Company and its 
directors or employees providing for compensation for loss 
of office or employment that occurs as a result of a takeover 
bid. Details regarding change of control provisions in respect 
of share plan awards and other related agreements are 
included with the Directors’ Remuneration Report. Further 
details of the directors’ service contracts can be found in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 64.

By order of the Board

L Togher 
Company Secretary 
17 November 2014

Registered Company name: Enterprise Inns plc 
Registered Company number: 2562808
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Board of Directors
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1. Robert Walker

2. Simon Townsend

3. Neil Smith

4.  David Maloney

5. Peter Baguley

6. Adam Fowle
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rtRobert Walker 1

Chairman 

Appointed to the Board on 9 February 2012.

Robert, 69, spent over 30 years with Procter & Gamble, 
McKinsey and, finally, PepsiCo, where he was responsible 
for the company’s beverage operations in Europe, the 
Middle East, Africa and Asia. He is currently Chairman of 
Travis Perkins plc and Eagle TopCo Limited and Senior 
Independent Director of Tate & Lyle PLC. He was previously 
Chairman of WH Smith PLC, Williams Lea Group Limited and 
BCA Europe Limited. He was also Group Chief Executive 
of Severn Trent Plc and has held a number of FTSE 100/250 
Board appointments with BAA, Severn Trent, Signet Group, 
Thomson Travel and Wolseley.

Neil Smith 3

Chief Financial Officer

Appointed to the Board on 20 January 2011.

Neil, 49, a chartered accountant, joined the Company 
in January 2011. He was previously Finance Director of 
Compass Group UK & Ireland and Chief Financial Officer of 
Telewest Global Inc. He has held senior finance positions 
with Virgin Media and Somerfield plc.

Peter Baguley 5

Independent Non-Executive Director 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

Appointed to the Board on 31 January 2013.

Peter, 61, is an independent consultant providing strategic 
property advice to retailers and private equity companies. He 
has held a number of senior management positions in the UK 
retail sector with a strong focus upon property. He was the 
leader of the group property functions at both J Sainsbury 
plc and Boots plc and was Director of Investor Relations at 
Boots plc.

Simon Townsend 2

Chief Executive Officer 

Appointed to the Board on 1 October 2000 and to CEO on  
6 February 2014.

Simon, 52, joined the Company in February 1999, was 
appointed to the Board in October 2000 and appointed as 
Chief Executive Officer on 6 February 2014. He has worked in 
the pub and leisure industry for over 20 years in various sales, 
marketing, commercial and operational roles, previously with 
Whitbread PLC, Allied Domecq PLC, The Rank Group Plc and 
Marston, Thompson & Evershed PLC. He is currently Vice 
Chairman of the BBPA.

David Maloney 4

Senior Independent Director 
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Appointed to the Board on 10 July 2008.

David, 59, is currently Chairman of Reed & Mackay Travel 
Ltd and Brandon Hire Ltd, Senior Independent Director of 
Stock Spirits Group PLC and of Cineworld plc. He previously 
held non-executive directorships at Carillion plc, Micro Focus 
International plc and Virgin Mobile plc and was Chairman of 
Hoseasons Holidays Ltd. His executive roles have included 
those as Chief Financial Officer of Le Meridien Hotels and 
Resorts, Thomson Travel Group and Preussag Airlines and 
Group Finance Director of Avis Europe plc. He is a fellow of 
the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and is 
also Chairman of the Board of Trustees of the Make-A-Wish 
Foundation.

Adam Fowle 6

Independent Non-Executive Director

Appointed to the Board on 6 February 2014.

Adam, 55, has over 20 years’ licensed retail experience. He 
is currently occupying the role of Chief Executive at Tesco 
Family Dining. He was previously Chairman of Bramwell Pub 
Company and prior to that Chief Executive Officer of Mitchells 
& Butlers plc and retail director at Sainsbury’s Supermarkets 
Limited. Adam has also held senior positions at Bass Leisure.

31Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Compliance with the UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2012
The UK Corporate Governance Code 2012 (Code) sets out 
guidance in the form of main principles and specific provisions 
on how companies should be directed and controlled to follow 
good governance practice. The rules of the Financial Conduct 
Authority (FCA) require listed companies incorporated in the 
UK to disclose, in relation to the Code, how they have applied 
those principles and whether they have complied with the 
provisions throughout the financial year. 

The Company reviews its compliance with the Code regularly 
and considers that it has fully complied with the provisions 
of the Code that are applicable to it for the whole of the year 
ended 30 September 2014. 

The Audit Committee Report on pages 37 to 42, the 
Nomination Committee Report on page 43 and the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 66 are also 
incorporated into this Report by reference. For further details 
on the Company’s compliance with the Code and the terms 
of reference for each of its Committees, see the Company’s 
website (www.enterpriseinns.com).

Leadership
Role of the Board
The Board has a collective responsibility to promote the long-
term success of the Company for its shareholders. Its role 
includes reviewing and approving key policies and decisions 
of the Company, particularly in relation to Group strategy 
and operating plans, governance and compliance with laws 
and regulations, business development including major 
investments and disposals and, through its Committees, 
financial reporting and risk management. 

The Board has established a schedule of matters reserved 
for Board decision. This schedule details key aspects of the 
affairs of the Company which the Board does not delegate, 
including key strategic, operational and financial issues. A 
copy of the schedule of matters reserved can be found on 
the Company’s website.

The Board delegates to management the day-to-day operation 
of the business, subject to appropriate risk parameters. 
Board meetings are scheduled to coincide with key events 
in the Company’s financial calendar, including interim and 
final results and the AGM. Other meetings during the year 
will review the Company’s strategy and budgets for the 
next financial year and the Company’s key risks as well as 
reviewing each of the main operating functions (financial, 
commercial, operational and property).

Governance Report

Dear Shareholders,
Having announced Simon Townsend’s appointment 
as Chief Executive Officer in November last year, the 
Board’s main focus has been to ensure that the transition 
was properly implemented. I am pleased to report that 
the handover was handled seamlessly, with Ted Tuppen’s 
support, and the new team was fully effective from 
February this year. The addition to the Board of Adam 
Fowle has also brought considerable experience in the 
sector. As you can read from the section below covering 
the Board’s internal evaluation, we consider the Board is 
performing very effectively. 

The Board’s initiative of nominating individual non-
executive directors (including the Chairman) to mentor 
key executives below Board level that started two years 
ago, has been continued and is proving highly successful. 
A further initiative this year was for the Board to go “on 
the road” for half of the Board’s regular meetings. Pub 
locations were chosen within each of the three operating 
sectors (North, Midlands and South) so that in addition 
to the Board meetings themselves, Board members had 
the opportunity to meet with local publicans and review 
commercial programmes and investment schemes. This 
initiative was also judged successful and we plan to 
extend it in the current year by holding Board meetings 
at the locations of our key suppliers.

Robert Walker 
Chairman
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Board Committees
Subject to those matters reserved for its decision, the Board 
has delegated to its Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees certain authorities. The terms of reference for 
each of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees 
are published on the Company’s website. Separate reports 
for each of these Committees are included in this Annual 
Report and Accounts from page 37.

Role of the Chairman
Robert Walker is the Chairman and is responsible for the 
leadership and effectiveness of the Board, taking into 
account the interests of stakeholders and promoting 
the highest standards of governance. A summary of the 
Chairman’s responsibilities has been agreed by the Board, 
is set out in writing and is available on the Company’s 
website. In accordance with the Code, the Chairman met 
with the non-executive directors six times during the year, 
without the executive directors being present, to discuss 
in detail matters which they believed to be relevant for the 
purposes of the strategic business review, including key 
operational and financial issues, performance of the CEO and 
overall feedback arising from the internal board performance 
evaluation process.

Role of the Senior Independent Director (SID)
David Maloney is the SID. He is available to shareholders, 
provides a sounding board to the Chairman and serves as an 
intermediary for the other directors if necessary. The SID’s 
role includes responsibility for the Chairman’s appraisal and 
succession. A summary of the responsibilities of the SID has 
been agreed by the Board, is set out in writing and is available 
on the Company’s website. In compliance with the Code, 
the SID met with the other non-executive directors during 
the year in a forum that did not include the Chairman or the 
executive directors.

Role of the Chief Executive Officer
Simon Townsend is the CEO, having been appointed on  
6 February 2014. The CEO is responsible for the preparation, 
evaluation and implementation of the Company’s strategic 
goals and in leading the senior management team. The role 
is distinct and separate to that of the Chairman and clear 
divisions of accountability and responsibility have been 
agreed by the Board, are set out in writing and are available 
on the Company’s website.

Role of the Company Secretary
Loretta Togher is the Company Secretary. The role of the 
Company Secretary is to develop, implement and sustain 
good governance practices. This includes supporting 
the Chairman and non-executive directors as necessary, 
managing Board and Committee meetings, facilitating the 
induction of new directors, ensuring appropriate directors’ and 
officers’ insurance is in place and that the Group is compliant 
with statutory and regulatory governance requirements. The 

written responsibilities of the Company Secretary have been 
agreed by the Board, are set out in writing and are available 
on the Company’s website.

Independence of directors
The Board has a strong independent element and at the 
date of this report currently comprises, in addition to the 
Chairman, two executive directors and three non-executive 
directors. The Chairman and all of the non-executive directors 
throughout the year are considered to be independent in 
character and judgement; they satisfied the criteria in the 
Code on appointment and continue to satisfy the criteria. The 
non-executives have a wide range of skills and experience; 
they constructively challenge management; help develop the 
Company’s strategy and have satisfied themselves as to the 
integrity of the Group’s financial information, controls and 
risk management strategy. Further information about how 
they have achieved this can be found in the Audit Committee 
Report on pages 37 to 42 and the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report on pages 44 to 66.

All directors may take independent professional advice at 
the Company’s expense. There is a formal written procedure, 
available on the Company’s website, concerning independent 
professional advice and setting out clear guidelines which 
have been agreed by the Board.

At the date of this report David Maloney has been on the 
Board for over six years and his reappointment is subject 
to a rigorous review. Peter Baguley has been on the board 
for two years and his reappointment is also subject to 
rigorous review. Adam Fowle was appointed to the Board on  
6 February 2014 and is, therefore, subject to reappointment 
at the forthcoming AGM. The Board believes that David 
Maloney, Peter Baguley and Adam Fowle continue to display 
all of the qualities of independence as set out in the Code.

Effectiveness
Meetings and attendance
The Board held six scheduled meetings in the year under 
review. In addition, a strategic business review was held 
‘off site’ at which high level strategic issues, such as 
future business direction and its financial and operational 
implications, were reviewed and debated. The Board has 
an agreed approach for dealing with conflicts of interest 
in relation to matters which are scheduled for Board 
consideration, although no such conflicts arose during the 
year under review. If directors are unable to attend meetings 
in person then they are consulted prior to the meeting and 
their views made known to the other directors and/or they 
may attend the meeting or part thereof by telephone or other 
conference facility. 

33Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Governance Report

A monthly ‘board pack’ is prepared at the end of each financial period which includes an update on key performance targets, 
trading performance against budget and includes detailed financial data and analysis including a review of applicable financial 
covenants. Board papers are generally circulated seven days prior to meetings to ensure directors have sufficient time to 
review papers ahead of the meeting. Attendance at scheduled meetings is set out below:

Attendance at Board and Committee 
meetings during year ended
30 September 2014

Scheduled
Board

meetings Audit
Nomination 

(i), (vi)
Remuneration

(i)

Number of meetings held 6 3 5  5

Robert Walker 6 3 (ii) 5  5 (iii)

Simon Townsend 6 3 (ii) 5  4 (iii)

Neil Smith 6 3 (ii) 5  1 (iii)

David Maloney 6 3 5  5

Peter Baguley 6 3 3  5

Adam Fowle (iv) 5 2 3  4

Ted Tuppen (v) 2 1 (ii) 2  1 (iii)

Susan Murray (v) 1 1 2  1

(i) Additional meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees were held outside those scheduled meetings referred to above to deal with matters 
arising as required, and were attended by all members of the Committees. 

(ii) Robert Walker, Simon Townsend, Neil Smith and Ted Tuppen (until 6 February 2014) attended meetings of the Audit Committee by invitation. 

(iii) Robert Walker, Ted Tuppen (until 6 February 2014), Simon Townsend (from 6 February 2014) and Neil Smith (when requested) attended meetings of the 
Remuneration Committee by invitation. After 6 February 2014 Robert Walker was a member of the Committee.

(iv) Adam Fowle was appointed as a director on 6 February 2014 and therefore did not attend any meetings held before that date.

(v) Ted Tuppen and Susan Murray both retired as directors on 6 February 2014 and therefore did not attend any meetings after that date.

(vi) The executive directors have attended meetings of the Nomination Committee by invitation. 

Training and development
The Company’s directors have a wide range of expertise 
as well as significant experience in strategic, financial and 
operational matters. All new directors receive a personalised 
induction programme designed to develop their knowledge 
and understanding of the Group, its culture and operations. 
On his appointment, Adam Fowle undertook such an 
induction, which included meetings with senior management 
across the Group and third party advisers such as the 
Company’s stockbrokers and legal advisers as well as visiting 
pubs and meeting publicans with regional management. 
Simon Townsend also underwent an intensive process of 
development prior to his appointment to CEO during the year. 
New directors all participate in the mentoring programme 
described above.

All directors have access to management and to the advice 
of the Company Secretary, who regularly updates the Board 
on material governance and compliance issues. 

The training and development needs of directors are reviewed 
and assessed by the Chairman as part of the annual Board 
performance evaluation process.

Business mentoring by non-executives
As mentioned briefly in the introduction, the Board started 
a new initiative some two years ago by allocating operating 
sectors and central functions to non-executive directors, 
including the Chairman. Effectively, “putting the Board to 
work”. Each year a non-executive director will be allocated 
an operating sector and/or central functions such as property 
and commercial or HR. The non-executive director is then 
encouraged, on his own initiative, to organise a series of 
regular contacts, meetings and visits throughout the year 
with his respective assignment. We then rotate these 
assignments every year.

This initiative has proved highly successful; in effect 
integrating the Board more closely with the business and its 
field operations.

Board evaluation
Evaluation of the boards of FTSE 350 companies should be 
externally facilitated at least every three years. The Company 
became a constituent of the FTSE 350 in December 2012 and 
expects to commission and conduct an external evaluation 
before September 2015. In line with the Code the Board 
conducted an internal Board evaluation during the year under 
review. This process was led by the Chairman and each 
director completed an in-depth questionnaire which covered:
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■■ performance of the Board (including consideration of how 
the Board works together as a unit);

■■ processes which underpin the Board’s effectiveness 
(including consideration of the balance of skills, 
experience, independence and knowledge of the persons 
on the Board);

■■ strategy; 

■■ performance of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees; and

■■ individual performance (giving consideration to whether 
each director continues to contribute effectively and show 
commitment).

The completed questionnaires were returned to the 
Company Secretary, who then consolidated them (unedited) 
and distributed the consolidated replies to each other 
Board member. In effect each Board member had sight of 
(anonymously) every reply. The Chairman then held individual 
discussions with each director. The results of the review 
(including progress against the previous year’s recommended 
actions) were summarised by the Chairman and considered 
in detail by the Board. This year’s review found that the prior 
year’s actions had been fully implemented; that performance 
of the Board and its Committees continued to be effective in 
dealing with both day-to-day and on-going strategic issues; 
and that the Board and Committee structure ensured that the 
governance requirements of the business were met, and the 
internal processes were efficient and effective.

The CEO is responsible for regularly reviewing other 
executive directors’ performance against objectives and 
the CEO’s performance is assessed by the Chairman in 
consultation with the non-executive directors. In addition, 
the Remuneration Committee regularly reviews executive 
director performance in connection with their performance 
objectives. The Chairman’s performance is appraised by 
the SID in consultation with the non-executive directors, 
taking into account the views of the executive directors, 
and the non-executive directors’ performance is reviewed by 
the Chairman. As a result of these individual reviews, it is 
considered that the performance of each director continues 
to be effective and that each director demonstrates sufficient 
commitment to their role. Consequently, the Chairman 
can confirm that each director is suitable for re-election or 
reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for proactively 
reviewing and refreshing the Board’s composition and 
further information about the roles and responsibilities of this 
Committee can be found on page 43.

Election of directors
The directors comply with the requirements of the Code and 
submit themselves for re-election every year, if they wish 
to continue serving and are considered by the Board to be 
eligible. Accordingly, the whole Board will be proposed for 
re-election or, in the case of Adam Fowle, reappointment at 
this year’s AGM.

Service agreements
The service agreements of the executive directors and 
copies of the letters of appointment of the non-executive 
directors are available for inspection during business hours 
on any weekday (excluding public holidays) at the registered 
office of the Company and will be available for inspection for 
fifteen minutes prior to, and during, the AGM.

External appointments
The executive directors may accept outside appointments 
provided that such appointments do not in any way prejudice 
their ability to perform their duties as executive directors of 
the Company. None of the executive directors currently hold 
any such outside appointments.

The role of non-executive director requires a time commitment 
in the order of 15 days per annum plus additional time as 
necessary to properly discharge their duties. There is no 
restriction on outside appointments provided that they do not 
prevent the directors from discharging their responsibilities 
effectively.

Accountability
The Board should present a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s position and prospects, 
maintain sound risk management and internal control 
systems and manage an appropriate relationship with the 
Company’s auditor.

Further information about how these principles have 
been applied is detailed in the Audit Committee Report on  
pages 37 to 42.

Remuneration
Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract, retain 
and motivate directors of the quality required to run the 
Company successfully, whilst avoiding paying more than is 
necessary for this purpose, and there should be a formal and 
transparent procedure for developing policy on executive 
remuneration.

Further information about how these principles have been 
applied is detailed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on 
pages 44 to 66.
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Relations with shareholders
We are committed to, and place a great deal of importance 
on, having an active dialogue with our investor base. The 
Company maintains constructive engagement with its key 
stakeholders including institutional shareholders. During the 
year, our CEO and Chief Financial Officer (CFO) met with 
a number of our leading shareholders to discuss issues 
relating to the performance of the Group, strategy and new 
developments. In addition, the Chairman engaged with the 
majority of our top ten shareholders on a range of governance 
matters. The SID and the other non-executive directors are 
available to shareholders to discuss any matter they wish to 
raise. As part of significant changes planned for remuneration 
arrangements, during the year major shareholders were 
informed in advance and had the opportunity to discuss 
these with the Company.

As regards governance issues, the Chairman aims to meet 
with most of our major shareholders shortly after each 
AGM. These meetings with shareholders are timed early in 
the process and quite deliberately, so that the Board has 
enough time to consider, and respond to, any shareholder 
concerns well in advance of the next year’s Annual Report. 
The Chairman normally contacts as many major shareholders 
as possible, and not simply the very largest, to ensure the 
widest consultation possible (particularly given current 
market volatility) and also to ensure that the views of a 
shareholder who has substantially increased its stake during 
the year, have been fully taken into account.

Following the announcement of results, an investor relations 
report is produced for the Board which summarises feedback 
from shareholders and ensures the Board has a balanced 
view from our major investors. In addition, the Board receives 
a monthly updated analysis of the shareholder register and 
material movements in holdings.

The Company ensures that any price-sensitive information is 
released to all shareholders at the same time in accordance 
with regulatory requirements. All major presentations are 
available to shareholders through the Company’s website.

Shareholders may choose to receive the Annual Report 
either in paper form or electronically. This report, along with 
a wide range of shareholder information including the interim 
report, is also available on the Company’s website. Additional 
information for shareholders can be found on page128.

AGM
Shareholders receive at least 20 working days’ notice of the 
AGM. The AGM offers the opportunity for the Board, including 
the Chairmen of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration 
Committees, to communicate the Company’s progress 
directly to shareholders. The Board aims to ensure that all 
members of the Board, including in particular the Chairmen 
of the Board committees, are available to answer questions 
at the AGM. To encourage shareholders to participate in the 
AGM process, the Company offers electronic proxy voting 
through the CREST service and all resolutions are proposed 
and voted on at the meeting on an individual basis by 
shareholders or their proxies. Voting results are announced 
on the same day as the meeting through RNS and made 
available on the Company’s website. 

Details of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM to be 
held on 5 February 2015 can be found in the Notice convening 
the AGM on pages 129 to 131.

By order of the Board

R M Walker 
Chairman 
17 November 2014
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Audit Committee Report

Dear Shareholders,
I am pleased to report on the activities of the Audit 
Committee during the 2014 financial year, and to be 
able to confirm, on behalf of the Board, that the Annual 
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced 
and understandable. 

In this report I have detailed what the Committee 
has done during the year in relation to the three key 
responsibilities set out in the UK Corporate Governance 
Code, being to:

■■ address any significant financial statement reporting 
issues;

■■ assess the effectiveness of the external audit; and
■■ appoint the external auditor and oversee the 

safeguards on non-audit services.

In order for us to develop greater awareness of the day to 
day challenges that the business faces and the potential 
consequences of such challenges, the members of 
the Committee have continued to spend time with the 
operations and property teams in the field and have 
also participated in key discussions on areas of financial 
judgement; such as the valuation meetings between the 
external auditor and professional valuers. These actions 
have enabled us to better understand the risks and 
challenges faced by the business. We have used these 
experiences to ensure that all significant risks are being 
controlled by the business and that the internal audit 
programme is appropriately formulated to confirm that 
those controls are effective. 

Set out below are details on the processes we have in 
place to safeguard the independence and objectivity of 
our relationship with the external auditor and the role 
played by internal audit to ensure we have effective 
control and risk management processes.

David Maloney 
Chairman, Audit Committee

Composition
The Committee was chaired during the year by myself as the 
Board considers that, by virtue of my former executive and 
current non-executive director positions (full details of which 
are set out on page 31), I have current and relevant financial 
experience. The other non-executive directors, being Susan 
Murray (until her retirement from the Board on 6 February 2014),  
Peter Baguley and Adam Fowle (from his appointment on 6 
February 2014), form the rest of the Committee and the Board 
considers that the entire Committee is independent.

Roles and responsibilities
The Committee has been assigned with advising the Board 
in respect of its responsibility for ensuring the Annual 
Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s position, performance, 
business model and strategy.

The Committee is also responsible for:

■■ ensuring that the interests of shareholders are protected 
in relation to financial reporting and internal control by 
monitoring the integrity of the annual and interim financial 
statements, monitoring any formal announcements 
relating to the Company’s financial performance and 
reviewing and challenging as necessary the judgements 
and actions of management in relation to the financial 
statements;

■■ ensuring a sufficiently robust and effective external audit. 
Specifically, the Committee considers the appointment 
and reappointment of the external auditor, its reports 
to the Committee and its independence. To monitor its 
independence, the Committee annually reviews the 
scope and effectiveness of the external audit as well as 
the remuneration, terms of engagement and objectivity 
of the external auditor, including its appropriateness to 
undertake non-audit work; and 

■■ reviewing the internal audit programme, ensuring 
management follow-up on issues raised, and concluding 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s controls. This is 
achieved by reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems, 
including the internal audit function, reviewing the Group’s 
systems and controls for preventing and detecting fraud 
and bribery and reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the Group’s arrangements for its employees to raise 
concerns about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting 
or other matters.
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The Committee reports to the Board on how we have 
discharged our responsibilities. The full terms of reference 
are available on the Company’s website, or on request from 
the Company Secretary.

What the Committee did in 2014
We met three times during the year, during which time we:

■■ reviewed the interim and year end results and preliminary 
announcements;

■■ received and considered, as part of the review of the 
interim and annual financial statements, reports from the 
external auditor in respect of the auditor’s review of the 
interim results, the audit plan for the year and the results 
of the annual audit. These reports included the scope of 
the interim review and annual audit, the approach to be 
adopted by the auditor to address and conclude upon key 
estimates and other key audit areas, the basis on which 
the auditor assesses materiality, the terms of engagement 
for the auditor and an on-going assessment of the impact 
of future accounting developments on the Group; 

■■ considered the interim and year end results and preliminary 
announcements in the context of fair, balanced and 
understandable, by reviewing papers prepared by 
management with regard to this principle in relation to the 
2014 interim results and the Annual Report and Accounts. 
This provided us with sufficient confidence to report to the 
Board that the Annual Report and Accounts when taken as a 
whole was fair, balanced and understandable. This included 
reviewing the documents to ensure that the description of 
the business agrees with our own understanding, the risks 
reflect the issues that concern us, appropriate weight has 
been given to the ‘good and bad’ news, the discussion of 
performance properly reflects the ‘story’ of the relevant 
period and that there is a clear and well-articulated link 
between all areas of disclosure;

■■ considered the effectiveness and independence of 
the external audit and recommended to the Board the 
reappointment of Ernst & Young LLP (EY) as external 
auditor;

■■ received reports from management concerning various 
historical taxation and pension issues;

■■ reviewed the technical accounting paper from 
management, outlining the key requirements of IFRS 13 
‘Fair Value Measurement’ (IFRS 13) and its impact on the 
annual valuation exercise and the disclosures in the 2014 
Annual Report and Accounts; 

■■ considered and agreed the annual internal audit plan and 
the findings of the review into the effectiveness of the 
internal audit function;

■■ considered the review of material business risks, including 
reviewing internal control processes used to identify and 
monitor principal risks and uncertainties;

■■ reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s whistleblowing 
policy;

■■ reviewed the Committee’s composition and confirmed 
that there is sufficient expertise and resource for us to 
fulfil our responsibilities effectively;

■■ reviewed the Committee’s terms of reference; and

■■ carried out an annual review of the Committee’s 
performance.

Significant issues considered in relation 
to the financial statements
During the year the Committee, management and the 
external auditor considered and concluded on what the 
significant risks and issues were in relation to the financial 
statements and how these would be addressed.

Valuation of the estate
The Group has a policy of accounting for its licensed estate at 
fair value based on an annual revaluation exercise performed 
by two independent valuation firms and an internal team of 
RICS qualified chartered surveyors. The value of property, 
plant and equipment is the largest number on the Balance 
Sheet and the resultant movements following the annual 
revaluation are also significant. The valuation of the pub 
estate, including assets held for sale, against the backdrop of 
continued difficult economic conditions is a key consideration, 
especially with the adoption of IFRS 13 during the year. The 
Committee therefore focuses attention on understanding 
and challenging the valuation and the appropriate accounting 
approach and disclosures.

I again attended the meeting held between the external 
auditor and each of the external independent professional 
valuers and the internal professional valuers. In discussions 
at the meeting and subsequently with the external auditor 
we were assisted in our review by detailed analysis prepared 
by both management and EY to understand the underlying 
basis of, and conclusions reached in respect of, the annual 
valuation of the Group’s pub assets (further details of which 
are set out in note 17 to the accounts on pages 91 to 97). 
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The Committee also reviewed and approved the summary 
accounting paper on the adoption of IFRS 13 and its 
implications on the annual valuation and the additional 
disclosures in the 2014 Annual Report and Accounts.

Going concern
The Group has to comply with a number of financial covenants 
that relate to the financing structure of the Group as set out 
in note 24 on pages 100 to 108 of the accounts. Reaching 
a conclusion on the reliability of the budgets prepared by 
management is considered important to the Committee to 
ensure that covenants will not be breached and the Group 
will remain a going concern.

The Committee therefore reviewed, challenged and 
concluded upon the Group’s going concern review including 
giving due consideration to the appropriateness of key 
judgements, assumptions and estimates underlying the 
budgets that underpin the review and a review of compliance 
with key financial covenants. This also facilitated the 
Committee’s approval of the Group’s impairment review in 
respect of its tangible and intangible fixed assets. Included in 
the key assumptions underlying the impairment review was 
the discount rate utilised in such calculations in relation to 
last year and those used by other companies in the industry 
(see note 15 on page 89 of the accounts). The Committee 
concluded it would not be appropriate to change the rate at 
the current time.

Deferred tax
The provisioning for deferred tax remains a complex area 
requiring the Group to reflect the interaction between multiple 
elements of tax legislation and the specific requirements of 
IFRS. The application of these requirements to a pub estate 
comprising in excess of 5,000 individual assets, introduces 
further risks which are addressed through the use of detailed 
tax models against information held on an asset by asset 
basis.

The Committee ensures that adequate resource is dedicated 
to the ongoing maintenance of these tax models, that the 
output of these models is subject to robust and rigorous 
internal review and that, where necessary, management 
have validated the manner in which tax legislation and/or 
IFRS should be applied with external advisers, including the 
external auditor where appropriate.

Financing
The Group completed a refinancing exercise in respect of bank 
and bond borrowings on 7 October 2014. Given the timing 
of the exercise in relation to the year end, the Committee 

reviewed the arrangements and treatment of the associated 
costs to ensure that they were accounted for properly and in 
the correct period. In addition, the requisite disclosures for 
the Annual Report and Accounts were reviewed to ensure 
they were sensible and in line with requirements.

Assessment of effectiveness of  
external audit
The Committee reviewed the external auditor’s performance 
and ongoing independence, taking into account input from 
management, consideration of responses to questions 
from the Committee and the audit findings reported to the 
Committee. As part of the process, the Committee reviewed 
the auditor’s performance against criteria consistent with 
that adopted in the prior year.

Based on all of this information the Committee concluded 
that the external audit process was operating effectively and 
EY continued to prove effective in its role as external auditor.

Approach to appointing the external 
auditor and how objectivity and 
independence are safeguarded 
relative to non-audit services
The Company has adopted a policy on the independence 
of auditors which is consistent with the ethical standards 
published by the Audit Practices Board. A key issue for 
the Committee that may impair auditor independence, 
and the auditor’s objective opinion on the Group’s financial 
statements, is the engagement of the external auditor for the 
provision of non-audit services. 

The Committee has adopted a policy on the engagement of 
external auditors for the provision of non-audit services and 
reviews this annually. The policy is designed to ensure that 
such engagements do not result in the creation of a mutuality 
of interest between the auditor and the Group, that a 
transparent process and reporting structure is established to 
enable the Committee to monitor policy compliance and that 
unnecessary restrictions on the engagement of the auditor 
for non-audit services are avoided where the provision of 
advice is commercially sensible and is more cost effective 
than other providers. 

The policy specifies:

■■ services that are specifically not permitted – this includes 
work relating to accounting records that will ultimately be 
subject to external audit, valuation services, remuneration 
advice for key management and the provision of strategic 
advisory or consultancy services;
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■■ services that are permitted with prior approval of the CFO – 
this includes accounting advice and reviews of accounting 
standards and advice, due diligence matters as required 
by debt prospectuses, assurance work in respect of tax 
matters including tax compliance, routine tax planning and 
tax advisory services; and

■■ services that are permitted with prior approval of the 
Committee – this includes any new engagement for an 
individual service or specific project other than defined 
within the above two categories.

The CFO reports to the Committee annually outlining all 
proposals considered during the year and the decisions 
taken, any proposals which the Committee is or has been 
requested to approve and the current level of expenditure for 
non-audit fees.

The total fees paid to the external auditor during the year 
under review amounted to £357,000. Of this amount, 
£156,000 related to non-audit services, of which £82,000 
related to work that would normally be expected to only be 
performed by the external auditor. The majority of the non-
audit fees related to work associated with our financing 
activities that only they could reasonably perform as it 
required confirmations to third parties, such as Trustees, as 
to the correct extraction of data from our accounting records. 
This included data required for the issue of the convertible 
bond and confirmations to the Trustees and other parties in 
relation to the security packages on the corporate bonds and 
the repayment of the £60 million debenture. Full details are 
set out in note 24 to the accounts on pages 100 to 108.

Independence safeguards
In accordance with best practice and professional standards, 
the external auditor is required to adhere to a rotation policy 
whereby the audit engagement partner is rotated after five 
years. The current audit engagement partner was appointed 
in 2011. The external auditor is also required to periodically 
assess whether, in their professional opinion, they are 
independent and those views are shared with the Committee.

The Committee has authority to take independent advice as 
it determines necessary in order to resolve issues on auditor 
independence. No such advice was required during the year.

Independence assessment by the Committee
The Committee is satisfied that the independence of the 
external auditor is not impaired due to the fact that the audit 
engagement partner rotation policy has been complied with; 
the level and nature of the fees paid for non-audit services 
was of a level that does not present any on-going threat to 
their independence and separate external firms are appointed 
for taxation advisory services.

In addition to the above, I, on behalf of the Committee, met 
with the external auditor and with the Head of Internal Audit 
without the presence of management during the year and I 
have had regular contact with the audit engagement partner 
during the year. Robert Walker also had two private meetings 
with the audit engagement partner during the year.

Reappointment of the external auditor
The reappointment of EY as the Group’s external auditor 
(incumbent since the Company started trading in 1991) was 
reviewed during the year. The audit was put out to tender 
during 2012, with EY chosen to continue with the audit 
services and KPMG appointed for taxation services, and the 
Group will be required to tender the audit for the year ended  
30 September 2021 in accordance with recent EU regulations. 

The Committee has assessed the performance and 
independence of the external auditor which underpins its 
recommendation to the Board to propose to shareholders 
the reappointment of EY as auditor until the conclusion of the 
AGM in 2016. Full details are set out in the Notice convening 
the AGM on pages 129 to 131.

There are no contractual restrictions over choice of auditor.

Role of internal audit
Internal audit has a Group-wide remit and is independent of its 
business operations. It undertakes an on-going programme to 
provide assurance on the adequacy of internal control and risk 
management processes across the Group’s operations. It is 
responsible for reviewing and reporting on the effectiveness 
of internal controls and risk management systems to the 
Committee and, ultimately, the Board. The Head of Internal 
Audit attends Committee meetings to present the findings 
of such reviews at regular intervals throughout the year and 
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reports on internal audit’s performance against the agreed 
annual internal audit plan, such plan being agreed during the 
year by the Committee. 

Effective internal control and risk 
management
The Board is responsible for the overall system of internal 
controls for the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. It 
carries out such a review at least annually, covering all material 
controls including financial, operational and compliance 
controls and risk management systems. 

The system of internal controls is designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Operating policies and controls are in place, and have been 
in place throughout the year under review, and cover a 
wide range of issues including financial reporting, capital 
expenditure, information technology, business continuity 
and management of employees. Detailed policies ensure 
the accuracy and reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements including the 
consolidation process. The key elements of the Group’s  
ongoing processes for the provision of effective internal 
control and risk management systems, in place throughout 
the year and at the date of this Report, include:

■■ regular Board meetings to consider matters reserved for 
directors’ consideration;

■■ regular management reporting, providing a balanced 
assessment of key risks and controls;

■■ an annual Board review of corporate strategy, including a 
review of material business risks and uncertainties facing 
the business;

■■ established organisational structure with clearly defined 
lines of responsibility and levels of authority;

■■ an internal audit function which implements the annual 
internal audit plan and provides independent assurance 
to executive management, the Committee and the 
Board on the effectiveness of internal controls and risk 
management;

■■ documented policies and procedures;

■■ regular review by the Board of financial budgets, forecasts 
and covenants with performance reported to the Board 
monthly; and

■■ a detailed investment process for major projects, including 
capital investment coupled with a post-investment 
appraisal analysis.

In reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control the Committee has:

■■ received six-monthly self-assurance statements 
completed by key senior managers confirming that 
controls and risk management processes in their business 
units have operated satisfactorily. These returns are 
reviewed in detail and challenged where appropriate by 
the Head of Internal Audit, the Company Secretary and 
the Group Financial Controller, who together compile and 
update a risk register to monitor all of the risks facing the 
business. The key risks are then summarised for review 
and approval by the Committee for use in the Annual 
Report and Accounts;

■■ regularly reviewed the financial and accounting controls; 

■■ reviewed the internal audit reports;

■■ monitored management’s responsiveness to the findings 
and recommendations of the Head of Internal Audit; 

■■ met once with the Head of Internal Audit, without 
management being present to discuss their remit and any 
issues arising from internal audits carried out; and

■■ during the year, commissioned an external review of the 
effectiveness of internal audit, performed by Deloitte, who 
concluded that internal audit was appropriately independent 
and effective. Improvement recommendations were 
reviewed and implemented where considered appropriate.

In respect of Group financial reporting, the finance 
department is responsible for preparing the Group financial 
statements using a well-established consolidation process 
and ensuring that accounting policies are in accordance 
with IFRS. All financial information published by the Group is 
subject to approval by the Committee. 
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There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting during the year under review that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the Company’s control over financial reporting.

The Board, with advice from the Committee, is satisfied that 
an effective system of internal controls and risk management 
processes are in place which enable the Company to identify, 
evaluate and manage key risks and which accord with the 
guidance of the Turnbull Committee on internal control 
updated by the FRC in 2005. These processes have been in 
place since the start of the financial year and up to the date of 
approval of the accounts. Further details of risk management 
frameworks and specific material risks and uncertainties 
facing the business can be found on pages 21 to 25.

Anti-bribery and corruption code  
of conduct
The risks of bribery, corruption, fraud or theft exist in every 
company. The Group is committed to conducting its business 
with the highest degree of integrity. This commitment 
includes a zero tolerance approach towards all forms of 
bribery, corruption, fraud and theft and procedures within 
the Company have been designed to minimise these risks. 
The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption code 
of conduct which has been formally approved by the Board 
and extends to all of the Group’s business dealings and 
transactions involving its directors, officers, employees or 
third parties including, but not limited to, agents, advisers, 
contractors, publicans or suppliers engaged in business with 
the Group. Engaging in fraud, bribery or corruption is unlawful 
and any employee, director or officer found to have breached 
the code of conduct will be liable to disciplinary action 
which may result in dismissal or other serious sanctions. 
Breaches of the code of conduct by third parties may result 
in immediate termination of all contracts with the Group. A 
copy of the code of conduct is available on the Company’s 
website. There have been no recorded instances of bribery 
or corruption during the period under review.

Whistleblowing
The Group has in place a whistleblowing policy which 
encourages employees to report any malpractice or illegal 
acts or omissions or matters of similar concern (whether 
in the UK or elsewhere) by other employees or former 
employees, contractors, publicans, suppliers or advisers 
using internal mechanisms for reporting. The policy acts as a 
mechanism to report any ethical wrongdoing or malpractice 
or suspicion which may amount to ethical wrongdoing or 
malpractice. Examples of ethical wrongdoing or malpractice 
include bribery, corruption, fraud, dishonesty and illegal 
practices which may endanger employees or other parties. 
There have been no material instances of whistleblowing 
during the year under review.

Accountability
The Board is required to present a fair, balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Company’s financial 
position and prospects. The responsibilities of the directors 
and external auditor are set out on pages 67 and 122 
respectively. As set out in the Directors’ Report, the directors 
consider the Company’s business is a going concern.

D O Maloney 
Chairman, Audit Committee 
17 November 2014
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Nomination Committee Report

Composition
In compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
the Committee was composed of all of the non-executive 
directors, being Robert Walker, David Maloney, Peter Baguley, 
Adam Fowle (from 6 February 2014) and Susan Murray (until 
6 February 2014).

Roles and responsibilities
The key roles and responsibilities of the Committee are:

■■ identify and nominate for Board approval, candidates to fill 
Board vacancies having regard to, amongst other things, 
the benefits of diversity including gender, as and when 
they arise;

■■ act proactively, recognising it is important to plan Board 
succession well in advance;

■■ ensure that the Company’s Board and executive leadership 
skills are fully aligned to the Company’s long-term strategy;

■■ succession planning for directors and other senior 
executives taking into account the challenges and 
opportunities facing the Company; and

■■ ensure any appointees have sufficient time to undertake 
their role.

In planning the appointments, the Committee prepares a 
full description of the role, skills and capabilities required; 
appoints external search firms, each time reviewing available 
options, and ensuring that the firm selected has signed up 
to the relevant industry codes (for example, on diversity) and 
has no connection with the Company; and finally, engages 
from time-to-time with the Group’s major shareholders on 
future skills requirements and ideas for potential candidates. 

In addition, the Committee takes care to ensure that there 
is a continuous pipeline of high-performing executive 
talent beneath Board level. In this sense the Nomination 
Committee provides a broader HR role and the Chairman of 
the Committee has adopted a mentoring role (see page 34) 
with the senior manager responsible for human resources. 
The effectiveness of the Committee was considered as part 

Dear Shareholders,
The Nomination Committee (the Committee) 
is responsible for monitoring the performance, 
appropriateness and future succession of the Company’s 
executive and Board talent to ensure they are able to 
deliver the best service to the Company and for its 
shareholders. While 2013 was particularly busy in the 
succession planning for the CEO, which was completed 
in February 2014, the Committee has turned its focus to 
non-executive succession to ensure the structure, size, 
diversity and composition of the Board are effective. The 
Committee has also reviewed management talent below 
Board level for future succession. The Committee met 
five times this year. 

Robert Walker 
Chairman, Nomination Committee

of the internal Board evaluation process and the Board was 
satisfied that the Committee continues to perform its duties 
well and in accordance with its terms of reference.

What the Committee did in 2014
The main focus of the Committee’s work in 2014 included: 

■■ the appointment of Simon Townsend as CEO following an 
intensive process of evaluation and development, that also 
included external benchmarking, on 6 February 2014;

■■ completing the search for a non-executive director to 
replace Susan Murray with extensive experience of 
service retail, leisure sector operating skills and strategic 
experience, culminating in the appointment of Adam Fowle, 
formerly Chief Executive Officer at Mitchells & Butlers plc, 
on 6 February 2014. In this search process, the Committee 
paid due attention to its gender diversity; six out of 17 of 
the initial long list of candidates were female, and two out 
of five of the shortlisted candidates were female, both of 
which chose not to pursue an appointment and withdrew 
their application;

■■ recommending the appointment of Peter Baguley, as 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee on 6 February 
2014, to replace Susan Murray who retired on that day;

■■ embarking on an early search for a new non-executive 
director ultimately able to succeed David Maloney 
as Chairman of the Audit Committee since the Code 
guidance advocates retirement after 9 years. This search 
commenced at the end of March this year and is ongoing; 
once again, the Committee is having due regard to gender 
diversity;

■■ continuing to review the senior management structure and 
talent below Board level; and

■■ reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference, and conducting 
the annual review of the Committee’s performance. 

Diversity
We pursue diversity, including gender diversity, throughout 
the business, and the Board endorses the aspirations of the 
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and Lord Davis 
of Abersoch’s agenda for more Women on Boards. While we 
are not committing to any specific targets for the number 
of women on the Board we continue to consider and make 
appointments based on merit, just as was the case when our 
first female director was appointed in 2004. As part of our 
early non-executive succession planning, we are focusing 
our search on suitably qualified and experienced women 
who may be available for a future appointment, but whom 
would also be eligible to be appointed on merit. We do use 
executive search firms who have signed up to the voluntary 
code of conduct setting out the seven key principles of best 
practice to abide by throughout the recruitment process and 
we continue to follow a policy of appointing talented people 
at every level to deliver high performance. In addition, 42% 
of the total workforce in the Company are female, including 
seven out of 16 senior managers.

R M Walker 
Chairman, Nomination Committee 
17 November 2014
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Information not subject to audit: 
Annual statement
Dear Shareholders,
I am pleased to introduce our Remuneration Report for 
the 2014 financial year and my first as Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee (the Committee).

Business performance and incentive impact
For the year under review, the business has made steady 
progress against our overall objective, of returning 
the business to EBITDA growth and creating value for 
shareholders, by focusing on the three key elements of the 
strategy outlined in the Strategic Review, being:

■■ pub operations, to create the right environment for 
publicans to build successful and sustainable businesses 
through delivering sustainable like-for-like net income 
growth and by supporting our publicans to grow their 
business;

■■ property management, to continue to improve the quality 
of the estate through targeted capital investment; and

■■ capital structure, by operating within and proactively 
managing our capital structure.

The Company continued to make progress, delivering like-for-
like net income growth for the full year with each quarter of the 
year reporting improvements on the prior year. The Company 
has also continued to enhance the quality of its pub estate 
and invested total capital of £66 million across the estate, 
of which 41% was focused on growth driving initiatives up 
from 32% achieved in the prior year. The operational focus 
has continued to be on improving publican profitability which 
has helped deliver a 16% reduction in business failures in 
the year under review. In addition, on 7 October 2014 the 
Company successfully completed the partial refinancing of 
the 2018 corporate bonds and a new revolving bank facility, 
which together provide a smoother and extended debt 
maturity profile with a reduced overall cost of borrowing and 
improved flexibility.

This performance has generated annual bonus pay-outs for 
the executive directors in respect of the 2014 financial year in 
the range of 71% to 83% of weighted average base salary. 
Further details are provided on page 57 with regards to how 
performance under the annual bonus targets translated into 
bonus payment. The performance and matching awards 
granted under the long–term incentive plan (LTIP) in 2011 
failed to meet the threshold total shareholder return (TSR) 
target and lapsed in January 2014. The LTIP awards granted 
in 2012, which are based on TSR performance to January 
2015, are expected to meet the vesting target. 

Simon Townsend took over the role of CEO on 6 February 2014  
and there was a reduction in the number of executive 
directors from three to two. The Committee reviewed the 
appropriate package for a new CEO on his appointment and 
details were provided in the Annual Report on Remuneration 
last year.

Incentive review
A significant task for the Committee this year was to review 
the executive annual bonus and LTIP arrangements as the 
existing plans which govern the arrangements are due to 
expire in 2015. Prior to commencing work on that task we 
reviewed the appointment of advisers to the Committee. 
Following a detailed review of providers, tendering process 
and interviews we were pleased to appoint Deloitte LLP 
(Deloitte) as the new remuneration advisers to the Committee 
in 2014. 

In considering the appropriate arrangements for new plans 
the Committee carried out a complete review of executive 
remuneration and took the opportunity to ensure that 
arrangements going forward would be appropriately aligned 
to the Company’s strategy, considering what was appropriate 
for the business and the market in which we operate and 
taking into account market practice, best practice, feedback 
from stakeholders and the key principles of good corporate 
governance. In undertaking this review, the Committee was 
guided by the key principles of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code.

Following this review, the Committee has proposed changes 
to the annual bonus and LTIP arrangements. These changes 
mean that a new policy is required and we are therefore 
putting our policy to a shareholder vote this year at the 
February 2015 AGM, but anticipate that it will then be in 
place without the need for further change for the next three 
years. The detailed proposals are set out in the policy table 
and in the forward looking section of the Annual Report on 
Remuneration, but the high level changes are as follows:

■■ maintain the current annual bonus structure, with a slight 
change to the way that the deferral mechanism works 
and broadly maintain the same performance measures, 
as the Committee wants to ensure that EPS growth 
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continues to be a KPI which is reflected within the variable 
pay arrangements of the directors. We are increasing 
the policy maximum award for the CFO to bring it in line 
with the policy maximum award of the CEO as we do not 
believe that there should be a difference in policy for these 
two key individuals in the business, but at this stage we 
are not proposing to increase the actual size of the award 
and this will be maintained at 100% of salary;

■■ for the 2015 LTIP, remove the co-invest matching 
arrangement and use a single long-term incentive award 
which will be linked to relative TSR and ROCE metrics, 
both of which we consider to be key measures of the 
underlying success of the business. The introduction of 
ROCE as a metric is to ensure focus on driving higher 
returns from the asset base. The maximum opportunity 
will be increased to 125% but this is against the removal 
of the co-invest matching arrangement and also against 
stretching targets required for the maximum award to 
vest;

■■ extend the LTIP to the next tier of management – currently 
a group of five individuals who make up our executive 
management group and who the Committee considers 
should be incentivised in the same way as the executive 
directors, although with a lower overall maximum 
opportunity.

We are also putting forward two all-employee share plans 
for shareholder approval at the AGM. The 2015 Save As You 
Earn (SAYE) Scheme and the 2015 Share Incentive Plan (SIP) 
are updated versions of the plans we have had in place since 
2005 and form part of our programme of encouraging share 
ownership and employee engagement amongst our staff 
across the business.

We remain firmly committed to a responsible approach in 
respect of executive pay. Salary reviews for the executive 
directors have not yet been conducted for the financial year 
ending 30 September 2015. Any reviews will be effective on 
1 January 2015 and I anticipate increases would be modest 
and they will be set against the context of the Group’s 
average pay increase and prevailing market conditions. Other 
benefits, including pension provision, will be maintained at 
existing levels or by reference to percentages of base salary 
as applicable.

Given the changes to the incentive arrangements the 
Company will be seeking a binding vote at its forthcoming 
AGM on its new policy which is to take effect from the date 
of the AGM. The changes are described in this report and 
have previously been subject to dialogue and consultation 
with shareholders.

.

The Committee believes these changes are in the best 
interests of the Company and fully support the execution of 
Enterprise’s strategy. 

The Committee recognises the expectations of our 
shareholders on executive pay and we were pleased that the 
2013 Directors’ Remuneration Report received a 99.29% vote 
in favour at the last AGM and the policy report a 99.84% vote 
in favour. Shareholders are invited to approve the Directors’ 
Remuneration Policy, Annual Report on Remuneration 
and this Annual Statement and the new executive and all-
employee share plans at the AGM on 5 February 2015, details 
of which are set out on pages 129 to 131.

Peter Baguley 
Chairman, Remuneration Committee 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Introduction
Role of the Committee
The Committee is responsible for considering and making 
recommendations to the Board on the:

■■ general policy on executive and senior management 
remuneration;

■■ overall remuneration packages for executive directors 
including base salary, pensions, benefits and performance-
related short-term and long-term incentives;

■■ Chairman’s remuneration; and

■■ design and operation of the Company’s share incentive 
plans.

The Committee reports to the Board on how it has discharged 
its responsibilities and operates within agreed terms of 
reference, a copy of which is available on the Company’s 
website or on request from the Company Secretary. Details 
of the members of the Committee and of the advisers 
to the Committee are provided in the Annual Report on 
Remuneration on page 55.

Policy on executive director remuneration
The Committee regularly reviews the executive directors’ 
remuneration packages to ensure that they take account of 
the Company’s specific circumstances and are aligned to the 
Company’s key strategic objectives as set out in the Strategic 
Review on pages 03 to 05. In formulating the remuneration 
policy, the Committee:

■■ considers market practice (both in terms of the size and 
structure of executive remuneration);

■■ takes into consideration pay practices elsewhere within 
the Company;

■■ encourages open dialogue and consults with major 
shareholders when looking to make material changes to 
the remuneration policy;

■■ ensures that incentive structures for executive directors 
do not raise any environmental, social or governance risks 
by inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour; and

■■ ensures with regard to the overall remuneration structure, 
there is no restriction on the Committee which prevents 
it from taking into account environmental, social or 
governance matters or indeed any other operational/
financial risks that relate to the Company’s business.

The Committee continues to believe that the policy and 
approach (described more fully in the policy table) allows the 
Company to operate the remuneration arrangements in a 
way which promotes the long-term success of the Company 
and remains both relevant and appropriate in terms of the 
balance between:

■■ fixed and variable pay, ensuring a significant proportion of 
the overall remuneration package is performance-related; 

■■ short-term and long-term incentive pay; and

■■ cash-based and share-based remuneration.

The Committee also believes that the performance-related 
elements provide rewards which reflect an appropriate 
balance between the performance of the Group and individual 
performance and aligns the rewards of executive directors 
with the long-term interests of the shareholders and the 
Company’s strategic goals.

Directors’ remuneration policy
This report has been prepared in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 of the 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts 
and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended). This report 
sets out the Company’s current remuneration policy for 2015 
and beyond. A binding resolution to approve this policy will 
be put to shareholders at the AGM.

How the views of shareholders are taken into 
account
The Committee takes into account the views of shareholders. 
In light of the significant changes proposed to the remuneration 
policy this year the Committee Chairman has informed major 
shareholders of these in advance, and offered a meeting to 
discuss these. The dialogue with major shareholders in 2014 
produced a positive response in relation to the design and 
metrics of the share plans going forward and feedback was 
taken into consideration. Details of votes cast for and against 
the resolution to approve last year’s remuneration report are 
provided in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 64. 

How employees’ pay is taken into account
The Committee liaises with senior managers in the Group, 
in particular the HR Director, to ensure pay and employment 
conditions (e.g. base salary levels and reviews, pension 
provision, the structure of annual bonuses and long-term 
incentive provision and other benefits) of the wider Group as 
a whole are taken into account when framing the executive 
remuneration policy. However, the Committee has not 
specifically consulted with employees when drawing up 
the policy or used any remuneration comparison measures 
between directors and employees. 
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Remuneration policy at a glance
The charts below illustrate the remuneration of the CEO and CFO. They show that the performance–related elements of the 
package comprise a very significant portion of the executive directors’ total remuneration.
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Reward scenarios

Minimum performance
Performance in line with 

expectations Maximum performance

Fixed pay Salary + benefits + 25% of salary pension contribution

Annual bonus (including  
amount deferred into shares)

No bonus payout 50% of salary awarded 
(50% of maximum opportunity) 

100% of salary awarded 
(100% of maximum 

opportunity)

LTIP No LTIP vesting Award over 31.25% of salary 
vesting (25% of maximum)

Award over 125% of salary 
vesting (100% of maximum)

The charts illustrate the potential rewards available under the remuneration policy for the 2015 financial year as summarised in 
the table above. The values assume a constant share price and do not take into account share price fluctuation or dividends/
dividend equivalents that may be received on the share awards. Therefore the amounts that ultimately vest to directors 
under the deferred shares and LTIP arrangement may be higher or lower than set out above. The potential monetary rewards 
available for performance in line with expectations under the annual bonus and LTIP are provided for illustration only and do 
not reflect formal policy decisions that these amounts are received.

Salary levels (on which other elements of the package are calculated) are based on those applying from 6 February 2014 
onwards (£460,000 for Simon Townsend and £375,000 for Neil Smith). The value of taxable benefits is based on the cost of 
supplying those benefits (as disclosed in the table on page 56) for the year ended 30 September 2014. 

The executive directors can also participate in all-employee share schemes on the same basis as other employees. The value 
that may be received under these schemes is subject to limits specified in the relevant tax legislation. For simplicity, the value 
that may be received from participating in these schemes has been excluded from the above charts. 
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Policy table
Remuneration 
element Purpose Operation Opportunity Performance metrics 

Base salary Core element of fixed remuneration 
reflecting the individual’s role and 
experience. 

Salaries are ordinarily reviewed annually, with any changes normally taking 
effect from 1 January each year.

There is no maximum salary level set. When considering 
salary levels and whether any increase should be offered, the 
Committee takes into account a variety of factors including: 
Company performance, individual performance, experience and 
responsibilities, relevant market information and the % level of 
increase being offered to the wider workforce. 

Not applicable.

Benefits To provide a market competitive 
reward package and promote the 
well-being of employees.

Benefits normally comprise a car allowance or use of a motor car, fuel, private 
medical, travel, accident and legal expenses insurance, directors and officers 
insurance and life assurance. The benefit provision is reviewed periodically. 
Other benefits may be provided based on individual circumstances, which may 
include relocation costs.

No maximum value is set but the Committee periodically monitors 
the overall value of the benefits package and provides benefits 
at a level which the Committee considers to be appropriately 
positioned taking into account relevant market levels based on 
the nature and location of the role and individual circumstances.

Not applicable.

SIP and SAYE All-employee offers to motivate and 
to facilitate share ownership.

The SIP and SAYE schemes are reviewed annually and if offered are offered to 
all eligible employees. 

Shareholder approval will be sought at the 2015 AGM for the Enterprise Inns 
2015 Save As You Earn Scheme (2015 SAYE) and the Enterprise Inns 2015 Share 
Incentive Plan (2015 SIP). 

The 2015 SAYE and 2015 SIP will be used to make any awards from the 2015 
AGM onwards. 

An executive director can participate by paying up to £500 per 
month (or such other limit as may be permitted under the relevant 
legislation) (SAYE) and £1,800 per annum (or such other limit 
as may be permitted under the relevant legislation) (SIP) into 
these tax advantaged all-employee schemes. Under the SIP the 
Company may match the shares up to a 2 for 1 basis or such other 
basis as may be permitted under the relevant legislation.

Matching shares granted under the SIP are subject to a holding period 
prescribed under relevant legislation and continued employment, but 
no other performance conditions.

Pension To aid retention and to remain 
competitive in the market place. 

Contribution to a personal pension arrangement or cash in lieu of pension by 
way of a salary supplement (or a combination thereof). 

25% of salary. Not applicable.

Annual bonus 
plan 

To motivate executives and incentivise 
the achievement of key financial and 
strategic goals and targets over the 
financial year. 

Deferral of part of the bonus into 
shares provides alignment with 
shareholders.

Performance targets are reviewed annually and any pay-out is determined by 
the Committee after the year end based on targets set for the year. 

The Committee has discretion to amend the pay-out should any formulaic output 
not reflect the Committee’s assessment of overall business performance.

50% of any bonus earned above the bonus earned for target performance 
will be deferred into shares for three years (Deferred Share Award), although 
the Committee may determine not to defer any amount of a bonus earned 
where the amount to be deferred is so small as to make, in the opinion of 
the Committee, the application of deferral unduly administratively burdensome. 
Directors may be permitted to defer a greater proportion of any bonus into a 
Deferred Share Award. Dividend equivalents may be paid on vested shares 
under Deferred Share Awards as described in the “Opportunity” column. 

Deferred Share Awards may vest early in the event of a change of control or 
other relevant corporate event or on cessation of employment, as described on 
pages 50 to 54.

Clawback may be applied, at the discretion of the Committee, in the event of 
material misconduct, material misstatement of results, a calculation error and/
or poor information used when calculating the reward outcome. 

In addition, in the case of Deferred Share Awards granted in respect of bonuses 
from 2015 onwards, at any time prior to the third anniversary of the award date, 
the Committee may reduce or cancel a Deferred Share Award or impose further 
conditions on such an award in the event of material misstatement of results, a 
material failure of risk management or serious reputational damage. 

The maximum bonus potential is 125% of salary for the CEO 
and the CFO. However (as has been the case since 2010) the 
current intention is to limit bonuses for 2015 to 100% of salary for 
executive directors. 

Dividend equivalents (in cash or shares) may be paid on vested 
shares under Deferred Share Awards in respect of dividends, 
including any dividend tax credit, that would have been paid 
on vested shares in respect of dividend record dates occurring 
between the grant date and the date of vesting. The dividend 
equivalents may assume the reinvestment of dividends.

The bonus is normally based on a mix of financial targets and 
individual strategic and/or personal objectives, with financial 
performance normally accounting for a majority of the overall bonus 
opportunity. No bonuses will be payable unless a minimum level of 
financial performance has been achieved.

Notwithstanding the achievement of the performance targets, any 
bonus payable will be determined by the Committee in accordance 
with the plan rules, including the Committee’s right to exercise its 
discretion fairly and reasonably in any circumstances which the 
Committee considers it appropriate to do so. 

The element of the bonus subject to financial measures will 
be earned between 0% and 100% for performance between a 
“threshold” level of performance (the minimum level of performance 
that results in any pay-out) and maximum performance, with 50% of 
the maximum opportunity for target performance. 

Vesting of the bonus in respect of strategic and individual objectives 
will be between 0% and 100% of the maximum opportunity for 
those elements based on the Committee’s assessment of the extent 
to which the relevant objective has been met.

Details of the performance targets set for the year under review and 
performance against them are provided on page 57 of the Annual 
Report on Remuneration, together with details of the bonus metrics 
to be used for the forthcoming financial year.
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Policy table
Remuneration 
element Purpose Operation Opportunity Performance metrics 

Base salary Core element of fixed remuneration 
reflecting the individual’s role and 
experience. 

Salaries are ordinarily reviewed annually, with any changes normally taking 
effect from 1 January each year.

There is no maximum salary level set. When considering 
salary levels and whether any increase should be offered, the 
Committee takes into account a variety of factors including: 
Company performance, individual performance, experience and 
responsibilities, relevant market information and the % level of 
increase being offered to the wider workforce. 

Not applicable.

Benefits To provide a market competitive 
reward package and promote the 
well-being of employees.

Benefits normally comprise a car allowance or use of a motor car, fuel, private 
medical, travel, accident and legal expenses insurance, directors and officers 
insurance and life assurance. The benefit provision is reviewed periodically. 
Other benefits may be provided based on individual circumstances, which may 
include relocation costs.

No maximum value is set but the Committee periodically monitors 
the overall value of the benefits package and provides benefits 
at a level which the Committee considers to be appropriately 
positioned taking into account relevant market levels based on 
the nature and location of the role and individual circumstances.

Not applicable.

SIP and SAYE All-employee offers to motivate and 
to facilitate share ownership.

The SIP and SAYE schemes are reviewed annually and if offered are offered to 
all eligible employees. 

Shareholder approval will be sought at the 2015 AGM for the Enterprise Inns 
2015 Save As You Earn Scheme (2015 SAYE) and the Enterprise Inns 2015 Share 
Incentive Plan (2015 SIP). 

The 2015 SAYE and 2015 SIP will be used to make any awards from the 2015 
AGM onwards. 

An executive director can participate by paying up to £500 per 
month (or such other limit as may be permitted under the relevant 
legislation) (SAYE) and £1,800 per annum (or such other limit 
as may be permitted under the relevant legislation) (SIP) into 
these tax advantaged all-employee schemes. Under the SIP the 
Company may match the shares up to a 2 for 1 basis or such other 
basis as may be permitted under the relevant legislation.

Matching shares granted under the SIP are subject to a holding period 
prescribed under relevant legislation and continued employment, but 
no other performance conditions.

Pension To aid retention and to remain 
competitive in the market place. 

Contribution to a personal pension arrangement or cash in lieu of pension by 
way of a salary supplement (or a combination thereof). 

25% of salary. Not applicable.

Annual bonus 
plan 

To motivate executives and incentivise 
the achievement of key financial and 
strategic goals and targets over the 
financial year. 

Deferral of part of the bonus into 
shares provides alignment with 
shareholders.

Performance targets are reviewed annually and any pay-out is determined by 
the Committee after the year end based on targets set for the year. 

The Committee has discretion to amend the pay-out should any formulaic output 
not reflect the Committee’s assessment of overall business performance.

50% of any bonus earned above the bonus earned for target performance 
will be deferred into shares for three years (Deferred Share Award), although 
the Committee may determine not to defer any amount of a bonus earned 
where the amount to be deferred is so small as to make, in the opinion of 
the Committee, the application of deferral unduly administratively burdensome. 
Directors may be permitted to defer a greater proportion of any bonus into a 
Deferred Share Award. Dividend equivalents may be paid on vested shares 
under Deferred Share Awards as described in the “Opportunity” column. 

Deferred Share Awards may vest early in the event of a change of control or 
other relevant corporate event or on cessation of employment, as described on 
pages 50 to 54.

Clawback may be applied, at the discretion of the Committee, in the event of 
material misconduct, material misstatement of results, a calculation error and/
or poor information used when calculating the reward outcome. 

In addition, in the case of Deferred Share Awards granted in respect of bonuses 
from 2015 onwards, at any time prior to the third anniversary of the award date, 
the Committee may reduce or cancel a Deferred Share Award or impose further 
conditions on such an award in the event of material misstatement of results, a 
material failure of risk management or serious reputational damage. 

The maximum bonus potential is 125% of salary for the CEO 
and the CFO. However (as has been the case since 2010) the 
current intention is to limit bonuses for 2015 to 100% of salary for 
executive directors. 

Dividend equivalents (in cash or shares) may be paid on vested 
shares under Deferred Share Awards in respect of dividends, 
including any dividend tax credit, that would have been paid 
on vested shares in respect of dividend record dates occurring 
between the grant date and the date of vesting. The dividend 
equivalents may assume the reinvestment of dividends.

The bonus is normally based on a mix of financial targets and 
individual strategic and/or personal objectives, with financial 
performance normally accounting for a majority of the overall bonus 
opportunity. No bonuses will be payable unless a minimum level of 
financial performance has been achieved.

Notwithstanding the achievement of the performance targets, any 
bonus payable will be determined by the Committee in accordance 
with the plan rules, including the Committee’s right to exercise its 
discretion fairly and reasonably in any circumstances which the 
Committee considers it appropriate to do so. 

The element of the bonus subject to financial measures will 
be earned between 0% and 100% for performance between a 
“threshold” level of performance (the minimum level of performance 
that results in any pay-out) and maximum performance, with 50% of 
the maximum opportunity for target performance. 

Vesting of the bonus in respect of strategic and individual objectives 
will be between 0% and 100% of the maximum opportunity for 
those elements based on the Committee’s assessment of the extent 
to which the relevant objective has been met.

Details of the performance targets set for the year under review and 
performance against them are provided on page 57 of the Annual 
Report on Remuneration, together with details of the bonus metrics 
to be used for the forthcoming financial year.
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration 
element Purpose Operation Opportunity Performance metrics 

LTIP To motivate executives and 
incentivise delivery of performance 
over the long–term and to facilitate 
share ownership. 

The Committee intends to make awards under the Enterprise Inns 2015 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (2015 LTIP), for which shareholder approval will be sought 
at the 2015 AGM.

Annual awards of performance shares are made which are based on performance 
over three years and vest after three, four and five years in equal tranches. 

The performance awards will be granted in accordance with the rules of the 
LTIP, as approved by shareholders, and the discretions contained therein. A 
copy of the rules is available on request from the Company Secretary. 

Dividend equivalents may be paid on vested shares under LTIP awards as 
described in the “Opportunity” column.

Clawback may be applied, at the discretion of the Committee, in the event of 
material misconduct, material misstatement of results, a calculation error and/
or poor information used when calculating the reward outcome.

In addition, at any time prior to the third anniversary of the end of the period 
over which the applicable performance condition is measured, the Committee 
may reduce or cancel an award or impose further conditions on an award in the 
event of material misstatement of results, a material failure of risk management 
or serious reputational damage. 

The maximum award for performance shares under the plan rules 
is 150% of salary in respect of any financial year. However, the 
proposed grant for 2015 is 125% of salary. 

Dividend equivalents (in cash or shares) may be paid on vested 
shares under LTIP awards in respect of dividends, including any 
dividend tax credit, that would have been paid on vested shares 
in respect of dividend record dates occurring between the grant 
date and the date of vesting. The dividend equivalents may 
assume the reinvestment of dividends.

Performance measures under the 2015 LTIP will be based on 
financial measures (which may include but are not limited to ROCE, 
TSR and EPS). 

Awards will vest at 25% for threshold performance, increasing to 
100% for maximum performance. 

No vesting will occur in respect of the relative TSR measure where  
performance is below median.

The performance measures for awards to be granted under the 2015 
LTIP in the 2015 financial year are set out on page 65. 

Performance measures applying to outstanding awards under the 
2005 LTIP are set out on pages 59 to 60. 

Ordinarily, LTIPs are subject to continued employment and vest in 
equal tranches after three, four and five years. 

Chairman and 
non-executive 
directors’ fees

To attract and retain non-executive 
directors of the right calibre.

The Chairman and non-executive directors’ remuneration takes the form solely of 
fees. The Chairman’s fee is approved by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee. Fees for the non-executive directors are approved by the Board, on 
the recommendation of the Chairman and the executive directors. 

The non-executive directors are not involved in any discussion or decisions about 
their own remuneration.

Additional fees, over and above the base fee for the non-executive directors, are 
payable to the Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and to the 
Senior Independent Director. 

Details of the current fee levels are set out in the Annual Report 
on Remuneration on page 55. 

The fee levels are reviewed periodically taking into account the 
time commitment and responsibilities of the role and fees paid in 
other companies of comparable size and complexity.

Not applicable.

Notes to the policy table:
The application of the policy for 2015 is set out on pages 65 to 66.

Legacy share plans
Subject to approval by shareholders at the 2015 AGM, executive directors may receive awards under the 2015 LTIP, the 2015 
SAYE and the 2015 SIP. Executive directors may also receive awards (including Deferred Share Awards) under the Enterprise 
Inns 2015 Annual Bonus Plan. Executive directors also hold awards under the Enterprise Inns 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan 
(2005 LTIP), the Enterprise Inns 2005 Annual Bonus Plan (2005 ABP), the Enterprise Inns 2005 Save as You Earn Scheme 
(2005 SAYE) and the Enterprise Inns 2005 Share Incentive Plan (2005 SIP). 

Share plan Operation Opportunity Performance measures

2005 LTIP Used for long-term incentive awards 
up to 2014. 

Awards of performance shares 
which are based on performance 
over three years and vest after three, 
four and five years in equal tranches. 

In addition, investment shares 
(worth up to 25% of salary) received 
by the executive directors through 
the annual bonus plan or acquired 
through other funds are eligible for a 
matching share award. 

No further awards will be granted 
under the 2005 LTIP. 

Performance share awards and 
matching share awards held by 
executive directors are set out in the 
table on page 59.

The performance measures applying 
to outstanding performance share 
awards and matching share awards 
held by the executive directors under 
the 2005 LTIP are summarised on 
pages 59 and 60.

2005 SAYE and 
2005 SIP

All-employee share plans used for 
awards up to 2014. 

No further awards will be granted 
under the 2005 SAYE and 2005 SIP 
post the AGM. 

Outstanding awards or options held 
by the executive directors are set out 
on page 60.

Not applicable.
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Remuneration 
element Purpose Operation Opportunity Performance metrics 

LTIP To motivate executives and 
incentivise delivery of performance 
over the long–term and to facilitate 
share ownership. 

The Committee intends to make awards under the Enterprise Inns 2015 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (2015 LTIP), for which shareholder approval will be sought 
at the 2015 AGM.

Annual awards of performance shares are made which are based on performance 
over three years and vest after three, four and five years in equal tranches. 

The performance awards will be granted in accordance with the rules of the 
LTIP, as approved by shareholders, and the discretions contained therein. A 
copy of the rules is available on request from the Company Secretary. 

Dividend equivalents may be paid on vested shares under LTIP awards as 
described in the “Opportunity” column.

Clawback may be applied, at the discretion of the Committee, in the event of 
material misconduct, material misstatement of results, a calculation error and/
or poor information used when calculating the reward outcome.

In addition, at any time prior to the third anniversary of the end of the period 
over which the applicable performance condition is measured, the Committee 
may reduce or cancel an award or impose further conditions on an award in the 
event of material misstatement of results, a material failure of risk management 
or serious reputational damage. 

The maximum award for performance shares under the plan rules 
is 150% of salary in respect of any financial year. However, the 
proposed grant for 2015 is 125% of salary. 

Dividend equivalents (in cash or shares) may be paid on vested 
shares under LTIP awards in respect of dividends, including any 
dividend tax credit, that would have been paid on vested shares 
in respect of dividend record dates occurring between the grant 
date and the date of vesting. The dividend equivalents may 
assume the reinvestment of dividends.

Performance measures under the 2015 LTIP will be based on 
financial measures (which may include but are not limited to ROCE, 
TSR and EPS). 

Awards will vest at 25% for threshold performance, increasing to 
100% for maximum performance. 

No vesting will occur in respect of the relative TSR measure where  
performance is below median.

The performance measures for awards to be granted under the 2015 
LTIP in the 2015 financial year are set out on page 65. 

Performance measures applying to outstanding awards under the 
2005 LTIP are set out on pages 59 to 60. 

Ordinarily, LTIPs are subject to continued employment and vest in 
equal tranches after three, four and five years. 

Chairman and 
non-executive 
directors’ fees

To attract and retain non-executive 
directors of the right calibre.

The Chairman and non-executive directors’ remuneration takes the form solely of 
fees. The Chairman’s fee is approved by the Board on the recommendation of the 
Committee. Fees for the non-executive directors are approved by the Board, on 
the recommendation of the Chairman and the executive directors. 

The non-executive directors are not involved in any discussion or decisions about 
their own remuneration.

Additional fees, over and above the base fee for the non-executive directors, are 
payable to the Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and to the 
Senior Independent Director. 

Details of the current fee levels are set out in the Annual Report 
on Remuneration on page 55. 

The fee levels are reviewed periodically taking into account the 
time commitment and responsibilities of the role and fees paid in 
other companies of comparable size and complexity.

Not applicable.

Notes to the policy table:
The application of the policy for 2015 is set out on pages 65 to 66.

Legacy share plans
Subject to approval by shareholders at the 2015 AGM, executive directors may receive awards under the 2015 LTIP, the 2015 
SAYE and the 2015 SIP. Executive directors may also receive awards (including Deferred Share Awards) under the Enterprise 
Inns 2015 Annual Bonus Plan. Executive directors also hold awards under the Enterprise Inns 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan 
(2005 LTIP), the Enterprise Inns 2005 Annual Bonus Plan (2005 ABP), the Enterprise Inns 2005 Save as You Earn Scheme 
(2005 SAYE) and the Enterprise Inns 2005 Share Incentive Plan (2005 SIP). 

Share plan Operation Opportunity Performance measures

2005 LTIP Used for long-term incentive awards 
up to 2014. 

Awards of performance shares 
which are based on performance 
over three years and vest after three, 
four and five years in equal tranches. 

In addition, investment shares 
(worth up to 25% of salary) received 
by the executive directors through 
the annual bonus plan or acquired 
through other funds are eligible for a 
matching share award. 

No further awards will be granted 
under the 2005 LTIP. 

Performance share awards and 
matching share awards held by 
executive directors are set out in the 
table on page 59.

The performance measures applying 
to outstanding performance share 
awards and matching share awards 
held by the executive directors under 
the 2005 LTIP are summarised on 
pages 59 and 60.

2005 SAYE and 
2005 SIP

All-employee share plans used for 
awards up to 2014. 

No further awards will be granted 
under the 2005 SAYE and 2005 SIP 
post the AGM. 

Outstanding awards or options held 
by the executive directors are set out 
on page 60.

Not applicable.

Prior to the adoption of the 2015 Annual Bonus Plan, the Company operated the 2005 ABP. For years up to 2014, at least 40% 
of any bonus under the 2005 ABP is paid in the form of a Deferred Share Award, which is deferred for a period of three years. 
Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM of the remuneration policy for 2015 and beyond, the proportion of any bonuses for 
2015 which will be paid in the form of a Deferred Share Award will be determined in accordance with the policy table above. 

Operation of share plans
The Committee will operate its current and legacy share plans in accordance with their rules. Share awards under the 2015 
LTIP and Deferred Share Awards may be made in the form of conditional share awards, options (including nil cost options) 
and forfeitable share awards. Awards granted over shares may be settled in cash. In the event of a variation of the Company’s 
share capital or a demerger, special dividend or other event which, in the Committee’s opinion may affect the price of shares, 
the Committee may alter the terms of awards under its share plans and the number of shares subject to those awards in 
accordance with the terms of the relevant plan. 

The share plan elements of the remuneration policy have been amended as referred to below when compared with the share 
plan elements of the policy approved by shareholders at last year’s AGM. 

■■ The participation limits under the SAYE and SIP have been increased for all employees (including executive directors) to 
reflect the limits now permitted under the relevant tax legislation. 

■■ The deferral mechanism under the annual bonus has been changed to provide for mandatory deferral of at least half of any 
bonus earned above a target level of bonus (subject to the Committee’s discretion not to require deferral if only a small 
amount would be deferred), as opposed to 40% of any bonus being mandatorily deferred.

■■ The co-investment matching element of the long-term incentive arrangement has been removed and in recognition of 
this the usual annual award level for executive directors has been increased to 125% of salary, although the maximum 
permitted under the rules will remain at 150%. 
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■■ As referred to in the policy table above, to take account of corporate governance developments, we have introduced a 
malus provision enabling the Committee to reduce LTIP awards and Deferred Share Awards in certain circumstances. We 
have also introduced the ability to award “dividend equivalents” on Deferred Share Awards to take account of dividends 
paid on vested shares in respect of dividend record dates occurring between the grant date and the date of vesting. 

■■ As noted in the “Payments for loss of office” section on page 53, the “good leaver” provisions under the 2015 LTIP and the 
2015 Annual Bonus Plan have been varied to give the Committee discretion to defer vesting of awards until the originally 
anticipated vesting date. 

Change of control
In the event of a change of control of the Company or other relevant corporate event, unvested share awards will usually vest. 
In the case of any LTIP award for which the performance period has not ended, the number of shares in respect of which the 
award vests shall be determined by applying the performance conditions and, unless the Committee determines otherwise, 
time prorating by reference to the period from grant to early vesting as a proportion of 36 months. Any LTIP award for which 
the performance period has ended will vest in respect of all the shares subject to it, subject to satisfaction of the performance 
condition. Deferred Share Awards shall vest in respect of all of the shares subject to them. 

Awards under the Company’s all-employee share plans will vest early in the event of a change of control of the Company, in 
accordance with the rules of those plans. 

If a demerger, delisting, special dividend or other event is proposed which, in the opinion of the Committee would affect the 
price of shares in the Company, the Committee may permit awards under the LTIP and Deferred Share Awards to vest early 
in whole or in part. 

Choice of performance measures
The annual bonus is based on a mix of financial and individual strategic targets. The measures are based on the financial, 
operational and strategic priorities of the business and may vary from year to year as appropriate to reflect the changing 
needs of the business. A sliding scale of targets is set for the financial measures so as to drive significant improvements in 
business performance. Following the determination of the bonus by reference to the targets for the relevant financial year, 
the proportion deferred into a Deferred Share Award is not subject to any further performance condition. 

Performance measures for the 2015 LTIP will be selected to reflect the Company’s strategy. For awards to be granted in 
respect of the 2015 financial year, performance measures have been chosen to be consistent with the Company’s strategy, 
and which provide longer-term stretching performance targets. 70% of each award will be subject to a performance measure 
based on relative TSR compared against the FTSE 250, and 30% of each award will be subject to a performance measure 
based on ROCE. 

The Committee may vary any performance measure if an event occurs which causes it to determine that it would be 
appropriate to do so, provided that any such variation is fair and reasonable and (in the opinion of the Committee) the change 
would not make the measure less demanding. If the Committee were to make such a variation, an explanation would be given 
in the next Remuneration Report. 

SAYE options and awards under the SIP are not subject to performance conditions in line with the treatment of such awards 
for all employees and in accordance with the applicable tax legislation. 

Interaction with the policy for employee pay
There are some differences in the structure of the remuneration policy for the executive directors (as set out above) compared 
with that for other employees within the organisation. This reflects differing levels of seniority and responsibility. For example, 
there is an increased emphasis on performance related pay for executive directors through a higher annual bonus opportunity 
and participation in the LTIP. This aligns the interests of directors with the long–term performance of the Company and the 
interests of shareholders. In addition, for the first time in 2015 we will extend the opportunity to participate in a LTIP to the 
next tier of management.

Directors’ Remuneration Report
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Service contracts
It is the Company’s policy that, ordinarily, the period of notice for executive directors will not exceed 12 months and accordingly, 
the employment contracts of the executive directors are terminable on 12 months’ notice by either party. The Company may 
terminate a director’s employment without notice or compensation in the event of gross misconduct. 

Payments for loss of office
In the event of a director’s departure, the Company’s policy on termination payments is as follows:

■■ the Company will pay any amounts it is required to in accordance with or in settlement of a director’s statutory employment 
rights;

■■ the Company may pay salary, benefits and pension in lieu of notice and observe the other contractual entitlements of a 
director;

■■ the Company will seek to ensure that no more is paid than is warranted in each individual case and where appropriate, the 
Company will seek to apply the principles of mitigation to any proposed payment;

■■ there is no entitlement to bonus following notice of termination (or cessation of employment) and ‘bad leavers’ will 
not receive any bonus in such circumstances. However, the Committee’s normal policy is that where the individual is 
considered a ‘good leaver’, a performance-related bonus may be paid which would typically be prorated for time. The 
performance measures used to determine the bonus payment may be on a different basis to that applying to the other 
executive directors depending on the timing and circumstances of the director’s departure. Time prorating will usually be 
based on the proportion of the bonus year for which the individual is employed and the bonus (if any) will usually be paid 
at the normal time, although the Committee retains discretion to pay it earlier in appropriate circumstances. If at the time 
the bonus is paid, the individual is under notice or has left employment, all of the bonus may be payable in cash; and

■■ in the event of a director’s departure, any outstanding share awards will be treated in accordance with the relevant plan 
rules, as follows:

Plan Treatment on cessation

2005 LTIP and 2015 LTIP Awards will ordinarily lapse on cessation of employment. 

However, in some circumstances such as death, injury, retirement (at the discretion of the Committee in the 
case of the 2015 LTIP), sale of the employer out of the Group and any other circumstances at the discretion 
of the Committee (taking into account the individual’s performance and reasons for their departure), ‘good 
leaver’ status may be applied. In the case of a good leaver:

(i) unvested LTIP awards where the performance period has already ended will fully vest on leaving unless, 
in the case of an award granted under the 2015 LTIP the Committee determines it should vest on the 
originally anticipated vesting date; and

(ii) unvested LTIP awards where the performance period has not already ended will vest either at the end of 
the performance period or on the date of cessation as determined by the Committee or, if the Committee 
so determines in the case of an award granted under the 2015 LTIP, on the originally anticipated vesting 
date. A good leaver will normally receive a prorated proportion of any outstanding LTIP awards (prorated 
from the date of grant to the date of cessation of employment), normally subject to performance over the 
usual three year period. The Committee may decide to measure performance over a shorter period to the 
end of employment and may waive in whole, or in part, prorating, but this would only be in exceptional 
circumstances.

Deferred Share Awards Awards will ordinarily lapse on cessation of employment if cessation is before the third anniversary of the 
date of grant. 

However, in some circumstances such as death, injury, retirement (at the discretion of the Committee in the 
case of the 2015 annual bonus plan), sale of the employer out of the Group and any other circumstances 
at the discretion of the Committee (taking into account the individual’s performance and reasons for their 
departure), ‘good leaver’ status may be applied. In the case of a good leaver, unvested Deferred Share Awards 
will vest in full on cessation or, if the Committee so determines in the case of an award granted under the 
2015 Annual Bonus Plan, on the originally anticipated vesting date. 

All-employee share plans 
(SAYE and SIP)

Awards will vest in accordance with the rules of the relevant plan, which do not permit the exercise of any 
discretion by the Committee. 
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Where appropriate the Company may enable the provision of outplacement services to a departing director and make 
payments in respect of accrued holiday and legal fees.

The Committee reserves the right to make additional exit payments where such payments are made in good faith in discharge 
of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such an obligation) or by way of settlement or compromise 
of any claim arising in connection with the termination of a director’s office or employment. 

Where a “buyout” or other award is made outside the Company’s existing share plans as referred to below, the leaver 
provisions would be determined at the time of the award. 

The contracts of the executive directors do not provide for any enhanced payments in the event of a change of control of the 
Company or for liquidated damages. 

Approach to recruitment and promotions
The remuneration package for a new executive director will typically be set in accordance with the Company’s approved 
remuneration policy as set out on pages 48 to 50, subject to the discretions below. 

The salary level for a new appointment will be set taking into account the individual’s experience, the nature of the role being 
offered and their existing remuneration package.

The maximum level of variable remuneration that may be granted in connection with recruitment (excluding any “buyout” 
award as referred to below) is 275% of salary.

If an executive director is appointed at a time in the year when it would be inappropriate to provide a bonus or long-term 
incentive award for that year as there would not be sufficient time to assess performance, subject to the limit on variable 
remuneration, the quantum in respect of months employed during the year may be transferred to a subsequent year so that 
reward is provided on a fair and reasonable basis. 

In relation to long-term incentive and bonus awards, different performance targets, performance periods and vesting periods 
may be set to those applying to the other executive directors in the first year of appointment, if the Committee determines 
that the circumstances of the appointment merit such alteration.

In addition, the Committee may offer further cash, benefits and/or share–based elements (including awards under 9.4.2(R) 
of the Listing Rules) as necessary to secure an appointment and “buyout” remuneration arrangements forfeited on leaving 
a previous employer – any such payments would take account of the remuneration relinquished when leaving the former 
employer, for example, reflecting the nature, time horizons and performance requirements attaching to that remuneration. 
Shareholders will be informed of any such payments at the time of appointment. 

For an internal appointment, any variable pay or benefit element granted in respect of the prior role may be allowed to pay out 
or be provided according to its terms. 

Relocation expenses or allowances may be paid as appropriate.

Chairman and non-executive directors
All non-executive directors have letters of appointment, the terms of which take into account best practice. Their respective 
appointments continue on an annual basis from AGM to AGM, subject to re-election. There are no special provisions in the 
non-executive directors’ letters of appointment for compensation in the event of loss of office. A summary of the letters of 
appointment for non-executive directors is set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration on page 64.

Legacy arrangements
For the avoidance of doubt, in approving this Policy Report, authority is given to the Company to honour any commitments 
entered into with current or former directors that have been disclosed to shareholders in previous remuneration reports. 
Details of any payments to former directors will be set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration as they arise as required 
under the regulations.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
This Annual Report on Remuneration sets out how the Company’s remuneration policy for directors was implemented during 
the year under review. This report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and 
Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as amended) 
and 9.8.8R of the Listing Rules. An advisory resolution to approve this report will be put to shareholders at the forthcoming 
AGM. The information on pages 56 to 61 as indicated has been audited. 

Composition of the Committee
The Committee has been constituted and operated throughout the year in accordance with the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. The Committee comprised the following non-executive directors: 

■■ Peter Baguley – Chairman of the Committee from 6 February 2014;

■■ Susan Murray – Chairman of the Committee until 6 February 2014; 

■■ David Maloney;

■■ Adam Fowle – from 6 February 2014; and

■■ Robert Walker – from 6 February 2014.

No member of the Committee has any personal financial interest in the matters being decided. The Company’s CEO attends 
meetings by invitation of the Committee except where their own remuneration is being discussed. The Committee receives 
assistance from the Company Secretary as appropriate and the Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. 

Advisers
During part of the year under review, the Committee received external advice on directors’ remuneration matters from Aon 
plc operating through the brand New Bridge Street. Following a review and tendering process Deloitte were appointed by the 
Committee to be its independent adviser going forward. Aon plc did not provide any other services to the Company during 
the year under review and Deloitte provided advice in relation to carbon emissions disclosure and conducted a review of the 
effectiveness of the internal audit function. 

Deloitte is a founder member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and as such voluntarily operates under its Code of 
Conduct in relation to executive remuneration in the UK. During the year the Chairman of the Committee reviewed the 
performance of Deloitte, in terms of the quality and independence of advice, the potential for conflicts of interest (which are 
actively managed within Deloitte) and its knowledge and understanding of market practice. Having reviewed these factors, 
the Committee chose to continue to retain Deloitte as its adviser in 2015.

The total fees paid to Aon plc in respect of its services to the Committee during the year were £24,372 and to Deloitte were 
£24,830. The fees charged for major projects are normally negotiated in advance of the work being undertaken. However, 
an element of the fees relates to sundry on-going advice, in line with Deloitte’s role to provide on-going support to the 
Committee over the entire remuneration year and are predominantly charged on a ‘time spent’ basis. 

Fees for the Chairman and non-executive directors
The fee policy for the Chairman and non-executive directors for the year under review was as follows:

■■ Chairman – £200,000

■■ Base Board fee – £55,500

■■ Additional fees for chairing the Audit or Remuneration Committee – £6,000

■■ Additional fees for the Senior Independent Directorship – £2,000
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The following information has been subject to audit:
Remuneration outcomes during 2014 
The table below sets out the remuneration received/receivable in relation to the year ended 30 September 2014. 

Name Base salary/fees
Taxable benefits 

(i) Pension (ii)
Annual bonus 

(iii)

LTIP
performance 

shares (iv)

LTIP
matching shares 

(iv)
SIP matching 

shares (v) Total

£000 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Executive directors

Simon Townsend 434 384 27 26 108 96 308 111 – – – – 3 3 880 620

Neil Smith 368 355 27 27 92 89 269 110 – – – – – – 756 581

Ted Tuppen (vi) 224 640 11 29 56 160 186 192 – – – – 3 3 480 1,024

Total 1,026 1,379 65 82 256 345 763 413 – – – – 6 6 2,116 2,225

Chairman and non-executive directors

Robert Walker 200 200 – – – – – – – – – – – – 200 200

David Maloney 63 63 – – – – – – – – – – – – 63 63

Peter Baguley (vii) 59 37 – – – – – – – – – – – – 59 37

Adam Fowle (viii) 36 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 36 –

Susan Murray (ix) 21 62 – – – – – – – – – – – – 21 62

David Harding – 19 – – – – – – – – – – – – – 19

Total 379 381 – – – – – – – – – – – – 379 381

(i) Taxable benefits include car allowances or use of a motor car, fuel, private medical, travel, accident and legal expenses insurances.

(ii) This comprises either direct contributions to personal pension arrangements or cash in lieu of directors’ pension contributions (these sums are not included 
in any bonus or share incentive award calculations). Of the amounts shown, the element for 2014 relating to salary supplements in lieu of contributions are 
£83,000 (2013: £46,000) for Simon Townsend, £70,000 (2013: £46,000) for Neil Smith and £56,000, up until he ceased to be a director, (2013: £110,000) 
for Ted Tuppen.

(iii) The 2014 bonuses were payable based on EPS performance and individual strategic targets. Bonus pay-outs ranged from 71% to 83% of salary. The 
bonuses are payable in a mixture of cash and deferred shares. With the agreement of the Committee, Simon Townsend and Neil Smith have elected to 
take 40% of the bonus as deferred shares (2013: Simon Townsend 100% and Neil Smith 40%). Ted Tuppen elected to take the whole award in shares 
(2013 100%). Deferred shares ordinarily vest after three years and are not subject to any further performance conditions. Ted Tuppen’s award is exercisable 
immediately. Details of the bonuses awarded are shown on page 57. 

(iv) The performance period for the 2010 performance and matching awards ended on 19 January 2014. The award was subject to a TSR performance condition 
and the Company’s TSR underperformed that of the FTSE 250, therefore the awards lapsed.

(v) The SIP is an all-employee share plan under which in December 2013 the Company matched on a 2:1 basis shares purchased up to a value of £1,500. The 
2:1 basis used values the matching shares at the date of grant at £3,000. Continued employment and a three year holding period apply to the matching 
element. In accordance with HMRC requirements no performance conditions are set. 

(vi) Ted Tuppen retired from the board on 6 February 2014, and the remuneration shown in the table above relates to that which had been earned up until that 
point. Following Ted Tuppen retiring from the Board, he continued as an employee of the Company until 19 May 2014, and since then was paid in lieu of 
notice on a monthly basis. For the period from 6 February 2014 up until the end of the 2014 financial year, Ted Tuppen’s remuneration consists of £416,000 
of salary or salary in lieu of notice, together with benefits of £30,000, salary supplements in lieu of pension contributions of £104,000 and bonus of 
£150,000. The bonus related to the period up to 19 May 2014 only.

(vii) Peter Baguley was appointed to the Board on 31 January 2013.

(viii) Adam Fowle was appointed to the Board on 6 February 2014.

(ix) Susan Murray retired from the Board on 6 February 2014.
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Annual bonus 2014
The annual bonus plan has operated in its current form since 2005. Awards under the plan are subject to demanding 
performance targets. For the year under review, 80% of Simon Townsend and Neil Smith’s bonus and, in his retirement year, 
50% of Ted Tuppen’s was subject to a sliding scale of challenging annual adjusted basic EPS targets, with 20% (50% for Ted 
Tuppen) subject to challenging individual strategic targets, although no bonus is payable under this element of the bonus plan 
unless a threshold level of adjusted EPS performance is delivered. 

Up to 60% of any bonus earned is paid in cash, with at least 40% deferred into shares (executive directors can choose 
voluntarily to defer more of the award into shares if they so wish). 

A ‘clawback’ provision exists under which the Committee can seek appropriate means of redress in the event of material 
misconduct, material misstatement of results, an error in the calculation or due to poor information used when calculating 
the reward outcome. Redress can be sought through: (i) the lapsing of unvested Deferred Share Awards, which may result 
in a corresponding lapse of matching share awards under the 2005 LTIP; (ii) a reduction in future bonus pay-outs; and (iii) the 
reclaim of previously paid bonuses (net of tax). 

The adjusted EPS targets for the bonus plan were set at the beginning of the year and reflected the outlook at that time taking 
into account the Company’s plans to generate cash and pay down debt. 

The targets for the proportion of the bonus based on EPS are set out in the table below. For performance between the EPS 
targets specified, a straight–line sliding scale applies. 

Award level
(% weighted 

annual salary)  EPS

Below threshold 0%  Less than 17.6p

Target 40% 18.6p

Maximum 80% 19.6p

Actual performance 56% 19.0p

Each executive director was given a number of different personal and strategic objectives individually tailored to their role and 
the needs of the business in the year now under review. Different weightings were applied to each objective. The precise 
objectives and weightings are considered by the Company to be commercially sensitive. In summary the objectives included 
driving like-for-like net income performance, delivery of capital expenditure strategy and return on capital, execution of a 
review of the operating model and alternatives, improving publican satisfaction and employee engagement scores, managing 
regulatory risk and transition issues.

The achievements against objectives were considered carefully by the Committee and weightings given to each individual 
component. In total, payments of between 15% and 48% of salary were generated (out of a maximum of 20% of weighted 
average base salary for Simon Townsend and Neil Smith and 50% of salary for Ted Tuppen, on a prorated basis for the part of 
the year before Ted Tuppen ceased to be an employee).

The total bonuses awarded for the year (out of a maximum bonus potential of 100% of average weighted salary) were as 
follows:

Simon Townsend 71% of salary (2013: 29%)

Neil Smith 73% of salary (2013: 31%)

Ted Tuppen 83% of salary (2013: 30%)

With the agreement of the Committee, Simon Townsend and Neil Smith have elected to take 40% of the bonus as deferred 
shares and the remainder in cash. Ted Tuppen elected to take the entire award in shares and his award was prorated to the 
date of cessation on 19 May 2014.
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Deferred Share Awards
Details of the shares awarded under the bonus plan to executive directors during the year under review and previous years 
are set out in the table below. 

Name/ 
Plan year Date of grant

At 1 Oct
 2013 Granted Exercised

At 30 Sept 
2014 

Face value 
at grant 

£000 (i)

Exercisable/
holding period

From  To

Simon Townsend

2010 10/12/2010 317,508 – (317,508) – – 10/12/2013 10/06/2014

2011 12/12/2011 443,525 – – 443,525 146 12/12/2014 12/06/2015

2012 12/12/2012 243,585 – – 243,585 186 12/12/2015 12/06/2016

2013 (ii) 13/12/2013 75,182 – – 75,182 111 13/12/2016 13/06/2017

2014 (iii) 13/11/2014 –  99,032  – 99,032 123 13/11/2017 13/05/2018

Total   1,079,800 99,032 (317,508) 861,324 566    

Neil Smith

2011 12/12/2011 425,531 – – 425,531 140 12/12/2014 12/06/2015

2012 12/12/2012 97,981 – – 97,981 75 12/12/2015 12/06/2016

2013 (ii) 13/12/2013 29,719 – – 29,719 44 13/12/2016 13/06/2017

2014 (iii) 13/11/2014 –  86,404 –  86,404 107 13/11/2017 13/05/2018

Total   553,231 86,404 –  639,635  366    

Ted Tuppen (iv)

2010 10/12/2010 535,317 – (535,317) – – 10/12/2013 10/06/2014

2011 12/12/2011 739,209 – – 739,209 243 19/05/2014 12/12/2015

2012 12/12/2012 431,140 – – 431,140 329 19/05/2014 19/11/2016

2013 (ii) 13/12/2013 129,624  –  – 129,624 192 19/05/2014 19/11/2016

2014 (iii) (v) 13/11/2014 – 270,244 – 270,244 336 13/11/2014 13/06/2017

Total   1,835,290 270,244  (535,317)  1,570,217 1,100    

(i) Face value is calculated as the value of the shares on the respective date of grant of each award, except as noted in (iii) below. 

(ii) This reflects the actual number of shares granted on 12 December 2013. As explained in the 2013 Directors’ Remuneration Report, this figure was previously 
based on an estimated market value of shares. 

(iii) The share price at which the number of deferred shares granted under the bonus plan is calculated will not be confirmed until after the date of approval 
of the accounts. The number of deferred shares awarded for the 2014 financial year is therefore estimated by using the mid-market price of the shares on  
30 September 2014, being 124.4 pence. The number of shares granted along with the grant and exercise dates will therefore be revised to reflect the result 
on the actual date of grant, when an announcement will be made to shareholders. 

(iv) Upon cessation as an employee the outstanding Deferred Share Awards granted to Ted Tuppen became exercisable and the Committee agreed that the 
exercise period could be extended to 30 months so long as that was not later than the fourth anniversary of the grant, as part of retirement planning.

(v) Ted Tuppen took his whole prorated annual bonus award in shares and the full amount of the annual bonus, represented by shares, is shown here and not 
just the amount of bonus or shares attributable to the period that he was a director until 6 February 2014.

£1 in aggregate is payable on the exercise of each year’s award under the bonus plan.
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Long-Term Incentive Plan
The LTIP has been operated in its current form since 2005. Under the 2005 LTIP, two types of award could be made: 

■■ an award of ‘performance shares’, worth up to 150% of salary each year; and

■■ an award of ‘matching shares’ linked to the co–investment of up to 25% of salary in ‘investment shares’, which are then 
matched on a 2:1 basis.

Shares that count as ‘investment shares’ are: 

■■ shares subject to a Deferred Share Award under the bonus plan; and 

■■ shares acquired by participants using their cash bonus or other funds, up to a maximum of 25% of salary. 

Details of conditional awards of shares made under the LTIP during the year under review are set out in the table below. 

Name/ 
Plan year Date of grant

At 1 Oct 
2013 

Awarded 
performance 

shares 

Awarded 
matching 

shares 
Lapsed or

forfeited
At 30 Sept 

2014

Face value 
at grant (i)

£000 

Exercisable 

From To

Simon Townsend 

2010 (ii) 20/01/2011 552,252 – – (552,252) – – 20/01/2014 20/01/2017

2011 (iii) 03/01/2012 668,989 – – – 668,989 576 03/01/2015 03/01/2018

2012 (iii) 12/12/2012 754,914 – – – 754,914 576 12/12/2015 12/12/2018

2013 (iii) 13/12/2013 – 292,424 146,212 – 438,636 650 12/12/2016 12/12/2019

Total   1,976,155 292,424 146,212 (552,252) 1,862,539 1,802    

Neil Smith 

2010 (ii) 20/01/2011 503,355 – – (503,355) – – 20/01/2014 20/01/2017

2011 (iii) 03/01/2012 609,756 – – – 609,756 525 03/01/2015 03/01/2018

2012 (iii) 12/12/2012 661,230 – – – 661,230 505 12/12/2015 12/12/2018

2013 (iii) 13/12/2013 – 248,400 59,438 – 307,838 456 12/12/2016 12/12/2019

Total   1,774,341 248,400 59,438 (503,355) 1,578,824 1,486    

Ted Tuppen 

2010 (ii) 20/01/2011 920,421 – – (920,421) – – 20/01/2014 20/01/2017

2011 (iii) 03/01/2012 1,114,982 – – (247,774)(iv) 867,208 960 03/01/2015 19/11/2016

2012 (iii) 12/12/2012 1,258,190 – – (664,045)(iv) 594,145 960 12/12/2015 19/11/2016

Total   3,293,593 – – (1,832,240) 1,461,353 1,920    

(i) The 2010, 2012 and 2013 LTIP awards are based on a policy of using a five day average share price (following the date of the announcement of the results 
for that year) to determine the number of shares comprising the LTIP award. This was 148.1 pence for the awards granted in December 2013, 76.3 pence for 
those granted in December 2012 and 104.3 pence for 2010. The 2011 LTIP award is based on a notional share price of 86.1 pence.

(ii) Plan Year 2010 – The performance condition applying to the 2010 awards was based solely on relative TSR performance, which compared the Company’s TSR 
performance over the three year period commencing on the date of grant with the TSR of the FTSE 250 (as at the date of grant) as follows: 

Company’s TSR ranking v the FTSE 250  
over the three year performance period 

Percentage of performance share award 
that vests

Level of matching share award 
(matching award shares: investment 

shares)

Below median 0% 0:1

Median 20% 0.4:1

Upper quintile 100% 2:1

The performance period for this award ended on 19 January 2014. The Company’s TSR performance was below median, therefore the awards lapsed. 
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(iii) Plan Years 2011, 2012 and 2013 – The performance conditions applying to these awards are solely based on relative TSR performance, which compares the 
Company’s TSR performance over the three year period commencing on the date of grant with the TSR of the FTSE 250 (as at the date of grant) as follows: 

Company’s TSR ranking v the FTSE 250  
over the three year performance period 

Percentage of performance share  
award that vests

Level of matching share award  
(matching award shares: investment shares)

Below median 0% 0:1

Median 0% 0:1

Upper quintile 100% 2:1

Straight-line vesting will occur if the Company’s TSR ranking is between the median and upper quintile. As with previous LTIP awards, vesting occurs in three 
equal tranches on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the grant. In addition, irrespective of the Company’s TSR performance, awards will only vest if the 
Committee is satisfied that the TSR result is reflective of the Company’s underlying financial performance over the relevant period. 

(iv) Ted Tuppen ceased to be an employee on 19 May 2014 before the performance period had ended and as he was retiring the Committee applied good leaver 
treatment under the plan rules and the potential award of shares has been reduced on a pro rata basis to reflect the number of months between the grant 
and the date of cessation being 28/36 for the 2011 award and 17/36 for the 2012 award. As disclosed in the prior year no LTIP award was made to Ted Tuppen 
in his retirement year. As part of retirement planning the exercise period was extended to 30 months from cessation.

£1 in aggregate is payable on the exercise of each year’s LTIP award.

Directors’ share options 
No options under the executive share option scheme have been granted to any of the executive directors in the current or 
prior year. Options granted under the Company’s SAYE scheme are shown in the table below. There are no performance 
conditions restricting the exercise of options held under this scheme (reflecting the relevant legislation). 

Name 

Exercise 
price 

p
At 1 Oct

2013 Exercised Lapsed Granted
At 30 Sept

2014(i)

Simon Townsend 24.2 61,983 – – – 61,983

Neil Smith 24.2 61,983 – – – 61,983

Ted Tuppen (ii) 24.2 61,983 – (26,860)(ii) – 35,123

(i) Exercise period from 1 February 2017 to 1 August 2017. 

(ii) Ted Tuppen retired as a director in February 2014 and ceased to be an employee on 19 May 2014. As a good leaver the potential award under the SAYE 
scheme has been reduced on a pro rata basis.

The highest and lowest mid-market prices of the Company’s shares during the year under review were 168.1 pence and 114.0 
pence respectively. The mid-market price of the Company’s shares at 30 September 2014 was 124.4 pence. 

Share Incentive Plan (SIP)
During the year under review, Simon Townsend and Ted Tuppen each purchased 1,094 shares under the SIP at 137.0 pence per 
share (2013: 1,542 each at a price of 97.3 pence per share), in addition to shares held by them at 1 October 2013 in the SIP. 
These shares were matched by the Company on a 2:1 basis conditional upon the directors’ continued employment. The face 
value of the shares awarded under the matching arrangement was £3,000 (2013: £3,000). Ted Tuppen retired and was able 
to keep the matching shares, and any prior years’ matching share awards, which had not already been held for three years. 
Details of the total partnership and matching shares held under the SIP are included in the table of directors’ interests below. 

Dilution limits
Whilst the Company has authority and retains discretion to issue new shares and/or treasury shares under its employees’ 
share plans, since 1 October 2004 the Company’s policy has been to satisfy all awards and options granted under the 
Company’s executive share schemes and all-employee share incentive plans using existing shares purchased in the market 
by the Trustees of the Company’s Employee Benefit Trust (the Trust). At 30 September 2014 no new shares or treasury shares 
have been issued to satisfy awards or options granted in the previous ten years under any of the Company’s employee share 
incentive plans and, as at 30 September 2014, the total number of shares held in the Trust was 4,645,712 equivalent to 0.92% 
of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company, excluding treasury shares.
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Directors’ share interests 
Since 2011 share ownership guidelines have existed for the executive directors which require them to build up and retain a 
holding of shares equal in value to their base salaries. Executives are expected to build up the required shareholding by the 
later of: (i) the fifth anniversary of the introduction of the guidelines in 2011; and (ii) the fifth anniversary of them joining the 
Board; and they are required to retain 50% of the net of tax vested awards under the LTIP and/or Deferred Share Awards until 
the guidelines are met. The directors either already hold the required shareholdings under the guidelines or are not yet at the 
anniversary dates for them to do so.

The interests of the directors who held office during the period from 1 October 2013 to 30 September 2014 in the ordinary 
shares of the Company are as set out in the table below: 

As at 30 September 2014 As at 1 October 2013

Beneficial(i) Conditional Beneficial(i) Conditional

Director LTIP(ii)
Deferred 

shares(iii) LTIP(ii)
Deferred 

shares(iii)

Simon Townsend 721,291 1,862,539 861,324 546,555 1,976,155 1,079,800

Neil Smith 25,000 1,578,824 639,635 25,000 1,774,341 553,231

Robert Walker 275,000 – – 275,000 – –

David Maloney 25,000 – – 25,000 – –

Peter Baguley – – – – – –

Adam Fowle – – – – – –

Ted Tuppen (iv) 3,499,716 1,461,353 1,570,217 3,496,434 3,293,593 1,835,290

Susan Murray (iv) 4,000 – – 4,000 – –

(i) Beneficial share interests include partnership and matching shares held under the SIP of 35,816 shares each for Simon Townsend and Ted Tuppen at  
30 September 2014 (2013: 32,534 shares each).

(ii) Full details of LTIP awards, including performance conditions and exercise periods, are set out in the table on pages 59 and 60.

(iii) Full details of Deferred Share Awards, including exercise periods, are set out in the table on page 58. The calculation of the deferred shares awarded for 2014 
is estimated by using the mid-market price of the shares on 30 September 2014, being 124.4 pence. The number of shares granted, along with the exercise 
dates will therefore be revisited to reflect the result on the actual date of grant, when an announcement will be made to shareholders. The 2013 disclosure 
above has been similarly adjusted.

(iv) Disclosure relating to beneficial holdings of Ted Tuppen and Susan Murray is provided as at the date of cessation of employment and as at the date of 
retirement from the board respectively.

In respect of directors serving at 30 September 2014, save for contributions to the SAYE scheme, there have been no other 
changes in share interests from 30 September 2014 to the date of this report.

The directors are not permitted to hold their shares in hedging arrangements or as collateral for loans without the express 
permission of the Board. None of the directors currently holds their shares in such an arrangement. 
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The following information has not been subject to audit:
Percentage change in the remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer 

2014
£000

2013
£000 % change

Chief Executive Officer 

– salary 523 640 (18.3)

– benefits 28 29 (3.4)

– bonus 398 192 107.3

Average per employee 

– salary 41.2 40.3 2.2

– benefits 3.8 3.6 5.6

– bonus 5.9 2.8 110.7

The table above shows the movement in the remuneration for the CEO between the current and previous financial year 
compared with movement of the average remuneration (per head) for all Group employees. 

This table is calculated on the basis of the salary, benefits and bonus of Ted Tuppen for the period while he was CEO until  
6 February 2014 (as outlined in the single figure total table on page 56) and for Simon Townsend his prorated salary from  
6 February 2014 being £299,000, benefits being £18,000 and bonus being £212,000 (which are all attributable to the period 
he was CEO to 30 September 2014).

Relative importance of the spend on pay
The table below shows the relative importance of the spend on pay (for all employees) compared with the returns distributed 
to shareholders:

2014
£m

2013
£m % change

Remuneration paid to or receivable by all employees 29 26 12

Distributions to shareholders by way of dividends and share buybacks – – –
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Historical comparative TSR performance graph 
The graph below shows the TSR, in terms of change in value (with dividends re-invested) of an initial investment of £100 on 
1 October 2008 in a holding of the Company’s shares against the corresponding TSR in a hypothetical holding of shares in 
the companies represented in the FTSE 250 index. The FTSE 250 index was selected as it represents a broad equity market 
index in which the Company has been a constituent member for the majority of the six year period. 

Total Shareholder Return
Souce: Datastream

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

240

30  Sept  1430 Sept 1330 Sept 1230 Sept 1130 Sept  1030 Sept 091 Oct  08

Va
lu

e
 (£

)

Enterprise Inns plc

FTSE 250

The graph shows the value at 30 September 2014 of £100 invested in the Company’s shares on 1 October 2008 compared 
with the value of £100 notionally invested in the FTSE 250 index. The other points plotted are the values at intervening 
financial year ends.

Chief Executive Officer remuneration

Year ended 30 September

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Total remuneration £000 972 1,386 1,073 1,159 1,024 1,084

Annual bonus (%)* 18% 87% 38% 51% 30% 76%

LTIP vesting (%)* 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

* Percentage of the maximum award (for LTIP, this includes matching shares).

The table above shows the total remuneration figure for the CEO during each of those financial years. The total remuneration 
figure includes the annual bonus, matching shares awarded in relation to the SIP and LTIP awards (performance and matching) 
which vested based on performance in those years.

This table is calculated on the basis of the salary, benefits, pension, bonus and SIP of Ted Tuppen for the period while he was 
CEO until 6 February 2014 (as outlined in the single figure total table on page 56) and for Simon Townsend his prorated salary 
from 6 February 2014 being £299,000, benefits being £18,000, pension being £75,000 and bonus being £212,000 (which are 
all attributable to the period he was CEO from 6 February 2014).
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Service contracts
A summary of the service contracts and letters of appointments for the directors is set out below:

Executive director Date of agreement Effective date Notice period

Simon Townsend 31 October 2000 1 October 2000 12 months

Neil Smith 8 October 2010 1 January 2011 12 months

Non-executive director Date of appointment Expiry date

Robert Walker 9 February 2012 Terminable on 6 months’ notice

David Maloney 10 July 2008 Terminable on 6 months’ notice

Peter Baguley 31 January 2013 Terminable on 6 months’ notice

Adam Fowle 6 February 2014 Terminable on 6 months’ notice

External appointments 
The executive directors may accept outside appointments provided that such appointments do not in any way prejudice their 
ability to perform their duties as executive directors of the Company. The extent to which any executive director is allowed 
to retain any fees payable in respect of such outside appointments, or whether such fees are remitted to the Company, will 
be assessed on a case-by-case basis. None of the executive directors held any such appointments in the year under review 
(2013: none).

Shareholder vote 
The Committee encourages dialogue with the Company’s shareholders and will endeavour to consult with major shareholders 
ahead of any significant future changes to the remuneration policy. 

Details of the votes cast in relation to the remuneration report and remuneration policy at last year’s AGM are set out below:

Remuneration Report 2014 AGM % 

Votes cast in favour 237,648,910 99.29

Votes cast against 1,693,307 0.71

Total 239,342,217

Votes withheld 2,489,909

Remuneration Policy 2014 AGM % 

Votes cast in favour 235,117,668 99.84

Votes cast against 372,300 0.16

Total 235,489,968

Votes withheld 6,341,858
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Application of the policy for 2015
Base salaries and fees
At the date of this report the Committee has not reviewed the salaries for the executive directors which take effect on  
1 January 2015. 

There are no changes proposed to the fees for the Chairman and non-executive directors. The fee policy is as set out on  
page 55.

The two all-employee share plans, SAYE and SIP, will be considered on an annual basis and may be offered in any year subject 
to the limits permitted under the relevant legislation.

Annual bonus 2015
The bonus plan for the 2015 financial year will remain largely unchanged from the 2014 financial year. The normal maximum 
bonus opportunity for all executive directors continues to be 100% of salary: 80% of the award will be subject to a sliding 
scale of adjusted basic EPS targets and 20% will be subject to personal and strategic targets. The Committee considers 
that the forward looking EPS targets and the strategic targets are commercially sensitive and has therefore chosen not to 
disclose them in advance. The strategic measures are focused on three to four lead indicators of performance. Details of 
the EPS targets will be set out retrospectively in next year’s Annual Report on Remuneration along with an overview of the 
personal and strategic measures. However, the targets are considered to be demanding in the context of the Company’s 
circumstances. 

LTIP awards 2015
Subject to shareholder approval at the 2015 AGM, the 2015 awards will be granted under the 2015 LTIP following the AGM.

Recognising that no further matching share awards are to be granted under the co-investment element of the 2005 LTIP, which 
provided for a maximum opportunity of 50% of salary, the Committee intends to grant awards of 125% of salary to the CEO 
and CFO under the 2015 LTIP, thus ensuring that the overall expected value of the variable remuneration package is retained. 

It is intended that the performance measures for the 2015 LTIP awards be a combination of relative TSR and ROCE: 

■■ Relative TSR – currently used under the 2005 LTIP, this is well understood by all stakeholders and aligns clearly 
management’s objectives with those of shareholders. Relative TSR is a broad measure of the extent to which our strategy 
is considered appropriate by the market as well as the extent to which it is being well-implemented. Targets will be set 
based on a “point to point” measurement, by comparing the three month average TSR ending on the first/last day of the 
performance period.

■■ ROCE – a key driver of shareholder value and which reflects Enterprise’s planned further enhancement of a quality 
estate. The introduction of ROCE alongside relative TSR therefore fully supports strategy. In our view, this is a critical and 
challenging objective in the context of declining returns over many years in the pub sector as a whole. 

The vesting schedule proposed is as follows:

% linked to award
Threshold vesting 
25% of the award

Maximum vesting 
100% of the award

Relative TSR against the FTSE 250 (excluding 
investment trusts) 70% Median performance Upper quartile performance

ROCE (average ROCE for the three years of the 
performance period) 30% Budget +0.25% Budget +1%

There will be straight line vesting between the points and no reward below threshold performance. 
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As with the 2005 LTIP, TSR has been set against a comparator group of the FTSE 250 as the Remuneration Committee 
recognises that a bespoke pool of competitors is small and could produce results which do not reflect Enterprise’s 
performance. We therefore believe that a wider comparator group is a more robust and realistic way of measuring how 
shareholders value the Company. The Committee considers that disclosing the forward looking three year ROCE budget is 
commercially sensitive and has therefore chosen not to disclose it in advance. 

In addition, to the TSR and ROCE targets, the Remuneration Committee will require that awards will only be earned if 
underlying financial performance supports it. 

The weightings for each measure have been set to balance what the Remuneration Committee considers to be the focus for 
management in its day to day direction of the business with its ultimate responsibility to shareholders.

Under the 2005 LTIP, performance is measured over three years; however, awards vest after three, four and five years in equal 
tranches. This deferral structure is being retained under the proposed 2015 LTIP in order to continue to align executive and 
shareholder interests. 

Approval 
This Directors’ Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors of the Company. 

Signed on behalf of the Board 

P J Baguley 
Chairman, Remuneration Committee 
17 November 2014
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Relation 
to the Group and Company Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the directors have prepared the Group and Company financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU. Under company law the directors must not 
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, 
the directors are required to:

■■ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

■■ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

■■ state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the EU have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 
explained in the financial statements; and 

■■ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
and the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the 
Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the 
Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report (including the Governance Report), Directors’ 
Remuneration Report in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable regulations, including the Listing Rules and 
the Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the directors, whose names and functions are disclosed on page 31, confirms that, to the best of their knowledge:

■■ the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and result of the Group; and 

■■ the Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the 
Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces. 

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report in accordance with applicable law and regulations. Having 
taken advice from the Audit Committee, the Board considers the report and accounts, taken as a whole, to be fair, balanced 
and understandable and that it provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, 
business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

W S Townsend 
Chief Executive Officer 
17 November 2014

N R Smith 
Chief Financial Officer 
17 November 2014
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Group Income Statement
for the year ended 30 September 2014

2014 2013

Notes

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

(see note 6)
£m

Total
£m

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

(see note 6)
£m

Total
£m

Revenue 4 632 – 632 639 – 639 

Cost of sales 5 (294) – (294) (294) – (294)

Gross profit 338 – 338 345 – 345 

Administrative expenses (36) (13) (49) (32) (2) (34)

EBITDA† 302 (13) 289 313 (2) 311 

Depreciation and amortisation (16) – (16) (15) – (15)

Operating profit/(loss) 7 286 (13) 273 298 (2) 296 

Profit on sale of property, plant and 
equipment – 12 12 – 21 21 

Goodwill allocated to disposals – (7) (7) – (14) (14)

Net profit on sale of property, plant 
and equipment 9 – 5 5 – 7 7 

Movements in valuation of pub estate 
and related assets 10 – (75) (75) – (165) (165)

Total finance costs (165) (2) (167) (177) (4) (181)

Gain on purchase of own debt – – – – 1 1 

Net finance costs 12 (165) (2) (167) (177) (3) (180)

Profit/(loss) before tax 121 (85) 36 121 (163) (42)

Taxation 13 (26) 20 (6) (26) 64 38 

Profit/(loss) after tax attributable to 
members of the Parent Company 95 (65) 30 95 (99) (4)

Earnings per share 14

Basic 5.9p (0.8)p

Basic diluted 6.1p (0.8)p

Adjusted * 19.0p 19.0p

Adjusted diluted * 17.8p 19.0p

† Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

* Excludes exceptional items
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Statements of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 September 2014

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Profit/(loss) for the year 30 (4) 86 79 

Items that will not be reclassified to the Income Statement:

Unrealised deficit on revaluation of pub estate (33) (55) (22) (13)

Movement in deferred tax liability related to revaluation of pub estate 7 10 1 (2)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale (5) (28) (6) (25)

Remeasurement of defined benefit pension scheme (1) – (1) –

Restatement of deferred tax liability related to revaluation of pub estate for 
change in UK tax rate – 30 – 17 

Other comprehensive loss for the year net of tax (32) (43) (28) (23)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year attributable to  
members of the Parent Company (2) (47) 58 56
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Balance Sheets
at 30 September 2014 

Group Company

Notes
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

Non-current assets

Goodwill 15 338 345 – –

Intangible assets: operating lease premiums 16 10 11 4 4 

Property, plant and equipment 17 3,834 3,947 1,965 2,023 

Investments 18 – – 1,834 1,834 

Financial assets 24 – – 182 150 

4,182 4,303 3,985 4,011 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 20 39 48 571 524 

Cash 123 144 35 39 

162 192 606 563 

Non-current assets held for sale 21 30 39 13 30 

Total assets 4,374 4,534 4,604 4,604 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 22 (179) (182) (496) (504)

Current tax payable 23 (12) (10) (14) (13)

Financial liabilities 24 (109) (129) (38) (60)

Provisions 27 – (7) – –

Pension 29 (3) – (3) –

(303) (328) (551) (577)

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 24 (2,418) (2,536) (1,242) (1,274)

Provisions 27 (4) (4) (4) (3)

Current tax payable in more than one year 23 (2) – (2) –

Deferred tax 28 (237) (264) (119) (132)

Pension 29 (7) – (7) –

(2,668) (2,804) (1,374) (1,409)

Total liabilities (2,971) (3,132) (1,925) (1,986)

Net assets 1,403 1,402 2,679 2,618 

Equity

Called up share capital 30 14 14 14 14 

Share premium account 32 486 486 486 486 

Revaluation reserve 32 723 754 433 462 

Capital redemption reserve 32 11 11 11 11 

Merger reserve 32 77 77 – –

Treasury share reserve 32 (227) (227) (227) (227)

Other reserve 32 8 2 382 376 

Profit and loss account 311 285 1,580 1,496 

Total equity 1,403 1,402 2,679 2,618

Total equity is wholly attributable to the owners of the Parent Company.

Approved by the Board on 17 November 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

W S Townsend

N R Smith

70 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI

70 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

Statements of Changes in Equity
at 30 September 2014

Group

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Revalua-
tion 

reserve 
£m

Capital 
redemp-

tion 
reserve 

£m

Merger 
reserve

£m

Treasury 
share 

reserve 
£m 

Other 
reserve 

£m

Profit 
and loss 
account 

£m 
Total

£m

At 1 October 2012 14 486 807 11 77 (227) (20) 277 1,425 

Loss for the year – – – – – – – (4) (4)

Other comprehensive loss – – (43) – – – – – (43)

Total comprehensive loss – – (43) – – – – (4) (47)

Transfer of realised revaluation 
surplus – – (16) – – – – 16 –

Transfer of deferred tax – – 6 – – – – (6) –

Transfer of shares from Employee 
Benefit Trust to Share Incentive Plan – – – – – – 1 (1) –

Share-based expense recognised in 
operating profit – – – – – – – 2 2 

Deferred tax in relation to share 
options – – – – – – – 1 1 

Equity element of convertible bond 
issue – – – – – – 22 – 22 

Equity element of financing costs 
paid on issue of convertible bond – – – – – – (1) – (1)

At 30 September 2013 14 486 754 11 77 (227) 2 285 1,402 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 30 30 

Other comprehensive loss – – (31) – – – – (1) (32)

Total comprehensive loss – – (31) – – – – 29 (2)

Transfer of realised revaluation 
surplus – – (6) – – – – 6 –

Transfer of deferred tax – – 6 – – – – (6) –

Share-based expense recognised in 
operating profit – – – – – – – 2 2 

Share option entitlements exercised 
in the year – – – – – – 6 (5) 1 

At 30 September 2014 14 486 723 11 77 (227) 8 311 1,403
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Statements of Changes in Equity
at 30 September 2014

Company

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 
account 

£m

Revalua-
tion 

reserve 
£m

Capital 
redemp-

tion 
reserve 

£m

Merger 
reserve

£m

Treasury 
share 

reserve 
£m 

Other 
reserve 

£m

Profit 
and loss 
account 

£m 
Total

£m

At 1 October 2012 14 486 499 11 – (227) 390 1,365 2,538 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 79 79 

Other comprehensive loss – – (23) – – – – – (23)

Total comprehensive income – – (23) – – – – 79 56 

Transfer of realised revaluation 
surplus – – (18) – – – – 18 –

Transfer of deferred tax – – 4 – – – – (4) –

Transfer of shares from Employee 
Benefit Trust to Share Incentive Plan – – – – – – 1 (1) –

Share-based expense recognised in 
operating profit – – – – – – – 2 2 

Deferred tax in relation to share 
options – – – – – – – 1 1 

Equity element of intercompany loan 
(net of costs) – – – – – – 21 – 21 

Reclassification (see note 32) – – – – – – (36) 36 –

At 30 September 2013 14 486 462 11 – (227) 376 1,496 2,618 

Profit for the year – – – – – – – 86 86 

Other comprehensive loss – – (27) – – – – (1) (28)

Total comprehensive income – – (27) – – – – 85 58 

Transfer of realised revaluation 
surplus – – (3) – – – – 3 –

Transfer of deferred tax – – 1 – – – – (1) –

Share-based expense recognised in 
operating profit – – – – – – – 2 2 

Share option entitlements exercised 
in the year – – – – – – 6 (5) 1 

At 30 September 2014 14 486 433 11 – (227) 382 1,580 2,679 
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Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 30 September 2014

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit 273 296 144 163 

Depreciation and amortisation 16 15 9 9 

Share-based expense recognised in profit 2 2 2 2 

Pension settlement charge recognised in profit 10 – 10 –

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 9 6 (47) (23)

Decrease in payables (4) (5) (13) (19)

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (7) 1 – –

Decrease in current assets held for sale – 3 – 2 

299 318 105 134 

Tax paid (21) (27) (19) (21)

Net cash flows from operating activities 278 291 86 113 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments made on improvements to public houses (64) (60) (33) (30)

Payments to acquire other property, plant and equipment (2) (2) (2) (2)

Receipts from sale of property, plant and equipment 73 150 47 125 

Payments to acquire investments – – – (1)

Dividend from trading investment – – 43 65 

Net cash flows from investing activities 7 88 55 157 

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid (167) (183) (86) (97)

Interest received – 1 – –

Receipts from exercise of share options 1 – 1 –

Repayment of finance lease creditors (1) – – –

Issue costs of long-term loans – (2) – (2)

Payments to acquire own debt (10) (8) – –

Proceeds from issue of convertible bond – 97 – –

New loans 140 110 140 207 

Repayment of loans (269) (375) (200) (364)

Net cash flows from financing activities (306) (360) (145) (256)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash (21) 19 (4) 14 

Cash at start of year 144 125 39 25 

Cash at end of year 123 144 35 39 
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

1. General information
The consolidated financial statements of Enterprise Inns plc for the year ended 30 September 2014 were authorised for 
issue by the Board on 17 November 2014. Enterprise Inns plc is a public limited company incorporated and registered in 
England. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange.

2. Presentation of Financial Statements
Statement of compliance

These financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU).

Basis of preparation

The financial information for the year ended 30 September 2014 has been prepared in accordance with the accounting 
policies set out in note 3 and are presented in pounds sterling. Amounts are shown in millions, unless stated otherwise.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of Enterprise Inns plc and its subsidiaries. 
Consolidated financial statements are drawn up to 30 September each year and adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries where necessary to bring the accounting policies used in line with those used by  
the Group.

Result of the Parent Company

The directors have taken advantage of the exemption provided under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to 
publish the Parent Company individual Income Statement and related notes.

Going concern 

The Group’s business activities, including a description of its financial position, cash flows, debt and borrowing facilities, 
are set out in the Strategic Report on the inside front cover and then pages 02 to 25, along with a summary of factors 
likely to affect the Group’s future development and performance.

Further details on the Group’s financial instruments and risks can be found in note 24 of the accounts on pages  
100 to 108.

The directors have made enquiries into the adequacy of the Parent Company and Group’s financial resources, including 
a review of the budgets and medium-term financial plans, which includes a review of cash flow forecasts, financial 
covenant calculations and the ability to meet any refinancing requirements, and have a reasonable expectation that the 
Parent Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For 
this reason the directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Exceptional items

The Group has elected to classify certain items as exceptional and present them separately on the face of the Income 
Statement. Exceptional items are classified as those which are separately identified by virtue of their size or nature to 
allow a full understanding of the underlying performance of the Group.

Exceptional items are explained further in notes 3, 6, 9, 10, 12 and 13.

New standards and interpretations adopted

During the year the Group and the Parent Company have adopted the following new standards, interpretations and 
amendments:

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

 ■ IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

 ■ Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements – Clarification of the requirements for comparative 
information

 ■ IAS 19: Employee Benefits (revised)

 ■ Amendments to IAS 34: Interim Financial Reporting – Clarifying interim reporting and segment information for total 
assets

 ■ Amendments to IAS 36: Impairment of Assets – Recoverable amount disclosures for non-financial assets
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2. Presentation of Financial Statements (continued)
IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement is applicable for the first time for the year ending 30 September 2014 and on a 
prospective basis only. Under IFRS 13, the Group is required to assess the value of its licensed land and buildings on 
the basis of the highest and best use on which that asset could be realised, such a use being physically possible, legally 
permissible and financially feasible. For those assets held as part of the Group’s on-going estate, the directors consider 
that the highest and best use basis of valuation continues to predominantly be as a public house principally due to the 
legal restrictions imposed by the agreement with the publican, planning regulations and the financial implications of a 
change of use given those restrictions and the Group’s business model. When the necessary requirements have been 
met in respect of assets identified for disposal and revalued immediately prior to transfer to non-current assets held for 
sale, the highest and best use for a market participant may reflect an alternative use for the asset.

The adoption of IFRS 13 has not had a material impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements of the 
Group however there are significant additional disclosure requirements. For further information regarding the impact of 
adoption of this standard please see note 17. 

The adoption of IAS 19 (revised) has not had a material impact on the amounts recorded in the financial statements 
of the Group in the current or the prior year, but has resulted in minor changes to disclosures made in relation to the 
pension (see note 29).

The adoption of the remaining standards outlined above has not had a material impact on the financial statements.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

As at 30 September 2014 there are a number of standards, amendments and interpretations in issue (some of which 
have not yet been adopted by the EU) with an effective date for financial years beginning on or after the dates disclosed 
below and which have not been early adopted by the Parent Company or Group. 

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transition to IFRS 9 1 January 2015

 ■ IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2018

 ■ Amendment to IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements – Investment Entities  
(Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27) 1 January 2014

 ■ IFRS 15: Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2017

 ■ Amendments to IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation – Offsetting financial assets  
and financial liabilities 1 January 2014

 ■ IAS 27: Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2016

IFRS 15 should be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The standard should be 
applied in full for the year of adoption, including retrospective application to all contracts that were not yet complete at 
the beginning of that period. Implementation of this standard may have an impact on the financial statements of the 
Group and Parent Company and an assessment of the impact of this standard is being carried out. The Group and Parent 
Company are presently unable to quantify the potential impact until this assessment has been concluded.

The other new standards and amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

3. Accounting policies
Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of consideration over the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in 
a business combination. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently where 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Goodwill is stated at cost less any 
impairment. On disposal of a pub, an attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of profit or loss 
on sale. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 October 1998 was written off against reserves and has not been subsequently 
reversed. Any such goodwill is not included in determining the profit or loss on disposal. 
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

3. Accounting policies (continued)
Fixed asset investments

Fixed asset investments in the Parent Company Balance Sheet are initially recognised at fair value and then held at this 
value subject to an annual impairment test.

Property, plant and equipment

Licensed land and buildings, comprising of pub assets and non-pub assets, are held at their fair value and landlord’s 
fixtures and fittings and other assets are held at cost. 

‘Pub’ refers to land and buildings held for operation either internally or externally as a licensed public house, excluding 
movable landlord’s fixtures and fittings. ‘Non-pub’ refers to land and buildings previously held as a pub but that are no 
longer trading as a licensed property and are instead leased for another use e.g. as a convenience store.

The Group’s licensed land and buildings, except for those non-current assets held for sale, are revalued each year by 
external valuers or employees who are professionally qualified to carry out such valuations.

Surpluses arising from the revaluation exercise are taken through Other Comprehensive Income to the revaluation reserve 
except where they reverse a revaluation decrease relating to the same asset previously recognised as an expense in the 
Income Statement. Any deficit arising from the revaluation exercise is taken through Other Comprehensive Income to 
the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a surplus in place relating to the same asset. Any further decrease in 
value is recognised in the Income Statement as an expense.

Freehold land is not depreciated. Freehold buildings are depreciated so as to write off the difference between their 
carrying value and residual value over their useful economic life of 50 years. Residual value is reviewed at least at each 
financial year end and there is no depreciable amount if residual value is the same as, or exceeds, book value.

Landlord’s fixtures and fittings are split into two categories, long life landlord’s fixtures and fittings and short life landlord’s 
fixtures and fittings. Both are held at cost less accumulated depreciation. The useful economic life of additions in the 
form of long life landlord’s fixtures and fittings has been calculated at 30 years and short life landlord’s fixtures and fittings 
has been calculated at 5 years. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis to write off the total cost less residual 
value over their useful economic life. 

Properties held under finance leases are depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the remaining lease term 
and their useful economic life of 50 years. 

Depreciation is provided on other categories of property, plant and equipment over 3 to 50 years on a straight line basis 
to residual value.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually for indications of impairment. Where any indications are identified, 
assets are assessed fully for impairment. Impairment occurs where the recoverable amount of the asset is less than 
its carrying amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Any 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent that a surplus exists for the same asset, and thereafter 
as an expense in the Income Statement. 

Non-current assets held for sale

Pubs identified for disposal which are classified in the Balance Sheet as non-current assets held for sale are held at the 
lower of carrying value on transfer to non-current assets held for sale, as assessed at the time of transfer, and fair value 
less costs to sell. The fair value less costs to sell is based on the net estimated realisable disposal proceeds (ERV) which 
are provided by third party property agents who have been engaged to sell the properties. Licensed land and buildings 
and operating lease intangibles are classified as held for sale when they have been identified for disposal by the Group. 
They must be available for immediate sale in their present condition and the sale should be highly probable. These 
conditions are met when management are committed to the sale, the pub or lease is actively marketed and the sale 
is expected to occur within one year. Licensed land and buildings held for sale are not depreciated and operating lease 
intangible assets held for sale are not amortised. 

Profits or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are calculated as the difference between the net sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset within non-current assets held for sale at the date of disposal. 
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3. Accounting policies (continued)
Leases

Leases where the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 
Pubs acquired under finance leases are capitalised at the lower of their fair value and the present value of future minimum 
lease payments. The corresponding liability is included in the Balance Sheet as a finance lease payable. Pubs held under 
finance leases are revalued along with the freehold estate on an annual basis. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to obtain a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. Finance charges are taken as an expense to the Income Statement. 

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Rentals paid under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis to the Income Statement over the 
lease term. The fair value attributed to pubs acquired as part of business combinations that are held as operating leases 
are classified in the Balance Sheet as intangible assets: operating lease premiums within non-current assets and are 
amortised over the lease term. 

The Group enters into sale and leaseback transactions where licensed land and buildings have been sold and the Group 
has immediately entered into a lease agreement with the acquiree. These land and buildings have been classified as 
operating leases. They are no longer included within property, plant and equipment and the rentals paid are charged on 
a straight line basis to the Income Statement over the lease term.

Repairs and maintenance

Repairs and maintenance expenditure is charged to the Income Statement as incurred. 

Financial instruments

a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand. Any short-term deposits with an original maturity date of three months or less 
are classified as cash equivalents. 

b) Borrowings

Borrowings which include bank borrowings, corporate bonds and securitised bonds are measured at amortised cost. 
This method is used to ensure that the interest charge associated with the debt, combined with the amortisation of 
the issue costs, premiums and discounts, represents a constant percentage of the borrowings across the life of the 
instrument based on the estimated cash flows and the contractual terms of the agreement. 

When borrowings are refinanced the Group reviews whether the arrangement constitutes an extinguishment of the 
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability or a modification of the terms of the existing 
financial liability. If the refinanced borrowings are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability 
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment and written off through 
exceptional finance costs. If the refinanced borrowings are accounted for as a modification any costs or fees incurred 
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining life of the modified loan.

c) Convertible financial instruments

The gross proceeds received from the issue of a convertible bond are split between a liability element and an equity 
component at the date of issue. The fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest 
rate for similar non-convertible debt. The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible bond and the fair 
value assigned to the liability component, representing any embedded option to convert the liability into equity of the 
Group, is included in equity and is not remeasured. The liability component is carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method until extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. Issue costs are apportioned 
between the liability and equity components of the convertible bond based on their relative carrying amounts at the date 
of issue. The portion relating to the equity component is charged directly against equity.

The difference between the interest expense calculated under the effective interest rate method and interest paid to 
bondholders is added to the carrying amount of the convertible bond.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

3. Accounting policies (continued)

d) Equity instruments

Equity instruments, being ordinary shares issued by the Parent Company, are recorded at the fair value of the proceeds 
received, net of any direct issue costs. The nominal value of shares issued is recorded in called up share capital and the 
balance of the net proceeds is recorded in share premium. 

e) Trade receivables and trade payables

Trade receivables and trade payables are held at amortised cost.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures licensed land and buildings, within property, plant and equipment and non-current assets held for 
sale, at fair value and provides disclosure information in respect of the financial assets and liabilities.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that 
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability 
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the 
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use provided that use was physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible 
to access. The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

IFRS 13 requires that all assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to 
the fair value measurement as a whole:

The classification uses the following three-level hierarchy:

Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Other techniques whereby the inputs are either directly or indirectly derived from market data.

Level 3 – Inputs used in the valuation are not based on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Net debt

Net debt is the total book value of all financial assets and liabilities (not including trade receivables, trade payables and the 
equity component of the convertible bond) less cash. Underlying net debt is the nominal value of all financial assets and 
liabilities (not including trade receivables and trade payables and the equity component of the convertible bond) less cash.

78 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI

78 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

3. Accounting policies (continued)
Taxation

The tax expense comprises both the tax payable based on taxable profits for the year and deferred tax. Deferred tax 
is provided using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences between the carrying value of 
assets and liabilities for accounting and tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. No deferred tax is recognised if the 
taxable temporary difference arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and the intention is to either settle on a net basis or realise the asset and liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the assets and 
liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority which are intended to be settled net or simultaneously. 

Tax is charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income if it relates to items that are charged or credited to Other 
Comprehensive Income. Similarly tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items charged or credited 
directly to equity. Otherwise tax is charged in the Income Statement. Tax is calculated using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the Balance Sheet date.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 
estimated. If the effect is material, the amount of the provision is discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The amount of the provision would 
therefore represent the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation. 

Pension obligations

The Group has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension arrangements. 

The cost of defined contribution payments made to employees’ own pension plans is charged to the Income Statement 
as incurred. 

As described in note 29, the Group has entered into a bulk annuity policy that is a qualifying insurance policy in respect of 
the defined benefit section of the pension scheme. Prior to entering into the bulk annuity policy, in respect of the defined 
benefit pension scheme the amount recognised in the Balance Sheet comprises the difference between the present 
value of the scheme’s liabilities and the fair value of the scheme’s assets determined by qualified actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. Current service cost and past service cost are charged to operating profit. The financing 
charge is determined by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation to both the scheme 
liabilities and plan assets, and is recognised within net finance costs. Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised 
in full in the period in which they occur in Other Comprehensive Income. Settlements are recognised in the Income 
Statement in the period when the Group has committed to the settlement.

Having entered into the bulk annuity policy, the scheme liabilities continue to be valued on the projected unit credit 
method. The value of the annuity policy is stated as equal to the amount ascribed to the plan liabilities covered by 
the policy. Actuarial movements in the value of the schemes liabilities and the interest costs on scheme liabilities are 
matched by equivalent movements in the scheme asset. To the extent that the Group is committed to deferred premiums 
or future administration costs in respect of the annuity policy or the scheme these are recorded as an additional liability 
within the pension deficit at the net present value of future premiums. The unwind of the discount in this liability is 
charged as a finance cost. The plan obligations will be derecognised on final settlement of the plan.

As discussed in the judgements on page 82, the difference between the cost of the bulk annuity policy and the related 
plan obligations is in effect part of a settlement process and is reported in the Income Statement within exceptional 
administration expenses.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

3. Accounting policies (continued)
Treasury shares

The cost of own shares held in employee benefit trusts and in treasury is deducted from shareholders’ equity until the 
shares are cancelled, re-issued or disposed of. Any proceeds received are also taken to shareholders’ equity. No gain or 
loss is recognised in the Income Statement on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of own shares held. 

Revenue recognition

Revenue is the fair value of consideration received or receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of 
business, net of discounts, volume rebates and VAT. Sales of beverages are recognised when these goods are delivered 
to our publicans. Property rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the life of the lease. Amusement 
machine royalties are recognised in the accounting period to which the income relates. 

Segmental reporting

An operating segment is a distinguishable segment of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may 
earn revenues and incur expenses and whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity’s chief operating 
decision maker (CODM). The Board reviews the Group’s operations and financial position as a whole, reflecting the 
fact that non-pub income is not material to the Group, and therefore considers that it has only one reporting operating 
segment, being the operation of a leased and tenanted pub estate operating solely within the UK. The information 
presented to the CODM directly reflects that presented in the financial statements.

Share-based payments 

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based payment schemes for employees. Share-based payments 
are measured at fair value at the date of the award. This value is subsequently updated at each Balance Sheet date for 
management’s best estimate of the effect of non-market based vesting conditions on the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any service and performance 
(vesting conditions), other than performance conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Parent Company (market 
conditions). Any other conditions which are required to be met in order for an employee to become fully entitled to an 
award are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Like market performance conditions, non-vesting conditions are 
taken into account in determining the grant date fair value. The fair value is recognised as an expense over the vesting 
period by calculating the cumulative expense and recognising the movement in the cumulative expense in the Income 
Statement. A corresponding entry is made to equity.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance or service conditions are satisfied. 

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been approved by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting. Interim dividends are recognised when they are paid.

Operating profit

Operating profit as referred to in the Income Statement is defined as being profit generated from normal trading activities 
before net profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment, movements in valuation of the pub estate and related 
assets, finance costs and taxation.
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3. Accounting policies (continued)
Exceptional items

The Group has elected to classify certain items as exceptional and present them separately on the face of the Income 
Statement. Exceptional items are classified as those which are separately identified by virtue of their size or nature to 
allow a full understanding of the underlying performance of the Group and include the following:

a) Exceptional items recognised in operating profit

Exceptional costs relating to regulatory matters, reorganisational costs and the charge for future settlement of the 
defined benefit pension scheme have been recognised in the administrative costs line.

b) Net profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment

Net profit/(loss) arising from the sale of property, plant and equipment less goodwill allocated to disposals.

c) Movements in valuation of pub estate and related assets

Any revaluation that causes the book value of a pub to fall below historic cost will lead to a charge in the Income 
Statement. If that same pub later recovers in value so that its book value exceeds historic cost, the increase in value 
is credited to the Income Statement to the extent that a debit was previously recognised. Where pubs identified for 
disposal are revalued immediately prior to transfer to non-current assets held for sale, the revaluation movement is 
recognised on the same basis. The remaining impact of the annual revaluation exercise or the identification of pubs for 
disposal is accounted for in Other Comprehensive Income.

d) Net finance costs

The gain or loss on purchase of own debt is calculated as the difference between the nominal price of the debt purchased 
less the aggregate of the consideration and related transaction costs paid. The Group has elected to take the gain or loss 
on the settlement date.

Exceptional finance costs are recognised in relation to fees written off following the commitment to extinguish 
borrowings.

e) Taxation

A deferred tax liability has been recognised on the Balance Sheet relating to the pub estate. On transition to IFRS, the 
Group elected to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to acquisitions from 1 January 1999. This led to an increase in goodwill in 
respect of this deferred tax. As this pre-acquisition liability changes due to capital gains indexation relief and changes in 
the rate of UK tax, a debit or a credit is recognised in the Income Statement. This has been classified as an exceptional 
tax item due to its size and because it does not relate to any income or expense recognised in the Income Statement in 
the same period. All other movements in respect of this deferred tax liability are accounted for in the same performance 
statement as the gross item to which it relates.

The effect of changes in the enacted rate of tax used to calculate deferred tax is reflected in Other Comprehensive 
Income to the extent it relates to revaluation surpluses therein and in exceptional profit/loss for all other elements of 
deferred tax.

The tax effect of all other exceptional items is also included within the exceptional items column in the Income Statement. 

81Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014

D
ire

c
to

rs
’ R

e
p

o
rt

A
c

c
o

u
n

ts
Sh

a
re

h
o

ld
e

r I
n

fo
rm

a
tio

n
St

ra
te

g
ic

 R
e

p
o

rt

81Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts 
for the year ended 30 September 2014



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

3. Accounting policies (continued)
Use of accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions during the preparation of the financial statements. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. The estimates and assumptions that have the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are discussed below:

a) Property, plant and equipment (PPE)

Licensed land and buildings are revalued annually to fair value in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual 
published by the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and IFRS 13. The valuation is based on an assessment 
of the income generating potential of the properties, and applying an appropriate multiple. The highest and best use for 
the licensed land and buildings is assumed to be their current use by the Group, principally due to the legal restrictions 
imposed by the agreement with the publican, planning regulations and the financial implications of a change of use given 
those restrictions and the Group’s business model. However, consideration is given to an alternative highest and best 
use if there are factors that indicate that such an alternative use exists which is physically possible, legally permissible 
and financially feasible.

Further information about the valuation of the pub estate is provided in note 17 of these financial statements.

The Group estimates the useful economic life and residual value of PPE and these estimates influence the depreciation 
charged each year. For details of these estimates, see the detailed accounting policy for PPE. 

b) Testing goodwill for impairment

The Group annually tests whether goodwill has been impaired. Management makes judgements to allocate goodwill to 
the group of Cash Generating Units (CGUs) that benefits from the synergy of acquisitions and reflects the level at which 
goodwill is monitored, on this basis goodwill is allocated to the entire estate. The recoverable amount of the CGUs that 
the goodwill has been allocated to is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require estimating future cash 
flows and applying a suitable discount rate. 

Details of the tests and carrying value of the asset are shown in note 15.

c) Taxation 

Judgement is required when determining the provision for taxes as the tax treatment of some transactions cannot be 
finally determined until a formal resolution has been reached with the tax authorities. Tax benefits are not recognised 
unless it is probable that the benefit will be obtained. Tax provisions are made if it is expected that a liability will arise. 
The Group reviews each significant tax liability or benefit to assess the appropriate accounting treatment.

d) Pension

As explained in note 29, the Group has committed to a bulk annuity buyout of the defined benefit section of the 
RetailLink Management Limited pension plan and commenced this process by purchasing a bulk annuity policy on 
deferred payment terms. Following final payment, the intention is to purchase individual annuity polices. As a result, all 
future obligations for the benefits included in the arrangement will ultimately be taken on directly by an insurer. The cost 
of the bulk annuity policy is higher than the actuarial value of the obligations that it covers. Management have used their 
judgement in deeming this process as being the settlement of the scheme and have recognised the difference between 
the cost of the bulk annuity policy and the actuarial value of the related plan obligations as a settlement charge in the 
Income Statement accordingly.

e) Finance costs

When borrowings are refinanced with substantially the same lender, the Group uses judgement when reviewing whether 
the arrangement constitutes an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability 
or a modification of the terms of the existing financial liability. As described in note 24 and note 35, subsequent to the year 
end on 7 October 2014 the Group has replaced its existing forward start facility with a new revolving credit facility. In contrast 
to the forward start facility, the revolving credit facility is non-amortising, has reduced covenant tests, fewer restrictions and 
a significantly lower interest rate. As the commercial features of the borrowings have fundamentally changed, the Group 
classified this as an extinguishment. The principal impact of this judgement in the current year is a reassessment of the 
effective interest rate calculation in respect of the forward start facility such that previously unamortised debt issue costs 
of £2 million have been written off in the year through exceptional finance costs.
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4. Revenue
The Group operates in one reporting segment, that of leased and tenanted pub operator in the UK. Revenue is derived 
as follows:

2014
£m

2013
£m

Beer and cider sales 429 433

Wines, spirits and minerals sales 29 23

Rent income 163 171

Income from amusement and other machines 11 12

632 639

5. Cost of sales
2014

£m
2013

£m

Beer and cider cost of sales 244 250

Wines, spirits and minerals cost of sales 21 16

Leasehold charges 22 22

Repairs and maintenance 7 6

294 294

6. Exceptional items
An exceptional charge of £13 million (2013: £2 million) has been recognised in the year of which £10 million relates 
to the charge for the future settlement of the defined benefit pension scheme (see note 29) and £3 million relates 
to reorganisational costs, primarily costs associated with the retirement of Ted Tuppen as a director, a fundamental 
reorganisation of the Group’s operations team and costs incurred in respect of one-off regulatory matters.

Included within accruals and deferred income is £1 million (2013: £nil) in relation to the reorganisational costs and costs 
incurred in respect of regulatory matters recognised within exceptional items.

A tax credit of £3 million has been recognised on these exceptional items.

All other exceptional items are explained in notes 9, 10, 12 and 13.

7. Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging: 

2014
£m

2013
£m

Depreciation and amortisation 16 15
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

8. Auditor’s remuneration 
(This note is shown rounded to the nearest £000)

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Audit Committee Report on pages 37 to 42 and includes 
an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the 
auditor.

2014
£000

2013
£000

Group audit fees 177 151

Audit fees in respect of subsidiaries 24 14

Audit related assurance services – 39

Other assurance services 97 24

Taxation advisory services 59 71

357 299

Included within other assurance services above is £65,000 (2013: £nil) in relation to assurance reporting on historical 
information included in an investment circular.  

Of the non-audit fees above of £156,000, £82,000 represents work required to be performed by the auditor under law, 
regulation or the terms of the Group’s financing arrangements. Excluding these amounts, the ratio of non-audit fees to 
audit fees was 37%.

Group audit fees include £165,000 (2013: £141,000) paid to the auditor for the audit of the Parent Company. Fees paid 
to the auditor in respect of non-audit services provided to the Parent Company are not required to be disclosed because 
the Group financial statements are only required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

9. Profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment including goodwill allocation
2014

£m
2013

£m

Profits on sale of property, plant and equipment 16 26 

Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment (4) (5)

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 12 21 

Goodwill allocated to disposals (7) (14)

Net profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 5 7 

The tax impact of the sale of property, plant and equipment is set out in note 13.

During the year 230 pubs (2013: 428 pubs) and various other plots of land with a book value of £61 million  
(2013: £127 million) were disposed of generating gross proceeds of £80 million (2013: £157 million) which, after taking 
account of disposal costs of £7 million (2013: £9 million), resulted in an overall profit of £12 million (2013: £21 million).

Of the £16 million of profits on sale of property, plant and equipment in the year, £8 million resulted from the sale of 74 
pubs held in non-current assets held for sale at 30 September 2013, prior to the requirements of IFRS 13 to record assets 
at their highest and best use. The remaining £8 million of profits related to 90 pubs transferred to non-current assets 
held for sale and sold in the year. Of this, £3 million related to 4 pubs and various plots of land with a ‘special interest’ 
value to particular buyers, £3 million related to the sale of 8 pubs classified as operating leases and £2 million arose on 
the remaining 78 pubs sold at an average profit of £27,000 per pub.

The remaining 66 pubs sold during the year made a loss.

In accordance with IAS 36 purchased goodwill is allocated to operations disposed of, based on the relative value of the 
disposal to operations retained. Accordingly, goodwill of £7 million (2013: £14 million) has been allocated to the 230 pubs 
(2013: 428 pubs) disposed of during the year.
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10. Movements in valuation of pub estate and related assets
2014

£m
2013

£m

Movements in property, plant and equipment from revaluation of pub estate (see note 17) 42 84 

Revaluation of non-current assets held for sale (see note 17) 33 81 

75 165 

There is no current tax expense associated with these movements. A deferred tax credit of £14 million (2013: £39 
million) arises as a result of the revaluation and write down of these properties (see note 13).

11. Staff costs
2014

£m
2013

£m

Wages and salaries 27 24

Social security costs 3 3

Other pension costs 2 2

32 29

Included in wages and salaries is an expense relating to share-based payments of £2 million (2013: £2 million). All of this 
expense arises from transactions accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments (see note 31).

Other pension costs represents payments made into employees’ individual defined contribution plans. 

The average monthly number of employees comprised:

2014
No.

2013
No.

Operations staff 240 229

Administration staff 288 279

528 508

Directors’ remuneration is summarised below to the nearest £000 with full detail given in the Directors’ Remuneration 
Report.

2014
£000

2013
£000

Directors’ remuneration* 2,233 2,255

Executive directors’ pensions 256 345

Share-based payments† 595 1,764

* Comprises fees, salary, benefits and performance-related bonus.
† Fair value of share-based payments charged to the Income Statement during the year.

In addition to the above, Ted Tuppen received remuneration subsequent to his retirement from the Board as detailed in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

12. Net finance costs 
2014

£m
2013

£m

Bank borrowings 6 18 

Corporate bonds/securitised bonds 158 158 

Other interest payable and finance costs 2 2 

Interest receivable (1) (1)

Total pre-exceptional finance costs 165 177 

Exceptional finance costs:

Other interest payable and finance costs 2 4 

Gain on purchase of own debt – (1)

Total net finance costs 167 180 

During the year ended 30 September 2014, £10 million (2013: £9 million) Unique securitised bonds were purchased and 
cancelled at an average purchase price of 100p (2013: 95p) for each £1 of nominal value generating a gain of £nil (2013: 
£1 million) being the difference between the nominal price of the debt purchased and the aggregate of the consideration 
and related transaction costs paid.

The exceptional other interest payable and finance costs in the year of £2 million (2013: £4 million) relate to interest 
accrued on tax provisions and finance arrangement fees previously paid and written off following the Group’s commitment 
to a new revolving credit facility which has been classified as an extinguishment of the existing forward start facility.

The total interest charge under the effective interest rate method (which excludes the gain on purchase of own debt) is 
£167 million (2013: £181 million).

13. Taxation
a) Total tax expense recognised in the Group Income Statement

Current tax

2014 2013

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

UK corporation tax 23 (2) 21 26 (2) 24 

Adjustments in respect of prior years (2) – (2) (3) – (3)

Total current tax 21 (2) 19 23 (2) 21 

Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary 
differences 4 (18) (14) 3 (56) (53)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 – 1 – (6) (6)

Total deferred tax 5 (18) (13) 3 (62) (59)

Taxation 26 (20) 6 26 (64) (38)
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13. Taxation (continued)
b) Tax charge reconciliation

2014 2013

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

Profit/(loss) before tax 121 (85) 36 121 (163) (42)

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax at 
22.0% (2013: 23.5%) 27 (19) 8 28 (38) (10)

Effects of:

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes/(non 
taxable income) – 1 1 1 (5) (4)

Movement in the deferred tax liability for 
retained properties due to indexation* – (2) (2) – (5) (5)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (1) – (1) (3) (6) (9)

Movement in deferred tax balances restated 
to 20.0% – – – – (10) (10)

Total tax charge/(credit) in the Income 
Statement 26 (20) 6 26 (64) (38)

*  On transition to IFRS under IAS 12, a deferred tax liability was recognised on the Balance Sheet relating to the revaluation of the pub estate and gains 
previously rolled over, or due to be rolled over into other assets. The deferred tax liability that would have been in place at the time of business combinations 
that have occurred since 1 January 1999 resulted in the recognition of additional goodwill of £330 million as the fair value of the net assets acquired had 
been reduced. As this pre-acquisition liability has reduced due to capital gains indexation relief and disposals, a credit has been recognised in the Income 
Statement. The exceptional indexation credit for the year ended 30 September 2014 is £2 million (2013: £5 million). This has been classed as an exceptional 
tax item due to its size and because it does not relate to any income or expense recognised in the Income Statement in the same period.

c) Deferred tax recognised in the Group Income Statement

2014 2013

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

Pre-
exceptional

items
£m

Exceptional
items

£m
Total

£m

Temporary differences 1 (2) (1) 1 – 1 

Accelerated capital allowances 3 (4) (1) 2 (9) (7)

Deferred tax on the movement in valuation of 
pub estate* – (10) (10) – (32) (32)

Movement in the deferred tax liability for 
retained properties due to indexation – (2) (2) – (5) (5)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 – 1 – (6) (6)

Restatement of deferred tax liability for change 
in UK tax rate – – – – (10) (10)

5 (18) (13) 3 (62) (59)

*  The £10 million deferred tax credit on the movement in valuation of the pub estate includes a credit of £14 million, being the tax effect of the £75 million 
exceptional movement in the valuation of the pub estate and related assets in the Income Statement (see note 10) and a tax charge of £4 million in 
respect of properties disposed of, based on a tax rate of 20%. In 2013, the revaluation movement was £165 million, giving rise to a £39 million tax credit 
based on a tax rate of 23% and a tax charge of £7 million in respect of properties disposed of.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

13. Taxation (continued)
d) Tax recognised directly in Other Comprehensive Income

2014
£m

2013
£m

Movement in deferred tax liability related to revaluation of the pub estate* (7) (10)

Restatement of deferred tax liability related to revaluation of pub estate for change in UK tax rate – (30)

Tax credit in Other Comprehensive Income (7) (40)

* The movement in the deferred tax liability relating to revaluation of property and rolled over gains is calculated as follows:

2014
£m

2013
£m

Tax effect of revaluation of property and pubs sold and awaiting sale (7) (15)

Movement in indexation during the year – 5 

Total movement as above (7) (10)

14. Earnings per share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for the year divided 
by the weighted average number of equity shares in issue during the year after excluding shares held by trusts relating 
to employee share options and shares held in treasury.

Adjusted earnings per share, which the directors believe reflects the underlying performance of the Group, is based 
on earnings attributable to Ordinary Shareholders adjusted for the effects of exceptional items, net of tax divided by 
the weighted average number of equity shares in issue during the year after excluding shares held by trusts relating to 
employee share options and shares held in treasury.

For the year ended 30 September 2014, diluted earnings per share is based on the profit adjusted to remove the interest 
cost associated with the convertible loan note of £4.7 million (2013: £nil) divided by the weighted average number of 
equity shares in issue during the year adjusted for dilutive ordinary shares relating to share options and the convertible 
loan note. For the year ended 30 September 2013, any potential ordinary shares to be included when considering diluted 
earnings per share were anti-dilutive. As a result there was no difference between basic earnings per share and basic 
diluted earnings per share, or between adjusted earnings per share and adjusted diluted earnings per share.

2014 2013

Earnings
£m

Per share 
amount

p
Earnings

£m

Per share
amount

p

Basic profit/(loss) per share 29.7 5.9 (4.0) (0.8)

Diluted profit/(loss) per share 34.4 6.1 (4.0) (0.8)

Adjusted profit per share 94.9 19.0 94.9 19.0

Adjusted diluted profit per share 99.6 17.8 94.9 19.0

2014
m

2013
m

Weighted average number of shares 500.5 499.5 

Dilutive share options 9.7 –

Dilutive convertible loan note shares 50.8 –

Diluted weighted average number of shares 561.0 499.5 
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15. Goodwill
2014

£m
2013

£m

At 1 October 345 359 

Allocated to disposals (7) (14)

At 30 September 338 345 

Allocation to disposals

In accordance with IAS 36 goodwill is allocated to operations disposed of, based on the relative value of the disposal to 
operations retained. Accordingly, goodwill of £7 million (2013: £14 million) has been allocated to the 230 pubs (2013: 428 
pubs) disposed of during the year.

Impairment testing

Goodwill acquired via business combinations is tested annually for impairment. For this purpose, the goodwill is allocated 
to the pub estate being a group of Cash Generating Units (CGUs), as this represents the lowest level within the Group 
that goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. The impairment test compares 
the recoverable amount of the CGU with its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined from value in use 
calculations. 

Value in use is calculated using budgeted EBITDA and forecasts of cash flow over a three year period, as prepared for the 
Board. The three year cash flows continue to be risk adjusted to reflect a conservative outlook. They include the impact 
of the reduction in consumer spending as a result of the difficult economic conditions and have also been adjusted 
to reflect the forecast level of disposals. The key assumptions in these estimates are trading margin, rent projections 
and levels of working capital required to support trading. Key assumptions have been assigned values by management 
using estimates based on past experience and expectations of future changes in the market. These assumptions have 
been reviewed by the Board and are believed to be reasonable. Cash flows beyond three years are extrapolated using 
a 2% growth rate in operating income (2013: 2%) which was selected as prudently below the Group’s estimate of the 
long-term average growth rate. The key driver to maintaining the growth rate is management’s focus on selecting and 
supporting the best publicans, whilst meeting the challenges of changing consumer demand. The forecast cash flows 
are then discounted to give a value in use.

The discount rate used is based on the Group weighted average cost of capital (WACC), which has been risk adjusted 
to reflect current market factors which have not already been captured within the cash flows. In making this adjustment 
to the Group WACC, management have risk adjusted the cost of debt and the cost of equity by using an average of the 
highest four market risk premiums and Company betas obtained from five advisers at the year end date. The cost of 
equity has been further inflated by using a theoretical share price derived from peer group data. The pre-tax risk adjusted 
discount rate used in the testing at 30 September 2014 was 8.0% (2013: 8.0%). 

As at 30 September 2014, the headroom on the impairment test is £555 million, the pre-tax adjusted discount rate could 
increase to 8.86% before any impairment would be required. Management have considered the volatility in the current 
economic climate within the risk adjusted cash flow and the growth rate of any cash flows beyond the budget period 
would need to fall by 0.98% before any impairment would be required. There is no impairment to goodwill in the period.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

16. Intangible assets: operating lease premiums

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Cost: 

At 1 October 18 18 7 7 

Disposals (2) – – –

At 30 September 16 18 7 7 

Amortisation:

At 1 October 7 7 3 2 

Disposals (1) – – –

Provided during the year – – – 1 

At 30 September 6 7 3 3 

Net book value:

At 30 September 10 11 4 4 

At 1 October 11 11 4 5 

Lease premiums are amortised on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the lease. The remaining operating lease 
terms vary from 1 to 97 years.

There are 58 pubs within the Group and 36 pubs within the Parent Company attracting operating lease premiums in 2014 
(2013: 62 pubs in the Group and 39 pubs in the Parent Company).
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17. Property, plant and equipment

Group

Licensed
land and
buildings

£m

Landlord’s
fixtures and

fittings
£m

Other
assets

£m
Total

£m

Cost or valuation

At 1 October 2012 4,031 257 35 4,323 

Additions 35 30 3 68 

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (55) – – (55)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (84) – – (84)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (28) – – (28)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (81) – – (81)

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale (91) (26) – (117)

Net transfers from current assets held for sale – 3 – 3 

Disposals – (13) (3) (16)

At 1 October 2013 3,727 251 35 4,013 

Additions 41 30 3 74 

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (33) – – (33)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (42) – – (42)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (5) – – (5)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (33) – – (33)

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale (42) (11) – (53)

Disposals – (11) (1) (12)

At 30 September 2014 3,613 259 37 3,909 

Depreciation

At 1 October 2012 14 38 12 64 

Charge for the year 1* 12 2 15 

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale – (4) – (4)

Disposals – (6) (3) (9)

At 1 October 2013 15 40 11 66 

Charge for the year 2* 12 2 16 

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale – (2) – (2)

Disposals – (4) (1) (5)

At 30 September 2014 17 46 12 75 

Net book value

At 30 September 2014 3,596 213 25 3,834 

At 30 September 2013 3,712 211 24 3,947 

* Relates to finance lease amortisation.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company

Licensed
land and
buildings

£m

Landlord’s
fixtures and

fittings
£m

Other
assets

£m
Total

£m

Cost or valuation

At 1 October 2012 2,084 177 31 2,292 

Additions 20 16 2 38 

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (13) – – (13)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (40) – – (40)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (25) – – (25)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (57) – – (57)

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale (98) (22) – (120)

Net transfers from current assets held for sale – 2 – 2 

Disposals – (8) (3) (11)

At 1 October 2013 1,871 165 30 2,066 

Additions 21 15 3 39 

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (22) – – (22)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (18) – – (18)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (6) – – (6)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (16) – – (16)

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale (17) (8) – (25)

Disposals – (6) – (6)

At 30 September 2014 1,813 166 33 2,012 

Depreciation

At 1 October 2012 6 26 12 44 

Charge for the year – 7 1 8 

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale – (3) – (3)

Disposals – (3) (3) (6)

At 1 October 2013 6 27 10 43 

Charge for the year 1*  6 2 9 

Net transfers to non-current assets held for sale – (2) – (2)

Disposals – (3) – (3)

At 30 September 2014 7 28 12 47 

Net book value

At 30 September 2014 1,806 138 21 1,965 

At 30 September 2013 1,865 138 20 2,023 

* Relates to finance lease amortisation. 
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Fair value measurement of property, plant and equipment

In determining the appropriate classes of asset to present for fair value purposes, the company has considered the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the assets. This has resulted in determining two separate classes of assets, ‘pub’ 
and ‘non-pub’ as described in note 3.

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment 

Valuations are carried out on an annual basis at each year end date. With the exception of properties identified for 
disposal and transferred to non-current assets held for sale, the Group’s pub and non-pub assets were revalued as at 30 
September 2014 by GVA Grimley Limited or Christie & Co., independent Chartered Surveyors, or by the internal Asset 
and Valuation Director, Simon Millar MRICS, Chartered Surveyor. For further analysis of the pubs valued by valuer see 
table on page 96.

All valuations of assets have been assessed as being level 3 valuations, as there are no directly comparable market 
observable inputs. 

The pub assets were valued using fair maintainable trade income (FMT) capitalised at an appropriate rate of return (as 
defined within RICS Appraisal and Valuation Standards ‘Red Book’) or an equivalent multiple. This method of valuation 
involves making an assessment of the fair maintainable rent, wholesale and machine income that can be generated 
from the property assuming they are run by a reasonably efficient operator, taking into account future trading potential. 
This assessment of profit is then capitalised at an appropriate multiple to reflect the risks and rewards of the property. 
In determining the multiple to use, the valuers consider evidence of comparable market transactions. The resulting fair 
value of the pub represents the land and buildings and any fixed landlords fixtures and fittings.

The non-pub assets, which are predominantly blue-chip let convenience stores, are let to the operators at open market 
rents. These assets have been valued adopting the investment method of valuation. By reference to the rents fixed, lease 
terms and market conditions, an appropriate multiple based on comparable market transactions is applied, discounting 
future rental receipts back to present value.

Both classes of asset are, under IFRS 13, required to be valued at highest and best use. IFRS 13 prescribes that the 
Group’s current use is presumed to be its highest and best value, unless market or other factors suggest that a different 
use by market participants would maximise the value of the asset. In doing their valuations, the valuers consider whether 
the asset may have a higher or better feasible use which would be reflected in the fair value where applicable. This is on 
an asset by asset basis if there are circumstances to indicate that there may be a higher and better use. In the current 
year the highest and best use of all the pub assets in property, plant and equipment has been assessed as their existing 
use.

The table below presents, by class of property, the income and multiple bandings within which the properties have been 
valued, and the number of properties that have been valued in each of the bandings. In determining the bandings to use, 
the Group has considered a variety of options including size and location of property, but has concluded that the value of 
the property is principally driven by FMT and multiple, so this forms the most appropriate disclosure.

Group

Number of pub assets – within 
property, plant and equipment

Multiple applied to FMT

Total 
number

Over 12 
times

10–12 
times

8–10 
times

6–8 
times

Under 6 
times

FMT income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum 1,398 11 619 703 47 18

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 2,156 44 805 1,171 109 27

less than £60,000 per annum 1,474 52 386 812 178 46

5,028 107 1,810 2,686 334 91
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Number of pub assets – within  
non-current assets held for sale

Multiple applied to FMT

Total 
number

Over 12 
times

10–12 
times

8–10 
times

6–8 
times

Under 6 
times

FMT income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum – – – – – –

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 2 – 1 – – 1

less than £60,000 per annum 116 45 9 14 13 35

118 45 10 14 13 36

Number of non-pub assets

Multiple applied to income

Total 
number

Over 16 
times

14–16
times

12–14 
times

Under 12 
times

Income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum 1 – 1 – –

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 11 3 4 3 1

less than £60,000 per annum 10 4 5 – 1

22 7 10 3 2

Company

Number of pub assets – within 
property, plant and equipment

Multiple applied to FMT

Total 
number

Over 12 
times

10–12 
times

8–10 
times

6–8 
times

Under 6 
times

FMT income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum 667 8 305 332 15 7

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 1,108 28 463 566 39 12

less than £60,000 per annum 790 36 231 424 78 21

2,565 72 999 1,322 132 40

Multiple applied to FMT

Number of pub assets – within  
non-current assets held for sale

Total 
number

Over 12 
times

10–12 
times

8–10 
times

6–8 
times

Under 6 
times

FMT income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum – – – – – –

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 1 – – – – 1

less than £60,000 per annum 61 19 5 9 7 21

62 19 5 9 7 22

Number of non-pub assets

Multiple applied to income

Total 
number

Over 16 
times

14–16
times

12–14 
times

Under 12 
times

Income bandings:

more than £90,000 per annum 1 – 1 – –

£60,000 to £90,000 per annum 3 2 1 – –

less than £60,000 per annum 5 2 2 – 1

9 4 4 – 1
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The following table sets out the reconciliation of the opening and closing balances for the level 3 fair value measurements 
as at 30 September 2014.

There have been no transfers out of the level 3 fair value measurements during the year.

Group

Pub 
assets

£m

Non-pub 
assets

£m
Total

£m

Opening balance 3,908 – 3,908

Transfers between classes (17) 17 –

Additions 59 1 60

Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (51) – (51)

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (36) 3 (33)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (42) – (42)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (5) – (5)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (33) – (33)

Depreciation (8) – (8)

Closing balance 3,775 21 3,796

Net book value of movable landlord’s fixtures and fittings 13

Net book value of other assets 25

Net book value of property, plant and equipment 3,834

Company

Pub 
assets

£m

Non-pub 
assets

£m
Total

£m

Opening balance 1,995 – 1,995

Transfers between classes (7) 7 –

Additions 31 1 32

Transfers to non-current assets held for sale (23) – (23)

Revaluation:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (23) 1 (22)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (18) – (18)

Revaluation of assets on transfer to non-current assets held for sale:

– Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (6) – (6)

– Recognised in the Income Statement (16) – (16)

Depreciation (4) – (4)

Closing balance 1,929 9 1,938

Net book value of movable landlord’s fixtures and fittings 6

Net book value of other assets 21

Net book value of property, plant and equipment 1,965
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Sensitivity analysis table

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement categorised within level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy of the Group’s estate are FMT and a multiple. There is a limited amount of interrelation between the variation 
in these inputs.

A change in either of these assumptions could have a significant effect on the overall valuation of the estate. Sensitivities 
around these assumptions that are deemed to be reasonably likely based on the experience of the valuers are illustrated 
below:

Group FMT Multiple

Sensitivity level + 2.5% – 2.5% + 0.25 – 0.25

£m £m £m £m

Pub assets and non-pub assets 95 (95) 99 (99)

Company FMT Multiple

Sensitivity level + 2.5% – 2.5% + 0.25 – 0.25

£m £m £m £m

Pub assets and non-pub assets 49 (49) 50 (50)

No comparative information has been presented under IFRS 13 in accordance with the guidance included in IFRS 13 for 
initial application.

The pubs used as security for the corporate bonds in Enterprise Inns plc have been valued by GVA Grimley Limited 
(2,026 pubs) and a representative sample of pubs held by Unique Pub Properties Limited (Unique) has been valued by 
Christie & Co (200 pubs). GVA Grimley valued a further sample of pubs in Enterprise Inns plc (79 pubs). The balance of 
the estate held in Enterprise Inns plc (460 pubs) and the rest of the Unique estate (2,263 pubs) have been valued by 
the internal Asset and Valuation Director using RICS valuation guidelines. The results of this internal valuation have been 
compared to that of the external valuers. This review ensured that the results are consistent.

The following table provides a reconciliation of pub numbers disclosed in this note to trading pubs disclosed in the Chief 
Executive’s Review on page 11:

Property,
plant and

equipment

Non-current
assets held

for sale*

Pubs subject
to annual
valuation

Add
operating

leases†
Total
pubs

Less 
non-viable
and closed

pubs

Total
trading

pubs

Pubs valued by GVA Grimley Limited 2,105 – 2,105 – 2,105 (2) 2,103

Pubs valued internally 460 62 522 232 754 (33) 721

Total Parent Company 2,565 62 2,627 232 2,859 (35) 2,824

Pubs valued by Christie & Co 200 – 200 – 200 – 200

Pubs valued internally 2,263 56 2,319 28 2,347 (23) 2,324

Total Group 5,028 118 5,146 260 5,406 (58) 5,348

* See note 21.
† Not subject to valuation.
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17. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
If licensed land and buildings had been measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:

Group 
Licensed land 
and buildings

 £m

Company 
Licensed land 
and buildings 

£m

At 30 September 2014

Cost 3,048 1,426 

Accumulated depreciation (33) (23)

Net book value 3,015 1,403 

At 30 September 2013

Cost 3,160 1,482 

Accumulated depreciation (33) (23)

Net book value 3,127 1,459 

Within the Group the carrying value of property held under finance leases at 30 September 2014 was £159 million (2013: 
£166 million). Additions during the year include £3 million to property held under finance leases (2013: £3 million). Within 
the Parent Company the carrying value of property held under finance leases at 30 September 2014 was £59 million 
(2013: £64 million). Additions during the year include £1 million to property held under finance leases (2013: £1 million).

At 30 September 2014, the Group had entered into contractual commitments to purchase £4 million (2013: £3 million) of 
property, plant and equipment. At 30 September 2014, the Parent Company had entered into contractual commitments 
to purchase £2 million (2013: £2 million) of property, plant and equipment.

18. Investments

Company
2014

£m
2013

£m

Cost or valuation

At 1 October 1,834 1,833 

Additions – 1 

At 30 September 1,834 1,834

During the prior year the Company acquired at par 1 million non-voting cell shares of £1 each in a Harlequin Insurance 
PCC Limited Cell, being a Guernsey based captive insurance cell created on behalf of the Company for the conduct of 
insurance or reinsurance business. 

The Parent Company’s principal subsidiaries are listed in note 34.

19. Current assets held for sale

Group Company

Fixtures and fittings purchased from publicans
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

At 1 October – 3 – 2 

Transferred to landlord’s fixtures and fittings – (3) – (2)

At 30 September – – – –
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20. Trade and other receivables

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Trade receivables 29 40 18 28

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings – – 545 489

Prepayments and accrued income 8 7 7 7

Other receivables 2 1 1 –

39 48 571 524

The ageing of trade receivables at 30 September was as follows: 

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Not past due 27 34 18 26

Up to 30 days overdue 2 4 – 2

31–60 days overdue – 1 – –

61–90 days overdue – 1 – –

29 40 18 28

Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The Group is exposed to a small amount of credit 
risk that is primarily attributable to trade receivables and cash balances. The Group’s objective is to minimise this risk 
by carrying out credit checks where appropriate. The amount of trade and other receivables included in the Balance 
Sheet are net of a bad debt provision which has been determined by management following a review of individual 
receivable accounts and is based on prior experience and known factors at the Balance Sheet date after taking into 
account collateral held in the form of cash deposits. Receivables are written off against the bad debt provision when 
management considers that the debt is no longer recoverable.

At 30 September 2014 the value of collateral in the Group is £32 million (2013: £32 million) and in the Parent Company 
is £21 million (2013: £21 million). This balance is held on the Balance Sheet in other payables.

An analysis of the provision held against trade receivables is set out below. This provision relates to trade receivables 
which are primarily owed by publicans.

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Provision as at 1 October 2 2 1 1 

Increase in provision during the year 2 2 2 1 

Provision utilised during the year (1) (1) – –

Provision released during the year (1) (1) (1) (1)

Provision as at 30 September 2 2 2 1 

There are no indications as at 30 September 2014 that debtors will not meet their payment obligations in respect of 
the amount of trade receivables recognised in the Balance Sheet that are neither past due nor impaired. The maximum 
amount of exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of trade receivables. The Group’s credit risk on liquid funds is 
limited because the Group only invests with banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings.
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21. Non-current assets held for sale

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

At 1 October 39 46 30 20 

Net transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 17) 51 113 23 117 

Write down to fair value less costs to sell (1) (1) (1) –

Disposals (59) (119) (39) (107)

At 30 September 30 39 13 30 

Representing:

Property, plant and equipment 30 39 13 30 

30 39 13 30 

Non-current assets held for sale comprises both freehold and leasehold licensed and unlicensed properties that have 
been identified by the Group for disposal as part of the continued disposal programme. The sale of all assets within this 
category is expected to be completed within one year of the Balance Sheet date. 

At the end of the year non-current assets held for sale in the Group includes 118 pubs which are expected to be sold 
within the next year (2013: 138 pubs). Within the Group a balance of £1 million (2013: £2 million) in relation to these pubs 
is held within the revaluation reserve representing revaluation surpluses.

At the end of the year non-current assets held for sale in the Parent Company includes 62 pubs which are expected to 
be sold within the next year (2013: 109 pubs). Within the Parent Company a balance of £1 million (2013: £2 million) in 
relation to these pubs is held within the revaluation reserve representing revaluation surpluses. 

22. Trade and other payables

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Trade payables 41 47 41 47

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings – – 355 354

Accruals and deferred income 94 89 72 72

Other payables 44 46 28 31

179 182 496 504

Included within other payables in the Group is a balance of £32 million (2013: £32 million) being collateral held by the 
Group in the form of cash deposits (see note 20).

Included within other payables in the Parent Company is a balance of £21 million (2013: £21 million) being collateral held 
by the Parent Company in the form of cash deposits (see note 20).

23. Current tax payable

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Current liabilities:

Current tax payable 12 10 14 13 

Non-current liabilties:

Current tax payable in more than one year 2 – 2 –

Total current tax payable 14 10 16 13
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

23. Current tax payable (continued)
During the year an enquiry by HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) in relation to a discounted convertible loan note issued 
in the accounting period ended 30 September 2004 has been formally resolved and closed. The closure of this enquiry 
resulted in a settlement agreement with HMRC of £9 million plus interest, which will be paid in instalments over a two 
year period. £3 million has been paid during the year. The final instalment will fall due to be paid in January 2016 and 
therefore £2 million of the current tax payable is being shown as a non-current liability. This has been fully provided for 
in the accounts since the inception of the loan note.

24. Financial assets and liabilities

Group Company

Financial assets
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

Non-current

Loans due from subsidiary undertakings (see note 34) – – 182 150

Total financial assets – – 182 150

Group Company

Financial liabilities
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

Current

Bank borrowings 38 – 38 –

Corporate bonds – 60 – 60

Securitised bonds 71 69 – –

109 129 38 60

Non-current

Bank borrowings 43 77 43 77

Corporate bonds 1,197 1,196 1,122 1,123

Securitised bonds 1,175 1,259 – –

Finance lease payables 3 4 1 1

Loans due to subsidiary undertakings (see note 34) – – 76 73

2,418 2,536 1,242 1,274

Total financial liabilities 2,527 2,665 1,280 1,334

‘Bank borrowings’ refers to the forward start facility (see table below).

‘Corporate bonds’ refers to a debenture, four secured bonds and an unsecured convertible bond (see table below).

‘Securitised bonds’ refers to four secured bonds (see table below).

Fair values

The corporate bonds and securitised bonds were valued at fair value as at 30 September by J C Rathbone, independent 
valuers. The fair value of the corporate bonds and securitised bonds is measured at market price and are therefore 
evaluated to be level 1 in the fair value hierarchy described in note 3.

Management assessed that cash and short-term deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, and other current liabilities 
approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of unquoted instruments, loans from banks and other financial liabilities, obligations under finance leases, 
as well as other non-current financial liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently 
available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
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24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The fair value value of the Group’s bank borrowings, evaluated to be level 2 in the fair value hierarchy described in note 
3, is not deemed to be materially different to the nominal value if it had been determined by using the discounted  cash 
flow method using discount rate that reflects the issuer’s borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own 
non-performance risk as at 30 September 2014 was also assessed to be insignificant.

The nominal, book and fair values of financial assets and liabilities have been analysed into categories as below:

Group Interest rate

2014
Nominal

value
£m

2014
Book
value

£m

2014
Fair

value
£m

2013
Nominal

value
£m

2013
Book
value

£m

2013
Fair

value
£m

Bank borrowings:

Tranche A (old facility) LIBOR + 3.5%* – – – 81 77 81 

Tranche B LIBOR + 4.5% 66 66 66 – – –

Tranche C LIBOR + 4.0% 15 15 15 – – –

81 81 81 81 77 81 

Corporate bonds:

Debenture – issued 3 February 1999 6% – – – 60 60 61 

Secured bond – issued 9 May 2000 6.875% 125 125 133 125 125 119 

Secured bond – issued 15 February 2001 6.875% 125 124 134 125 124 123 

Secured bond – issued 26 February 2002 6.375% 275 273 277 275 273 237 

Secured bond – issued 3 March 2003 6.5% 600 600 647 600 601 618 

Unsecured convertible bond – issued 10 
September 2013 3.5% 97 75 98 97 73 97 

1,222 1,197 1,289 1,282 1,256 1,255

Securitised bonds:

A3 – issued 30 March 1999 6.542% 386 393 409 433 442 444 

A4 – issued 20 September 2002 5.659% 420 421 429 452 453 434 

M – issued 30 March 1999 7.395% 225 237 236 225 238 214 

N – issued 20 September 2002 6.464% 190 195 182 190 195 143 

1,221 1,246 1,256 1,300 1,328 1,235 

2,524 2,524 2,626 2,663 2,661 2,571 

Finance lease payables (note 26) – 3 3 – 4 4 

Total debt 2,524 2,527 2,629 2,663 2,665 2,575 

Cash† (123) (123) (144) (144)

Underlying net debt/Net debt (note 25) 2,401 2,404 2,519 2,521 

*  A minimum of the drawn balance and £220 million of tranche A of the old forward start facility attracted incremental interest of 1% from the date of 
agreement of the new forward start facility on 31 May 2012 until its expiry on 16 December 2013.

†  Cash balances, in the current year and in the prior year, within the Group include £65 million held within a securitised Reserve Account. Withdrawals can 
only be made from this account with the consent of the securitised Trustee.

The nominal value of financial assets and liabilities is the principal amount.

The book value of financial assets and liabilities includes unamortised fees, fair value adjustments made on acquisition 
and excludes the value ascribed to the equity element of the convertible loan note.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Company

2014
Nominal

value
£m

2014
Book
value

£m

2014
Fair

value
£m

2013
Nominal

value
£m

2013
Book
value

£m

2013
Fair

value
£m

Bank borrowings:

Tranche A (old facility) LIBOR + 3.5%* – – – 81 77 81 

Tranche B LIBOR + 4.5% 66 66 66 – – –

Tranche C LIBOR + 4.0% 15 15 15 – – –

81 81 81 81 77 81 

Corporate bonds:

Debenture – issued 3 February 1999 6% – – – 60 60 61 

Secured bond – issued 9 May 2000 6.875% 125 125 133 125 125 119 

Secured bond – issued 15 February 2001 6.875% 125 124 134 125 124 123 

Secured bond – issued 26 February 2002 6.375% 275 273 277 275 273 237 

Secured bond – issued 3 March 2003 6.5% 600 600 647 600 601 618 

1,125 1,122 1,191 1,185 1,183 1,158 

1,206 1,203 1,272 1,266 1,260 1,239

Finance lease payables (note 26) – 1 1 – 1 1 

Intercompany:

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings (182) (182) (182) (150) (150) (150)

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 97 76 76 97 73 73 

Total debt 1,121 1,098 1,167 1,213 1,184 1,163 

Cash (35) (35) (39) (39)

Underlying net debt/Net debt (note 25) 1,086 1,063 1,174 1,145 

*  A minimum of the drawn balance and £220 million of tranche A of the old forward start facility attracted incremental interest of 1% from the date of 
agreement of the new forward start facility on 31 May 2012 until its expiry on 16 December 2013.

The bank borrowings, corporate bonds and securitised bonds are held at amortised cost. Finance lease payables 
represent the present value of future minimum lease payments. Other categories of financial instruments include trade 
receivables and trade payables. However there is no difference between the book value and fair value of these items.

Bank borrowings

The forward start facility comprised of a tranche B of £66 million and a tranche C of £75 million which were due to 
expire in June 2016, tranche A having been cancelled in September 2013. Tranche B was a term loan with tranche C 
being a revolving facility. The margin over LIBOR payable under tranche B and C was 4.5% and 4.0% respectively. The 
margin over LIBOR payable on the tranche C loan was due to be reduced to 3.5% following repayment of the B facility. 
A utilisation fee of 0.5% was payable if tranche C was more than 66% drawn.

On 7 October 2014 a new £138 million non-amortising revolving credit facility was agreed, which is available through 
to September 2018 which replaced the forward start facility. This has extended the maturity compared to the current 
forward start facility and also benefits from improved terms, simplified covenants and lower pricing with a new interest 
rate of 3% over LIBOR. 
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24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Corporate bonds

On 3 February 2014, the Group repaid upon maturity a £60 million corporate bond from available cash flow.

On 10 September 2013 Enterprise Funding Limited (the Issuer) issued a £97 million 3.5% guaranteed convertible bond 
due 2020 (the bond) at par. The Parent Company has unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed the due and punctual 
performance by the Issuer of all of its obligations (including payments) in respect of the bond. The obligations of the 
Parent Company, as guarantor, constitute direct, unsubordinated, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Parent 
Company. 

Subject to the terms, the bond is convertible into preference shares of the Issuer which are automatically transferred to 
the Parent Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Parent Company. The bond converts at a premium of 35% 
to the share price on 10 September 2013 of 141.5p, which means that the bond is convertible based on an exchange 
share price of 191.0p into 50.8 million ordinary shares. The exchange share price is adjusted on the happening of certain 
events, including the payment of a dividend. 

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for convertible financial instruments, the proceeds received from the 
convertible bond issue were split, with an initial £75 million recorded as a liability and £22 million recorded within equity, 
stated net of costs of £2 million and £1 million respectively. The difference between the effective interest charged and 
the actual interest paid is added to the liability element over the life of the convertible bonds.

On 7 October 2014 the Group completed a partial refinancing of the secured bond - issued 3 March 2003 due for 
repayment in 2018 (£600 million 2018 corporate bonds). The partial refinancing will result in a lower interest cost and 
an extended debt maturity. Prior to the refinancing £600 million of 2018 secured corporate bonds were outstanding 
with a coupon of 6.5%. The Group received and accepted tender instructions for £249.5 million of these bonds at a 
cash purchase price of 108.75% of their principal amount. In connection with this partial refinancing the Group issued 
new £249.5 million secured corporate bonds due in October 2023 at a coupon of 6.0%, resulting in a reduction of the 
corporate bonds due in 2018 to £350.5 million. The new issue benefits from a security package on substantially the same 
terms as the original £600 million 2018 corporate bonds. 

Securitised bonds

During the year the Group has made scheduled repayments of the Unique A3 and A4 securitised bonds, which together 
with £10 million of bonds purchased and cancelled, leaves £1,221 million outstanding at the year end. At 30 September 
2014 the Group was £79 million ahead of the amortisation schedule through early repayment and market purchases.

Intercompany

The amount owed to subsidiary undertakings relates to the issue of the convertible bonds in Enterprise Funding Limited, 
these proceeds have been on-loaned to Enterprise Inns plc on the same terms with an amount recorded in equity and 
an amount recorded as a liability.

Financial instruments and risk

The Group’s financial instruments comprise bank borrowings, corporate bonds, securitised bonds and cash. The main 
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk and liquidity risk. There is no currency 
exposure as all transactions are in sterling. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and 
they are summarised as follows:
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at 30 September 2014

24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Liquidity risk

The Group has exposure to liquidity risk, being the risk that payments cannot be made when they fall due. The Group’s 
objective is to maintain a balance between the continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings, 
corporate bonds and securitised bonds.

This objective is achieved through the following processes:

 ■ regular cash flow forecasting and reporting through the treasury function;

 ■ regular review of the Group’s debt portfolio including maturities and repayment profile; and

 ■ maintenance of undrawn bank facilities.

The proportion of nominal value of borrowings (excluding finance lease payables and intercompany balances) comprised: 

Group Company

2014 2013 2014 2013

Bank borrowings 3% 3% 7% 6%

Corporate bonds 49% 48% 93% 94%

Securitised bonds 48% 49% – –

The maturity of the debt and interest payments is set out below:

2014 2013

Group
Debt

£m
Interest

£m
Total

£m
Debt

£m
Interest

£m
Total

£m

In more than five years 1,455 514 1,969 2,147 648 2,795 

In more than two years but not more 
than five years 843 418 1,261 316 436 752 

In more than one year but not more 
than two years 117 151 268 71 159 230 

In one year or less or on demand 109 157 266 129 165 294 

2,524 1,240 3,764 2,663 1,408 4,071 

2014 2013

Company
Debt

£m
Interest

£m
Total

£m
Debt

£m
Interest

£m
Total

£m

In more than five years 525 239 764 1,125 313 1,438 

In more than two years but not more 
than five years 600 222 822 81 224 305 

In more than one year but not more 
than two years 43 76 119 – 79 79 

In one year or less or on demand 38 78 116 60 81 141 

1,206 615 1,821 1,266 697 1,963 

The table above shows the contractual, undiscounted cash flows due in future periods to settle the debt and interest 
payments. The total amount of debt payable shown above differs from the total book value of debt of £2,527 million 
(2013: £2,665 million) in the Group and £1,204 million (2013: £1,261 million) in the Parent Company as the book value 
of debt includes unamortised fees, fair value adjustments made on acquisition and excludes the value ascribed to the 
equity element of the convertible loan note. The contractual maturity of trade and other payables is within one year. 

An analysis of minimum lease payments due under finance leases is set out in note 26.
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24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The Group’s bank borrowings, corporate bonds and securitised bonds are repayable as follows:

Bank borrowings:

Forward start facility tranche B* 2014–2016

Forward start facility tranche C* 2016

Corporate bonds:

£125 million 6.875% bond 2025

£125 million 6.875% bond 2021

£275 million 6.375% bond 2031

£600 million 6.5% bond† 2018

£97 million 3.5% convertible bond 2020

Securitised bonds:

A3 2013–2021

A4 2013–2027

M 2021–2024

N 2027–2032

*  Since the year end the forward start facility was replaced with a £138 million new revolving credit facility which expires in 2018.
†   Since the year end the £600 million 6.5% bond was partially refinanced resulting in a £350.5 million 6.5% bond due in 2018 and a £249.5 million 6% 

bond due in 2023. 

Details of undrawn borrowing facilities available at 30 September are as follows:

Group Company

Expiring:
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

In more than five years 190 190 – –

In more than two years but not more than five years – 22 – 22

In more than one year but not more than two years 60 38 60 38

In one year or less or on demand – 39 – 39

250 289 60 99

Group Company

The undrawn facilities relate to:
2014

£m
2013

£m
2014

£m
2013

£m

Undrawn liquidity facility 190 190 – –

Undrawn element of committed bank facility 60 99 60 99

The liquidity facility is in respect of the Unique securitisation and is a renewable committed facility of £190 million 
for a term of 364 days. The liquidity facility is available to meet certain payment obligations falling due in the Unique 
securitisation to the extent that insufficient funds are received to meet such payments. The liquidity facility is due for 
renewal on 24 September 2015. The facility relates to the N bonds which are repayable 2027–2032 and therefore the 
facility has been disclosed as expiring in more than five years.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group borrows its corporate bonds and securitised bonds at a fixed rate. Bank borrowings and cash balances attract 
interest at a floating rate. The Group’s objective is to manage exposure to changes in interest rates. This exposure is 
managed by borrowing at fixed rates on the majority of its debt. At 30 September 2014, the Group’s borrowings were 
97% fixed with an average interest rate of 6.3% for 8 years (2013: 97% fixed at an average rate of 6.3% for 8 years). 
The Parent Company’s borrowings were 93% fixed with an average interest rate of 6.5% for 8 years (2013: 94% fixed 
at an average rate of 6.5% for 8 years).

Interest rate sensitivity

In estimating the sensitivity of the financial instruments we have assumed a reasonable potential change in interest 
rates. The method used assumes that all other variables are held constant to determine the impact on profit before tax. 
The analysis is for illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation.

Actual results in the future may differ materially from these estimates due to the movements in the underlying 
transactions, actions taken to mitigate any potential losses, the interaction of more than one sensitivity occurring, and 
further developments in global financial markets. As such the below should not be considered as a projection of likely 
future gains and losses in these financial instruments.

If interest rates were to increase by 50 basis points (0.5%) the interest receivable in the Group would increase by £1 
million (2013: £1 million) and the interest payable would increase by £1 million (2013: £1 million). If interest rates were to 
decrease by 50 basis points (0.5%) the interest receivable in the Group would decrease by £1 million (2013: £1 million) 
and the interest payable would decrease by £1 million (2013: £1 million).

If interest rates were to increase by 50 basis points (0.5%) the interest receivable in the Parent Company would increase 
by £2 million (2013: £1 million) and the interest payable would increase by £1 million (2013: £1 million). If interest rates 
were to decrease by 50 basis points (0.5%) the interest receivable in the Parent Company would decrease by £2 million 
(2013: £1 million) and the interest payable would decrease by £1 million (2013: £1 million).

Security

The bank borrowings are secured by a security deed entered into by the companies which comprise the Group, excluding 
Enterprise Inns Holding Company Limited and its subsidiaries, Unique Pubs Limited and its subsidiaries and Enterprise 
Funding Limited. The lenders have a floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings of such Group companies. 
The floating charge ranks subsequent to the fixed charges created by the corporate bonds.

The total value of assets within the Group secured by way of a fixed or floating charge as at 30 September 2014 
is property, plant and equipment £3,809 million (2013: £3,923 million), operating lease premiums £10 million (2013: 
£11 million) and non-current assets held for sale £30 million (2013: £39 million). The value of assets within the Parent 
Company secured by way of a fixed or floating charge as at 30 September 2014 is property, plant and equipment £1,944 
million (2013: £2,003 million), operating lease premiums £4 million (2013: £4 million) and non-current assets held for sale 
£13 million (2013: £30 million).
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24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The security pledged for the Group’s debt is summarised below:

Debt Instrument Security

Bank borrowings –  1st floating charge over the balance of pubs in the Parent Company not already 
secured by a 1st fixed charge created by the corporate bonds.

–  2nd floating charge over the pubs secured by a 1st fixed charge created by the 
corporate bonds.

–  Share pledge over Unique Pubs Limited.

Corporate bonds (excluding the unsecured 
convertible bond)

–  1st fixed charge over the 2,026 pubs in the Parent Company valued by GVA Grimley 
Limited (see note 17).

–  2nd floating charge over the balance of pubs in the Parent Company.

Securitised bonds –  Collectively over the whole Securitisation the security incorporates a 1st fixed charge 
in favour of the Trustee over the Issuer’s right, title, interest and benefit, present and 
future to all properties, cash, eligible investments and income generated by Unique 
Pub Properties Limited.

Covenants

The Group is subject to a number of covenants in relation to its borrowing facilities. There are four covenants that 
relate to the bank borrowings, which are tested quarterly. There are two leverage covenants and two asset valuation 
covenants. There is sufficient headroom on all four of these covenants. The new revolving credit facility benefits from 
simplified covenants and does not reflect one of the leverage covenants.

There are two covenants that relate to the corporate bonds (excluding the unsecured convertible bond); an asset value 
covenant and a net annual income covenant. At the year end there is an annual valuation of the pub estate and a review 
of the annual income for the pubs secured under each of the corporate bonds. The valuation is undertaken by a firm of 
independent chartered surveyors. The directors certify the net annual income as part of an annual compliance exercise. 
In the event that pub values or pub incomes have fallen, there may be a requirement to add more pubs to the security of 
the corporate bonds and any addition of new pubs must be completed within 90 days of the year end. There is sufficient 
headroom in both of these covenants.

There are two covenants that relate to the securitised bonds which are tested at each quarter end. These covenants are 
based solely on the assets held within the securitised bonds and comprise a net asset covenant and a debt service cover 
covenant. There is sufficient headroom in both of these covenants.

The Group tests all of the above covenants on a regular basis and forecasts are prepared during the budgeting process. 
These are reviewed at Board level.
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

24. Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Change of control

All of the agreements in relation to bank borrowings and corporate bonds to which the Group is party, contain provisions 
that allow the counterparties to terminate funding in certain circumstances where there has been a change of control of 
the Parent Company. These are detailed below:

Agreement Summary of change of control clause

Forward start facility agreement dated 31 May 2012 
(which commenced on 16 December 2013)

If any person or group of persons acting in concert gains control of the 
Company then the Company shall promptly notify the agents and lenders. If 
any lender so requires, it may cancel its commitments to the Company and 
require the Company to repay all loans outstanding to it.

£125 million 6.875% secured bonds due 2025 
£125 million 6.875% secured bonds due 2021 
£275 million 6.375% secured bonds due 2031 
£600 million 6.5% secured bonds due 2018 

The terms and conditions of each of the secured bonds provide that following 
the occurrence of a restructuring event, which is defined in the terms and 
conditions to include:
(i) any person or persons acting in concert becoming interested in more than 
50% of the shares of the Company; or
(ii) any person or group of connected persons acquiring control of the 
Company; or
(iii) any person or persons acquiring the right to appoint more than 50% of the 
directors of the Company, the secured bonds must:
(a) if they are not rated, after a written resolution of the bondholders, either be 
redeemed by the Company or the Company must successfully seek an 
investment grade rating for the secured bonds; or
(b) if they are rated and such rating is below investment grade or later falls 
below investment grade, be redeemed by the Company.

Unsecured convertible bond due 2020 If any person or persons, acting together, acquire(s) or becomes entitled to 
control more than 50% of the votes that may ordinarily be cast on a poll at a 
general meeting of the Parent Company, the holder of each bond will have the 
right to require the Issuer to redeem that bond on the change of control put 
date at its principal amount, together with accrued and unpaid interest up to 
(but excluding) such date.

Financing arrangements commencing since the year end:

Revolving credit facility agreement dated 22 September 
2014 (which commenced on 7 October 2014)

If any person or group of persons acting in concert gains control of the 
Company then the Company shall promptly notify the agents and lenders. If 
any lender so requires, it may cancel its commitments to the Company and 
require the Company to repay all loans outstanding to it.

£249.5 million 6% secured bonds due 2023 The terms and conditions of each of the secured bonds provide that following 
the occurrence of a restructuring event, which is defined in the terms and 
conditions to include:
(i) any person or persons acting in concert becoming interested in more than 
50% of the shares of the Company; or
(ii) any person or group of connected persons acquiring control of the 
Company; or
(iii) any person or persons acquiring the right to appoint more than 50% of the 
directors of the Company, the secured bonds must:
(a) if they are not rated, after a written resolution of the bondholders, either be 
redeemed by the Company or the Company must successfully seek an 
investment grade rating for the secured bonds; or
(b) if they are rated and such rating is below investment grade or later falls 
below investment grade, be redeemed by the Company.
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25. Capital disclosures and analysis of changes in net debt
The capital structure is managed to support the Group’s objective of maximising long-term shareholder value through 
ready access to debt and capital markets, cost effective borrowing and flexibility to fund business and acquisition 
opportunities whilst maintaining appropriate leverage to optimise the cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group is based upon management’s judgement of the appropriate balancing of all key 
elements of its financial strategy in order to meet the Group’s operational and strategic requirements. This includes 
a strategy on dividends, share buy-backs and monitoring liquidity risk. The overall financing strategy of the Group is 
presented to the Board annually as part of the budgeting exercise.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of a net debt ratio, being net debt divided by net debt plus equity. Net debt is 
defined as the book value of the Group’s debt less cash. Equity is defined as total shareholders’ funds.

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Total debt 2,527 2,665 1,098 1,184 

Cash (123) (144) (35) (39)

Net debt 2,404 2,521 1,063 1,145 

Equity 1,403 1,402 2,679 2,618 

Net debt ratio 63% 64% 28% 30%

26. Leases
The Group and the Parent Company as lessee

The Group and the Parent Company lease a proportion of their licensed estate from landlords under finance leases and 
operating leases. These leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

Finance leases

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Future minimum lease payments due under finance leases:

In less than one year 1 – – –

After one year but not more than five years 2 2 1 1 

In more than five years 24 25 10 11 

27 27 11 12 

Future finance lease interest (24) (23) (10) (11)

Present value of future minimum lease payments 3 4 1 1 

The present value of future minimum lease payments is due in more than five years (2013: more than five years).

Pubs that are leased from landlords under finance leases are let to tenants. Future minimum rentals receivable in the 
Group, from non-cancellable sub-leases on the above properties are £55 million (2013: £61 million). Future minimum 
rentals receivable in the Parent Company, from non-cancellable sub-leases on the above properties are £21 million (2013: 
£23 million).
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26. Leases (continued)
Operating leases 

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Operating lease rentals recognised as an expense in the year 21 21 20 20

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Future minimum lease payments due under operating leases:

Within one year 20 21 19 20

After one year but not more than five years 78 82 74 78

In more than five years 322 352 301 330

420 455 394 428

Pubs that are leased from landlords under operating leases are let to tenants. Future minimum rentals receivable in the 
Group, from non-cancellable sub-leases on the above properties are £144 million (2013: £150 million). Future minimum 
rentals receivable in the Parent Company, from non-cancellable sub-leases on the above properties are £137 million 
(2013: £144 million).

The Group and Parent Company as lessor

The Group and the Parent Company lease its licensed estate and other non-licensed properties to tenants. The majority 
of lease agreements have terms of between 1 and 30 years and all are classified for accounting purposes as operating 
leases. Most of the leases with terms of over 3 years include RPI based rent adjustments and provision for rent reviews 
on either a 3 or 5 year basis.

The present value of future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under operating leases:

Within one year 148 150 80 81

After one year but not more than five years 492 491 259 258

In more than five years 660 712 302 318

1,300 1,353 641 657

Leases with future minimum lease rentals receivable under operating leases in more than five years within the Group 
have an average term of 13 years (2013: 14 years) remaining on their agreements and within the Parent Company have 
an average term of 12 years (2013: 12 years) remaining on their agreements.
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27. Provisions

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

At 1 October:

Current 7 7 – –

Non-current 4 3 3 3

11 10 3 3

Movement during the year:

Increase in provision during the year 2 2 1 1

Release of provision during the year (2) (1) – (1)

Utilisation of provision (7) – – –

(7) 1 1 –

At 30 September:

Current – 7 – –

Non-current 4 4 4 3

4 11 4 3

During the financial year following a recent decision by the Court of Appeal in their favour, HMRC issued the Group with 
a letter requesting repayment of £6 million plus interest in respect of VAT on gaming machines paid to the Group by 
HMRC in the year ended 30 September 2010. The £6 million was repaid to HMRC in April 2014 and the provision held for 
this amount since its receipt in 2010 was therefore utilised.

HMRC originally paid this amount to the Group on the condition it would be returned if they were successful in an appeal 
in respect of the Rank Group plc gaming machine litigation. The decision on the matter being considered by the Court 
of Appeal was recently announced and found to be in favour of HMRC and accordingly allowed them to recover monies 
paid to the Group in 2010.  There is a separate, but connected, matter which was considered by the European Court of 
Justice and has now been referred back to the UK First Tier Tribunal for a decision, which could also have a bearing on 
whether this amount is ultimately repayable to the Group, or retained by HMRC.

Rank Group plc has also been allowed to appeal to the Supreme Court against the Court of Appeal decision which found 
in favour of HMRC. Therefore litigation is likely to continue on both strands of this case.

The non-current provision in both the Group and Parent Company relates to future commitments under onerous lease 
agreements. The provision is expected to be utilised over the life of leases involved or as the pubs are disposed of. The 
remaining lease terms vary from 0 to 57 years.

28. Deferred tax
The deferred tax in the Balance Sheet relates to the following:

Group Company

2014
£m

2013
£m

2014
£m

2013
£m

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of fixed assets and rolled over gains 191 210 85 90 

Accelerated capital allowances 57 58 38 39 

Share-based payments (2) (3) (2) (3)

Temporary differences (9) (1) (2) 6 

237 264 119 132 

The UK Government reduced the rate of corporation tax by 2% from 23% to 21% effective from 1 April 2014 and 
has previously announced its intention to reduce the rate by an additional 1% to 20% by 1 April 2015. The changes 
in corporation tax to 20% have been substantively enacted and therefore the effects of these reductions have been 
included in the calculation of deferred tax in these financial statements. 
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

28. Deferred tax (continued)
The deferred tax provision for the unrealised surplus on the revaluation of fixed assets in the Group has moved during 
the year as follows:

£m

Opening provision at 1 October 2013 210 

Reduction in deferred tax liability due to indexation credited to the Income Statement (2)

Reduction in deferred tax liability due to movements from revaluation of pub estate and disposals recognised in the 
Income Statement (10)

Reduction in deferred tax liability recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (7)

Closing provision at 30 September 2014 191 

The Group has not provided deferred tax in relation to temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of 
subsidiaries on the basis that under current enacted law, no tax is payable on dividends payable and receivable within 
the Group.

29. Pension
The Group and the Parent Company make defined contribution payments to employees’ own pension plans and these 
payments are charged to the Income Statement as incurred.

RetailLink Management Limited (a subsidiary company that has now been liquidated as part of a Group reorganisation) 
established a pension plan for its employees in January 1999. The plan has defined contribution and defined benefit 
schemes. The plan is now closed to new members and for the future accrual of benefits.

The plan is governed by the employment laws of the United Kingdom which require final salary payments to be adjusted 
for the consumer price index upon payment during retirement. The level of benefits provided depends on a member’s 
length of service and salary at retirement age. The fund has a legal form of foundation and is governed by the Board of 
Pension Trustees. The Board of Trustees is responsible for the administration of the plan assets and for the definition of 
the investment strategy.

In April 2014, the Trustees of the RetailLink Management Limited pension plan (the Plan) and the Company committed 
to a bulk annuity buyout of the defined benefit section of the Plan, crystallising a liability of £10 million payable through 
a deferred payment schedule over the next four years. The initial stage of this process has now been completed and 
involved the Trustees using the Plan’s defined benefit section assets to purchase a bulk annuity policy from Legal & 
General Assurance Society Limited (LGAS). The policies commenced with effect from 30 April 2014 and will be held 
for the time being as investments of the Plan. Once the deferred premiums have been paid, the Trustees intend to ask 
LGAS to issue individual annuity policies to defined benefit section members and then wind-up the Plan, after which the 
Company will no longer retain any responsibilities or obligations to the members of the Plan. As a result of the above 
arrangements, a provision for a settlement charge of £10 million has been recorded within exceptional administration 
costs. The Income Statement charge also includes an estimate of ongoing administration costs to be incurred by the 
plan in the period to final settlement.

In view of the relative insignificance of the pension scheme, both on a gross and net basis, the Group has elected to only 
present summarised disclosures to one decimal place in respect of the scheme.
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29. Pension (continued)

Assets and liabilities of the plan
2014

£m
2013

£m

Fair value of plan assets:

Equities – 4.7 

Bonds – 19.7 

Cash 0.1 0.1 

Assets held by insurance companies 26.9 –

27.0 24.5 

Present value of plan liabilities (27.0) (24.4)

Provision for deferral premiums and future administrative costs (10.0) –

Net pension (deficit)/surplus (10.0) 0.1

Recognised in the Balance Sheet as:
2014

£m
2013

£m

Current liabilities (2.9) –

Non-current liabilities (7.1) 0.1

(10.0) 0.1

Movement in (deficit)/surplus during the year
2014

£m
2013

£m

Net surplus/(deficit) at the start of the year 0.1 (0.6)

Employer contributions 0.5 1.1 

Net expense recognised in the Income Statement (9.6) (0.3)

Remeasurement loss (1.0) (0.1)

Net pension (deficit)/surplus at the end of the year (10.0) 0.1

The principal assumptions made by the actuaries were: 2014 2013

Rate of increase in pension payments 3.70% 3.70%

Rate of increase of pensions in deferment 2.25% 2.40%

Discount rate 4.50% 4.55%

Inflation assumption 3.45% 3.40%

Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners:

 Men 24 years 24 years

 Women 26 years 26 years

Longevity at age 65 for future pensioners:

 Men 26 years 26 years

 Women 28 years 28 years
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Notes to the Accounts
at 30 September 2014

29. Pension (continued)
The mortality tables used to value the plan’s liabilities are S1NA light tables adjusted for CMI improvements subject to a 
minimum annual long-term improvement of 1.25% p.a. for current pensioners and for future retirees (with a -1 year age 
adjustment for females). These tables give a life expectancy as set out above.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as at 30 September 2014 is as shown below:

Mortality Discount rate Inflation rate

Sensitivity level
decrease by 

1 year - 0.25% + 0.25% - 0.25% + 0.25%

£m £m £m £m £m

Increase/(reduction) in pension deficit at  
30 September 2014 0.7 1.3 (1.2) (0.6) 0.7

Applying the above changes to the analysis of projected pension cost as at 30 September 2015 does not have any 
significant effect.

The Company will not be making any contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years following the bulk annuity 
buyout.

30. Share capital

Authorised:
2014 2013

No. £m No. £m

Ordinary shares of 2.5p each 1,000,000,000 25 1,000,000,000 25

     

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
2014 2013

No. £m No. £m

Ordinary shares of 2.5p each 555,977,435 14 555,977,435 14

Ordinary shares carry no right to fixed income. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to vote at meetings.

At 30 September 2014, the Group owned 50 million (2013: 50 million) of its own shares as treasury shares with a 
nominal value of £1 million (2013: £1 million) and a market value of £62 million (2013: £72 million). In addition, at  
30 September 2014 the Group held 4,645,712 shares with a nominal value of £0.1 million and a market value of £6 
million (2013: 6,498,869 shares, nominal value £0.2 million, market value £9 million). These shares are held by the 
Employee Benefit Trust and are shares used to satisfy awards made under the Enterprise Inns Incentive Plans and other 
share option schemes (note 31).

31. Share-based payments
The Group operates share-based payment schemes for both directors and other employees. Details of the Deferred 
Share Award and Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) which form part of the remuneration of the executive directors are 
given in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 46.

The Group also operates a Share Incentive Plan (SIP), an Employee Share Option Scheme (ESOS), and a Save As You 
Earn Scheme (SAYE).

A total expense of £2 million (2013: £2 million) has been incurred in the year in relation to share-based payments. This 
expense relates wholly to the equity-settled schemes described above.

Share Incentive Plan

The SIP is open to all employees. At times determined by the Parent Company, employees may allocate the lower of 
£1,500 or 10% of pre-tax salary to purchase shares out of their salary. The Board may also decide to award matching 
shares. The shares are held in trust on behalf of the employee. If shares are removed from trust within three years, any 
allocation of matching shares may be lost. Shares can be transferred tax-free to employees after a period of five years. 
Matching shares were awarded every year from 2005 to 2014.

The cost of the matching shares is being spread over the three year vesting period of the scheme. 
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31. Share-based payments (continued)
Details of the number of matching shares held in trust during the year are as follows:

2014 2013

Outstanding at beginning of year 955,084 1,040,292 

Granted 220,350 217,694 

Vested (230,594) (286,806)

Forfeited/expired (9,946) (16,096)

Outstanding at end of year 934,894 955,084 

Weighted average remaining contractual life 0.9 years 1.2 years

Employee Share Option Scheme     

The ESOS is open to all employees. Share options are awarded to employees at the discretion of the Board. Options 
will normally vest after three years if an employee remains in service and if EPS targets are met. For options granted 
during the year ended 30 September 2013 options will only vest in full if adjusted EPS is 21.2 pence for the year ended  
30 September 2015. There were no options granted during the year ended 30 September 2014. Options may normally 
only be exercised during the period of seven years commencing on the third anniversary of the date of grant of the 
option. Options will usually be settled using ordinary shares held by the Employee Benefit Trust. 

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2014 2013

Number of
share

options

Weighted 
average
exercise 

price
£

Number of
share

options

Weighted 
average
exercise 

price
£

Outstanding at beginning of year 16,962,727 1.04 16,771,119 1.08

Granted – 0.00 6,744,100 0.96

Forfeited/expired (5,194,086) 1.13 (6,552,492) 1.04

Outstanding at end of year 11,768,641 1.00 16,962,727 1.04

Weighted average remaining contractual life 7.2 years 7.9 years

Options outstanding at 30 September 2014 comprise the following:

Exercise date

Number of
share

options

Exercise
price

£

Exercisable:

07/12/07-07/12/14 122,096 3.51

18/05/08-18/05/15 134,334 3.79

06/12/08-06/12/15 763,124 4.45

1,019,554

Not yet exercisable:

12/12/14-12/12/21 4,665,657 0.37

16/05/15-16/05/22 150,000 0.65

12/12/15-12/12/22 5,933,430 0.96

10,749,087

11,768,641

There were no options granted during the year under the ESOS. The weighted average fair value of options granted 
during the prior year under the ESOS was £0.36.
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31. Share-based payments (continued)
SAYE scheme

The SAYE scheme is open to executive directors and employees at the discretion of the Board. Participants contract to 
save a fixed amount each month with a savings institution for a period of five years (previously a seven year scheme 
has also been offered). At the end of the savings term, participants are given the option to purchase shares at a price 
set before the savings began. The option price will be not less than 80% of the market value of a share on the date 
that participants are invited to take part in the scheme, or the nominal value of a share, if higher. Options will usually be 
settled using ordinary shares held by the Employee Benefit Trust and will usually be exercisable for six months after the 
fifth or seventh anniversary of the commencement of the savings contract.

Details of the share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2014 2013

Number of
share

options

Weighted 
average
exercise 

price
£

Number of
share

options

Weighted 
average
exercise 

price
£

Outstanding at beginning of year 5,726,572 0.33 5,782,450 0.32

Granted 389,085 1.21 574,552 0.54

Exercised (934,443) 0.51 (103,525) 0.32

Forfeited/expired (197,367) 0.32 (526,905) 0.44

Outstanding at end of year 4,983,847 0.36 5,726,572 0.33

Weighted average remaining contractual life 3.2 years 3.5 years

Options outstanding at 30 September 2014 comprise the following:

Exercise date

Number of
share

options

Exercise
price

£

01/02/14–01/08/16 2,839 0.51

01/02/15–01/08/17 34,786 1.00

01/02/16–01/08/18 69,113 0.80

01/02/17–01/08/19 3,958,882 0.24

01/02/18–01/08/18 531,617 0.54

01/02/19–01/08/19 386,610 1.21

4,983,847

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year under the SAYE scheme was £0.96 (2013: £0.67).

Deferred Share Award and LTIP

Executive directors are eligible to participate in a Deferred Share Award and an LTIP plan. A summary of the rules of 
these schemes along with details of shares that have been granted and are outstanding in relation to individual directors 
is included in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 66.

Other members of the management team are also eligible to participate in a Deferred Share Award scheme. Share 
awards vest based on achievement of personal objectives and/or Group EPS targets. Shares awarded vest over between 
one and two years from fulfilment of performance targets.
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31. Share-based payments (continued)
Details of the total number of share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

2014 2013

LTIP
Number of

share
options

Deferred Share 
Award

Number of
share

options

LTIP
Number of

share
options

Deferred Share 
Award

Number of
share

options

Outstanding at beginning of year 7,080,759 3,524,375 5,962,758 3,277,833 

Granted 746,474 1,135,610 2,711,007 246,542 

Exercised – (874,843) – –

Forfeited/released (2,924,517) – (1,593,006) –

Outstanding at end of year 4,902,716 3,785,142 7,080,759 3,524,375 

Weighted average remaining contractual life 2.4 years 1.8 years 2.9 years 1.5 years

The share price at which the number of shares granted under the Deferred Share Award scheme is calculated, is not 
confirmed until after the date of the approval of the accounts. The maximum number of Deferred Share Award shares 
granted during the year is therefore estimated using the closing share price on 30 September 2014. The number of 
shares granted in 2013 has been amended to show the actual number granted in 2013.

Where the conditions are not met the shares are released in the forfeited/released line.

Directors and other members of the management team eligible to participate in the Deferred Share Award pay £1 
to exercise awards granted under the Deferred Share Award and the LTIP. This is a one-off charge. All of the shares 
outstanding at 30 September 2014 are not yet exercisable.

The weighted average fair value of shares granted during the year under the Deferred Share Award was £1.24 (2013: 
£1.48 restated for actual number of shares granted in 2013) and under the LTIP was £0.76 (2013: £0.69).

The weighted average share price on exercise of shares and share options under all schemes during the year was £1.51 
(2013: £1.10).

Fair value of share schemes

The fair value of equity-settled share options and share awards granted is estimated at the date of grant using share 
option valuation models. The ESOS, SAYE and Deferred Share Award schemes are valued using the Black-Scholes 
model. The element of the LTIP scheme that relates to non-market conditions is valued using the Black-Scholes model. 
The element of the LTIP that includes market conditions is valued using the Monte-Carlo Simulation Model. 

The following tables list the inputs to the models for options and shares granted during the year:

ESOS SAYE

Weighted average: 2014 2013 2014 2013

Share price (£) – 0.96 1.60 0.93

Exercise price (£) – 0.96 1.21 0.54

Dividend yield – 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility – 53% 62% 76%

Risk-free interest rate – 0.42% 1.76% 1.06%

Expected life of option (years) – 3 5 5
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31. Share-based payments (continued)
Deferred Share Award LTIP

Weighted average: 2014 2013* 2014 2013

Share price (£) 1.38 0.96 1.38 0.96

Exercise price (£) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%

Expected volatility 49% 71% 55% 67%

Risk-free interest rate 1.12% 0.61% 1.38% 0.63%

Expected life of option (years) 2–4† 2–4† 3–5‡ 3–5‡

*   The share price at which the number of shares granted under the Deferred Share Award scheme is calculated, is not confirmed until after the date of the 
approval of the accounts. The maximum number of Deferred Share Award shares granted during the year is therefore estimated using the closing share 
price on 30 September 2014. The 2013 weighted averages have been amended to reflect the actual number of shares granted in 2014.

†  The Deferred Share Award for the executive directors vests in four years, the Deferred Share Award for the executive management vests in two equal 
tranches after 2 and 3 years and the Deferred Share Award for the other members of the senior team vests after 3 years.

‡ The LTIP vests in three equal tranches after three, four and five years.

Expected share-price volatility is based on historic volatility over the same period of time as the vesting period of the 
option. For the LTIP the expected life of an option is based on historical data.

The LTIP will only vest in full if a TSR target is met. This is a market condition and the TSR performance criteria has therefore 
been taken into account when calculating the fair value of the options granted under the LTIP. These conditions have been 
incorporated into the Monte-Carlo Simulation model which is used to fair value the TSR element of the scheme. 

32. Reserves
Share premium account

This reserve represents the amount of proceeds received for shares in excess of their nominal value of 2.5 pence per 
share.

Revaluation reserve

This reserve shows the surplus generated on revaluation of the estate. It represents the amount by which the fair value 
of the estate exceeds its historic cost net of related tax.

Capital redemption reserve

This reserve arose on the repurchase and cancellation of own shares in 1995/96, 2005/06, 2006/07 and 2007/08.

Merger reserve

This reserve arose as a consequence of the acquisition of Century Inns plc in 1998/99.

Treasury share reserve

This reserve shows the cost of own shares purchased by the Parent Company and held as treasury shares. These shares 
can be cancelled or re-issued.

Other reserve

In the Group this comprises the cost of shares in the Parent Company that are held by the Employee Benefit Trust and 
the equity component of the convertible bond. The shares in the Employee Benefit Trust are used to satisfy awards made 
under share incentive plans (note 31).

In the Parent Company this comprises the cost of shares in the Company that are held by the Employee Benefit Trust 
and the equity component of the on-loan of the funds raised in Enterprise Funding Limited through the convertible bond. 
This reserve also includes the increase in fair value of subsidiaries recorded at fair value under IAS 27 and the dividends 
received from Enterprise Pubs Five Limited that cannot be distributed outside the Group.

In the year ended 30 September 2013, £36 million was reclassified from other reserves to the profit and loss account in 
the Parent Company following an adjustment to the carrying value of investments prior to transition to IFRS.
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33. Additional cash flow information
a) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2014
£m

2013
£m

(Decrease)/increase in cash in the year (21) 19 

Cash outflow from change in debt 139 176 

Issue costs of new long-term loans – 2 

Movement in finance lease payables 1 –

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 119 197 

Amortisation of issue costs and discounts/premiums on long-term loans (4) (8)

Gain on purchase of own debt – 1 

Amortisation of the fair value adjustments of securitised bonds 4 5 

Convertible loan note effective interest (2) –

Movement in other reserve arising on convertible bond issue – 21 

Movement in net debt in the year 117 216 

Net debt at start of year (2,521) (2,737)

Net debt at end of year (2,404) (2,521)

b) Analysis of net debt

2014
£m

2013
£m

Bank borrowings (81) (81)

Corporate bonds (1,222) (1,282)

Securitised bonds (1,221) (1,300)

Gross debt (2,524) (2,663)

Cash 123 144 

Underlying net debt (note 24) (2,401) (2,519)

Capitalised debt issue costs 11 15 

Fair value adjustments on acquisition of bonds (30) (34)

Convertible loan note effective interest (2) –

Convertible bond reserve 21 21 

Finance lease payables (3) (4)

Net debt (note 24) (2,404) (2,521)

Balance Sheet:

Current financial liabilities (109) (129)

Non-current financial liabilities (2,418) (2,536)

Cash 123 144 

Net debt (2,404) (2,521)
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34. Related party transactions
Compensation of key management personnel

2014
£000

2013
£000

Short-term employee benefits 2,233 2,255

Post-employment benefits 256 345

Share-based payments 595 1,764

3,084 4,364

Key management personnel comprises both executive and non-executive directors.

In addition to the above, the Group incurred costs of £596,000 in respect of directors’ remuneration, £104,000 in 
pension contributions and a share-based payment charge of £407,000 in connection with the retirement of Ted Tuppen 
from the Board.

Short-term employee benefits comprise fees, salaries, benefits and performance related bonus as reported in the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report. Post-employment benefits comprise payments made to the directors’ own personal 
pension schemes and salary supplements in lieu of contributions. Share-based payments comprise the fair value 
of Deferred Share Award and LTIP share awards charged in the year. Further information about the remuneration of 
individual directors is available in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 66.

Principal subsidiaries

The Parent Company’s principal subsidiaries are listed in the following table. The list comprises those companies that 
principally affect the results or financial position of the Group.

Country of 
incorporation Holding

Proportion of voting 
rights and shares held Nature of business

Indirectly held by Enterprise Inns plc:

Unique Pub Properties Limited England Ordinary shares 100% Ownership of 
licensed properties

The Unique Pub Finance Company plc England Ordinary shares 100% Financing company

Cumulative 
redeemable
preference

shares 100%

Directly held by Enterprise Inns plc:

Enterprise Funding Limited Jersey Ordinary shares 100% Financing company

Parent Company transactions with subsidiary undertakings

The Parent Company enters into loans with its subsidiary undertakings which attract interest at varying levels. Net 
interest on these loans was £31 million (2013: £29 million).

The following loans were outstanding at the year end:

2014
£m

2013
£m

Loans due from subsidiary undertakings 182 150

Loans due to subsidiary undertakings (76) (73)

106 77
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34. Related party transactions (continued)
During the year ended 30 September 2013 the Group raised funds through the issue of convertible bonds in Enterprise 
Funding Limited, these were on-loaned to Enterprise Inns plc on the same terms with an amount recorded in equity and 
an amount recorded as an intercompany loan.

The Parent Company entered into other trading transactions with its subsidiary undertakings of £60 million (2013:  
£59 million) which includes an Asset Management Fee and a Procurement Fee. During the prior year the Parent Company 
sold property, plant and equipment at book value for consideration of £15 million to its subsidiary, Unique Pub Properties 
Limited.

The following balances were outstanding at the year end:

2014
£m

2013
£m

Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 545 489 

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings (355) (354)

190 135 

35. Post Balance Sheet events
On 7 October 2014 the Group completed a partial refinancing of the 2018 corporate bond. The partial refinancing will 
result in a lower interest cost and an extended debt maturity. Prior to the refinancing £600 million of 2018 secured 
corporate bonds were outstanding with a coupon of 6.5%. The Group received and accepted tender instructions for 
£249.5 million of these bonds at a cash purchase price of 108.75% of their principal amount. In connection with this 
partial refinancing the Group issued new £249.5 million secured corporate bonds due in October 2023 at a coupon 
of 6.0%, resulting in a reduction of the corporate bonds due in 2018 to £350.5 million. The new issue benefits from a 
security package on substantially the same terms as the 2018 bonds.

On 7 October 2014 the Group also replaced the bank facilities with a new £138 million non-amortising revolving credit 
facility which is available through to September 2018. This extends the maturity of the previous facility and also benefits 
from improved terms, simplified covenants and lower pricing with a new interest rate of 300 basis points above LIBOR.

The total cash outflow arising from the bank and bond refinancing was £28 million, being £22 million in respect of  
the repurchase premium on the bond, which will be charged as an exceptional item, and total fees and disbursements 
of £6 million, of which £4 million will be charged as an exceptional item and £2 million will be deferred over the life 
of the new debt instruments. The exceptional charges and all of the cashflows will be recorded in the year ended  
30 September 2015.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the  
Members of Enterprise Inns plc 
Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified 
We have audited the financial statements of Enterprise Inns plc for the year ended 30 September 2014 which comprise the 
Group Income Statement, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group and Parent 
Company Balance Sheets, the Group and Parent Company Statements of Changes in Equity, the Group and Parent Company 
Cash Flow Statements and the related notes 1 to 35. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the 
Parent Company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies 
Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

In our opinion: 

 ■ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at  
30 September 2014 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

 ■ the Group and Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted 
by the European Union and for the Parent Company as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
2006; and

 ■ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as 
regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 67, the directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit 
and express an opinion on the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

Our audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s and the Parent Company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial 
and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
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Our application of materiality
We apply the concept of materiality both in planning and performing our audit, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements 
on our audit and on the financial statements. For the purposes of determining whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement we define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement that makes it probable that the economic 
decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person, relying on the financial statements, would be changed or influenced.

We also determine a lower level of performance materiality which we use to determine the extent of testing needed to 
reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

When establishing our overall audit strategy, we determined a magnitude of uncorrected misstatements that we judged 
would be material for the financial statements as a whole. We determined materiality for the Group to be £6.0 million (2013: 
£6.1 million), which is calculated as 5% (2013: 5%) of pre-exceptional pre-tax profit. We use pre-exceptional pre-tax profit as 
reported by the Group to exclude the impact of exceptional items which do not reflect the underlying trading performance of 
the group thereby avoiding inappropriate variations in our materiality as a result of non-recurring items and fluctuations in the 
carrying value of the pub estate which can be significant compared to underlying trading performance. 

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Group’s overall control environment, our 
judgement is that performance materiality for the Group should be 50% (2013: 50%) of materiality, namely £3.0 million (2013:  
£3.0 million). Our approach is designed to have a reasonable probability of ensuring that the total of uncorrected and undetected 
audit differences does not exceed our materiality of £6.0 million (2013: £6.1 million) for the financial statements as a whole.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit differences in excess of £0.3 million 
(2013: £0.3 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluated any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality discussed above and in 
light of other relevant qualitative considerations.

An overview of the scope of our audit
The Group continues to operate from a single office and has common financial systems, processes and controls covering all 
of its operations. Four legal entities account for 100% of the Group’s revenue, operating profit, pre-exceptional pre-tax profit 
and total assets, one being the Parent Company itself, and all of which were subject to full scope audits for the year ended  
30 September 2014. The audits of these entities are performed at a materiality level calculated by reference to a proportion 
of the Group materiality appropriate to the relevant scale of the business concerned. In the current year, the range of 
performance materiality allocated to components was £1.1 million to £3.0 million. 

The audit of all the companies within the Group is undertaken by one audit team. Due to the nature of the main risk areas 
noted below, the audit team is supported by experts in property valuations, taxation, and the evaluation of the weighted 
average cost of capital.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the  
Members of Enterprise Inns plc
Our assessment of risks of material misstatement
We consider that the following areas present the greatest risk of material misstatement in the financial statements and 
consequently have had the greatest impact on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources and the efforts of the engagement 
team, including the more senior members of the team:

Principal risk area and rationale Audit response

Valuation of the licensed estate

The valuation of the licensed estate, 
including those assets held for sale, which 
total £3.8 billion is described in detail in 
note 17 to the financial statements.

This is the largest estimate within the 
financial statements, built on an asset 
by asset basis. Whilst the valuation is 
performed by a combination of internal 
and external, appropriately qualified 
valuers (as described in note 17) there 
remains a risk that individual assets are 
over or under valued.

In addition, the new requirements of IFRS 
13 “Fair Value Measurement” increase 
the risk of incomplete or inappropriate 
disclosures and introduce a new 
requirement to value assets on a highest 
and best use basis.

We performed detailed sample testing whereby individual movements in pub 
values were investigated and validated to the individual property valuations.

In order to select a sample focused more on those pub valuations we 
considered to be most at risk of misstatement, we analysed features 
including the trading performance of the individual pub, the nature of the rent 
agreement and management’s qualitative analysis of pubs within the overall 
estate. This analysis highlighted those classes of pubs, or pubs, where the 
movement in value was not consistent with our expectations.

In addition, together with our property valuation expert, we met with the 
Group’s internal and external valuers to discuss and challenge the method 
adopted, the derivation of the key inputs of fair maintainable trade and 
multiple (as described in note 17) and the nature and extent of the work 
they performed in preparing the valuations. We sought explanations for 
the movement in the value of the pub estate as a whole, movement in the 
value of appropriate sub divisions of the pub estate, and where necessary, 
movement in the value of individual pubs, satisfying ourselves that the 
explanations were reasonable and supported by appropriate evidence.

Working with our property valuations expert, we challenged the nature and 
extent of the additional disclosures made by the Group in order to address 
the requirements of IFRS 13, including obtaining the views of the internal and 
external valuers. We further challenged the Group and the external valuers 
to ensure that the asset’s highest and best use was reflected in the asset 
valuation both within property, plant and equipment and, where applicable, 
immediately prior to transfer to non-current assets held for sale.

Goodwill

The impairment review of goodwill 
with a carrying value of £338 million is 
considered to be a risk area. This reflects 
the reliance of the impairment review on 
the accuracy of forecast cash flows and 
the sensitivity of the review to the key 
assumptions of discount rate and long 
term growth as described in note 15.

We examined the Group’s forecast cash flows which underpin the goodwill 
impairment review. We challenged the reasonableness of those forecasts 
taking into account the accuracy of previous forecasts and the historic 
evidence supporting underlying assumptions. 

The reasonableness of the key assumptions of discount rate and long term 
growth rate underlying the goodwill impairment review were tested through 
a combination of challenging the Group’s detailed calculations, benchmarking 
the output against comparator companies and, in respect of the discount 
rate assumption, an independent assessment by our experts based on 
general market indicators. We also considered whether any reasonably 
possible change in these key assumptions required disclosure under  
IAS 36 – “Impairment of Assets”.
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Principal risk area and rationale Audit response

Going concern and impact of 
refinancing

The Group has to comply with a range 
of covenants in respect of its corporate 
bonds, securitised bonds and bank 
borrowings as described in note 24; 
compliance with which form a key part of 
the Group’s going concern assessment.

The Group’s forecast cash flows, 
discussed above under goodwill, also 
underpin the going concern assessment.

The refinancing (disclosed in note 35) 
which completed on 7 October 2014 was 
in progress at the year end, giving rise 
to an increased risk that the impact of 
the refinancing was not reflected in the 
correct accounting period.

The Group’s forecasts were subject to review as noted above.

We also recalculated the forecast compliance with the terms of the 
covenants to which the Group and subsidiaries are subject, taking account 
of the relevant terms of the securitised debt structure. 

We understood the contractual arrangements surrounding the Group’s 
refinancing completed on 7 October 2014, paying particular attention to the 
timing of any changes compared to the Group’s period end. 

We challenged the presentation of the Group’s outstanding liabilities subject 
to the refinancing, as non-current liabilities, to satisfy ourselves that this met 
the disclosure requirements of IAS 1 – “Presentation of Financial Statements”. 
We challenged the treatment of both existing liabilities accounted for under 
the effective interest rate method and additional costs incurred as a result of 
the refinancing, to ensure compliance with IAS 39 – “Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement”.

We reviewed the financial statements to ensure the post year end refinancing 
was disclosed appropriately. 

Deferred tax on revaluation of the 
licensed estate

The calculation of the deferred tax 
provision in respect of that element of the 
provision associated with the revaluation 
of licensed land and buildings is complex, 
involving the interaction of accounting 
standards and multiple elements of tax 
legislation. 

This element of the deferred tax 
provision, which totals £191 million, has 
to be calculated in respect of over 5,000 
individual assets using a bespoke tax 
model.

Through the consideration of known and predictable scenarios for a randomly 
selected sample of assets across the estate, working with our tax experts 
we re-performed the calculation of deferred tax to validate the ability of the 
model utilised by the Group to accurately calculate deferred tax on the pub 
estate. This ensured that the model has been correctly established to apply 
current tax legislation and enacted tax rates. 

We also challenged the overall proof of tax prepared by management on a 
performance statement basis and ensured movements in the year were in 
line with our expectations. We investigated any unexplained movement.

The above risks are the same as in the prior year, unless stated otherwise. We have excluded revenue recognition and risk 
of fraud arising from management override of internal controls which were identified last year, as they were not areas of 
greatest audit effort.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the  
Members of Enterprise Inns plc
Our opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 is unmodified
In our opinion:

 ■ the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006; and

 ■ the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the Group financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the Group financial statements.

We have nothing to report in respect of the matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the ISAs (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is: 

 ■ materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or 

 ■ apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the 
course of performing our audit; or 

 ■ is otherwise misleading. 

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired 
during the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report is fair, balanced and understandable and 
whether the annual report appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the audit committee which we 
consider should have been disclosed. 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

 ■ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 
received from branches not visited by us; or

 ■ the Parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

 ■ certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 ■ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

 ■ the directors’ statement, set out on page 27, in relation to going concern; and 

 ■ the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code specified for our review. 

Nigel Meredith (Senior statutory auditor) 
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Birmingham 
17 November 2014
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Five Year Record
year ended 30 September

2014
£m

2013
£m

2012
£m

2011
£m

2010
£m

Revenue 632 639 692 711 758

Operating profit 273 296 322 350 387

Profit before tax & exceptional items 121 121 137 157 175

Profit/(loss) after tax 30 (4) 44 24 26

Adjusted earnings per share (pence) 19.0 19.0 20.5 23.4 25.9

2014
£m

2013
£m

2012
£m

2011
£m

2010
£m

Non-current assets 4,182 4,303 4,629 4,961 5,377 

Current assets* 192 231 229 210 209 

Current liabilities (303) (328) (298) (269) (292)

Non-current liabilities (2,668) (2,804) (3,135) (3,505) (3,887)

Net assets 1,403 1,402 1,425 1,397 1,407 

* Includes non-current assets held for sale.

Analysis of Ordinary Shareholders
at 30 September 2014

Range
Number of 

shareholders % Shares held %

1-1,000 524 32.16 241,919 0.04

1,001-10,000 625 38.37 2,380,486 0.43

10,001-50,000 217 13.32 5,116,461 0.92

50,001-100,000 57 3.50 4,182,316 0.75

100,001-150,000 14 0.86 1,726,858 0.31

150,001-500,000 74 4.54 20,341,221 3.66

500,001-1,000,000 36 2.22 26,140,688 4.71

1,000,001-5,000,000 58 3.56 142,798,580 25.68

5,000,001 and over 24 1.47 353,048,906 63.50

Total 1,629 100 555,977,435 100

The total numbers of shares held above include 50,000,000 shares held in treasury and 4,646,712 held in an Employee 
Benefit Trust.
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Shareholder Information

Annual General Meeting
Will be held at 11.00 a.m. on Thursday 5 February 2015 at 3 
Monkspath Hall Road, Solihull, West Midlands, B90 4SJ.

Financial calendar
Interim management statement – 5 February 2015 
Interim results announcement – 12 May 2015 
Interim management statement – 7 August 2015 
Annual results announcement – 17 November 2015 
Annual General Meeting – 11 February 2016

Shareholder enquiries
Enquiries relating to shareholdings should be made to the 
Company’s Registrars, Computershare Investor Services PLC. 
If you have a query regarding your shareholding please contact 
them direct by using the dedicated telephone enquiry line  
0870 889 4080. You can also use the Registrar’s website to 
check and maintain your records. Details can be found at  
www-uk.computershare.com/investor.

Computershare Investor Services PLC 
The Pavilions 
Bridgwater Road 
Bristol 
BS99 6ZZ

Electronic communications
The Company has introduced innovative ways of 
communicating to shareholders electronically via eTree, an 
environmental incentive programme. For full details and 
to register to receive future communications electronically 
please visit  www.etreeuk.com/enterpriseinns.

Share dealing service

The Registrars offer a share dealing service which allows 
you to buy and sell the Company’s shares if you are a UK 
resident. You can deal in your shares on the internet or by 
telephone. Log onto www.computershare.com/dealing/uk or 
call 0870 703 0084 for more details on this service.

ShareGift
If you only have a small number of shares whose value makes 
it difficult to sell, you may wish to consider donating to charity 
through ShareGift, an independent charity share donation 
scheme. For further details please contact Computershare 
or ShareGift, telephone + 44 (0) 20 7930 3737 or visit  
www.sharegift.org.

Share price information
The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the London 
Stock Exchange. Share price information can be found on the 
website www.enterpriseinns.com or through your broker.

ISIN Number: GB00B1L8B624 
SEDOL Number: B1L8B62 
EPIC Number: ETI

Registered office
If you would like to contact us:

Enterprise Inns plc 
3 Monkspath Hall Road 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B90 4SJ

Telephone: 0121 733 7700 
Email: investorrelations@enterpriseinns.com

Company number
2562808

Advisers:

Auditor
Ernst & Young LLP, No. 1 Colmore Square,  
Birmingham, B4 6HQ

Banker
Lloyds Bank plc, 33 Old Broad Street, London, EC2N 1HZ

Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG London, Winchester House,  
1 Great Winchester Street, London, EC2N 2DB

Barclays Capital, 5 The North Colonnade,  
Canary Wharf, E14 4BB

Solicitor
CMS Cameron McKenna LLP, Mitre House, 160 Aldersgate 
Street, London, EC1A 4DD

Financial public relations
Tulchan Communications Group Ltd, 85 Fleet Street, London, 
EC4Y 1AE
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

This Notice is important and requires your immediate attention. 
If you are in any doubt about the action you should take, you 
should immediately consult your stockbroker, bank manager, 
solicitor, accountant or other independent financial adviser duly 
authorised under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

The 2015 Annual General Meeting of Enterprise Inns plc 
(the “Company”) will be held at the offices of the Company,  
3 Monkspath Hall Road, Solihull, West Midlands, B90 4SJ at 
11.00 a.m. on 5 February 2015 for the following purposes:

Ordinary Resolutions

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions, 
which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1. To receive the directors’ reports and the audited accounts for 
the year ended 30 September 2014 and the Auditor’s Report 
on the accounts.

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year 
ended 30 September 2014 (other than the part containing the 
directors’ remuneration policy).

3. To approve the directors’ remuneration policy contained 
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended  
30 September 2014.

4. To re-elect Robert Walker as a director.

5. To re-elect Simon Townsend as a director.

6. To re-elect Neil Smith as a director.

7. To re-elect David Maloney as a director.

8. To re-elect Peter Baguley as a director.

9. To re-appoint Adam Fowle as a director.

10. To re-appoint Ernst & Young LLP as auditor of the Company, 
to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company. 

11. To authorise the directors to determine Ernst & Young LLP’s 
remuneration as auditor of the Company.

12. To authorise the directors generally and unconditionally 
pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 to exercise 
all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company 
and grant rights to subscribe for or to convert any security into 
shares in the Company (together “relevant securities”) up to an 
aggregate nominal amount of £8,432,957.24 comprising:

a) an aggregate nominal amount of £4,216,478.62 (whether 
in connection with the same offer or issue as under (b) 
below or otherwise); and

b) an aggregate nominal amount of £4,216,478.62, in the 
form of equity securities (within the meaning of section 
560(1) of the Companies Act 2006) in connection with an 
offer or issue by way of rights, open for acceptance for a 
period fixed by the directors, to holders of ordinary shares 
(other than the Company) on the register on any record 
date fixed by the directors in proportion (as nearly as may 
be) to the respective number of ordinary shares deemed 
to be held by them, subject to such exclusions or other 
arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or 
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements, legal or 
practical problems arising in any overseas territory, the 
requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange 
or any other matter whatsoever,

such authority to expire (unless renewed, varied or revoked 
by the Company in general meeting) on the earlier of fifteen 
months from the date this resolution is passed and the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to 
be held in 2016, except that the Company may before such 
expiry make any offer or agreement which would or might 
require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry and 
the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to any such 
offer or agreement as if such authority had not expired.

13. That the Enterprise Inns 2015 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 
“LTIP”) in the form produced to the meeting and initialled 
by the Chairman for the purposes of identification, the 
principal terms of which are summarised in the Appendix to 
this Notice, be and is approved and the directors be and are 
authorised to make such modifications to the LTIP as they may 
consider appropriate to take account of best practice and the 
requirements of the UK Listing Authority and to adopt the LTIP 
as so modified and to do all such acts and things as they may 
consider appropriate to implement the LTIP.

14. That the Enterprise Inns 2015 Save As You Earn Scheme 
(the “SAYE Scheme”) in the form produced to the meeting 
and initialled by the Chairman, the principal terms of which 
are summarised in the Appendix to this Notice, be and 
is approved and the directors be and are authorised to 
make such modifications to the SAYE Scheme as they may 
consider appropriate to take account of best practice and the 
requirements of the UK Listing Authority and to adopt the SAYE 
Scheme as so modified and to do all such acts and things as 
they may consider appropriate to implement the SAYE Scheme.

15. That the Enterprise Inns 2015 Share Incentive Plan (the “SIP”) 
in the form produced to the meeting and initialled by the 
Chairman, the principal terms of which are summarised in the 
Appendix to this Notice, be and is approved and the directors 
be and are authorised to make such modifications to the SIP 
Scheme as they may consider appropriate to take account of 
best practice and the requirements of the UK Listing Authority 
and to adopt the SIP Scheme as so modified and to do all such 
acts and things as they may consider appropriate to implement 
the SIP Scheme.

Special Resolutions

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions, 
which will be proposed as special resolutions:

16. To empower the directors pursuant to section 570 of the 
Companies Act 2006 to allot equity securities (as defined in 
section 560(1) of that Act) for cash pursuant to the general 
authority conferred on them by resolution 12 above and/or to 
sell equity securities held as treasury shares for cash pursuant 
to section 727 of that Act, in each case as if section 561(1) of 
that Act did not apply to any such allotment or sale, provided 
that this power shall be limited to:

a) any such allotment and/or sale of equity securities in 
connection with an offer or issue by way of rights or other 
pre-emptive offer or issue, open for acceptance for a 
period fixed by the directors, to holders of ordinary shares 
(other than the Company) on the register on any record 
date fixed by the directors in proportion (as nearly as may 
be) to the respective number of ordinary shares deemed 
to be held by them, subject to such exclusions or other 
arrangements as the directors may deem necessary or 
expedient in relation to fractional entitlements, legal or 
practical problems arising in any overseas territory, the 
requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange 
or any other matter whatsoever; and
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

b) any such allotment and/or sale, otherwise than pursuant 
to paragraph (a) above, of equity securities having an 
aggregate nominal amount or, in the case of other equity 
securities, giving the right to subscribe for or convert into 
relevant shares having an aggregate nominal amount, not 
exceeding the sum of £694,971.78.

This authority shall expire, unless previously revoked or 
renewed by the Company in general meeting, at such time as 
the general authority conferred on the directors by resolution 
12 above expires, except that the Company may at any time 
before such expiry make any offer or agreement which would 
or might require equity securities to be allotted or equity 
securities held as treasury shares to be sold after such expiry 
and the directors may allot equity securities and/or sell equity 
securities held as treasury shares in pursuance of such an offer 
or agreement as if the power conferred by this resolution had 
not expired.

17. To authorise the Company generally and unconditionally to 
make market purchases (as defined in section 693(4) of the 
Companies Act 2006) of its ordinary shares of 2½ pence each 
provided that in doing so it: 

a) purchases no more than 75,846,017 ordinary shares of 
2½ pence each in aggregate; 

b) pays not less than 2½ pence (excluding expenses) per 
ordinary share of 2½ pence each; and

c) pays a price per share that is not more (excluding 
expenses) per ordinary share than the higher of: (i) 5% 
above the average of the middle market quotations for 
the ordinary shares as derived from the London Stock 
Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days 
immediately before the day on which it purchases that 
share; and (ii) the price stipulated by Article 5(1) of the 
Buy-back and Stabilisation Regulation (EC 2273/2003).

This authority shall expire fifteen months after the date of the 
passing of this resolution or, if earlier, at the conclusion of the 
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2016, 
except that the Company may, if it agrees to purchase ordinary 
shares under this authority before it expires, complete the 
purchase wholly or partly after this authority expires.

18. To authorise the directors to call a general meeting of the 
Company, other than an Annual General Meeting, on not less 
than 14 clear days’ notice.

The directors believe that the proposals in resolutions 1 to 18 
are in the best interests of shareholders as a whole and they 
unanimously recommend that you vote in favour of all the 
resolutions.

On behalf of the Board

L Togher 
Company Secretary  
8 December 2014

Registered office: 
3 Monkspath Hall Road 
Solihull 
West Midlands  
B90 4SJ

Registered in England and Wales No. 2562808

Notes

1. A member who is an individual is entitled to attend, speak and 
vote at the meeting or to appoint one or more other persons as 
his proxy to exercise all or any of his rights on his behalf. Further 
details of how to appoint a proxy, and the rights of proxies, are 
given in the paragraphs below. A member that is a company 
can appoint one or more corporate representatives (such as a 
director or employee of the company) whose attendance at the 
meeting is treated as if the company were attending in person, 
or it can appoint one or more persons as its proxy to exercise 
all or any of its rights on its behalf. In each case, a person 
attending the meeting will need to provide the Company or 
its registrars, Computershare Investor Services PLC, with 
evidence of their identity and, if applicable, their appointment 
as a proxy or corporate representative with authority to vote on 
behalf of a member. 

2. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the 
Annual General Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed 
to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares 
held by that shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of 
the Company. To appoint a proxy or proxies, shareholders must 
complete: (a) a form of proxy, sign it and return it, together with 
the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which 
it is signed, or a notarially certified copy of such authority, to 
the Company’s registrars, Computershare Investor Services 
PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 6ZY; or (b) a 
CREST Proxy Instruction (as set out in paragraph 11 below); or 
(c) an online proxy appointment at www.eproxyappointment.
com (you will need to enter the Control Number, together with 
your unique PIN and Shareholder Reference Number printed 
on your personalised form of proxy), in each case so that it is 
received no later than 11.00 a.m. on 3 February 2015. To appoint 
more than one proxy, you will need to complete a separate 
proxy form in relation to each appointment. A personalised 
form of proxy for use in connection with the Annual General 
Meeting is enclosed with this document. If you do not have a 
personalised form of proxy and believe that you should, please 
contact the Company’s registrars, Computershare Investor 
Services PLC, on 0870 889 4080 or at Computershare Investor 
Services PLC, The Pavilions, Bridgwater Road, Bristol, BS99 
6ZY. 

3. You will need to state clearly on each proxy form the number of 
shares in relation to which the proxy is appointed. A failure to 
specify the number of shares each proxy appointment relates 
to, or specifying a number of shares in excess of those held by 
the member, will result in the proxy appointment being invalid.

4. The return of a completed proxy form, other such instrument 
or any CREST Proxy Instruction (as described in paragraph 11 
below) will not prevent a shareholder attending the Annual 
General Meeting and voting in person if he/she wishes to do 
so. 

5. In the case of joint holders, where more than one of the joint 
holders purports to appoint a proxy, only the appointment 
submitted by the most senior holder will be accepted. Seniority 
is determined by the order in which the names of the joint 
holders appear in the Company’s register of members in 
respect of the joint holding (the first-named being the most 
senior).

6. Any person to whom this Notice is sent who is a person 
nominated under section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to 
enjoy information rights (a “Nominated Person”) may, under 
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an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by 
whom he/she was nominated, have a right to be appointed (or 
to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual 
General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy 
appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, 
under any such agreement, have a right to give instructions to 
the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights. 

7. The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the 
appointment of proxies in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 above does 
not apply to Nominated Persons. The rights described in these 
paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the 
Company.

8. Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities 
Regulations 2001, the Company gives notice that only those 
shareholders included in the register of members of the 
Company at 6.00 p.m. on 3 February 2015 or, if the meeting is 
adjourned, in the register of members at 6.00 p.m. on the day 
which is two days before the day of any adjourned meeting, will 
be entitled to attend and to vote at the Annual General Meeting 
in respect of the number of shares registered in their names 
at that time. Changes to entries on the share register after  
6.00 p.m. on 3 February 2015, or, if the meeting is adjourned, 
in the register of members at 6.00 p.m. on the day which is 
two days before the day of any adjourned meeting, will be 
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend 
or vote at the Annual General Meeting.

9. As at 9.00 a.m. on 8 December 2014, the Company’s issued 
share capital comprised 555,977,435 ordinary shares of  
2½ pence each. Each ordinary share carries the right to one 
vote at a general meeting of the Company and, therefore, the 
total number of voting rights in the Company as at 9.00 a.m. on 
8 December 2014 is 555,977,435.

10. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through 
the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so for the 
Annual General Meeting and any adjournment(s) of the meeting by 
using the procedures described in the CREST Manual (available via  
www.euroclear.com/CREST). CREST personal members or 
other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members 
who have appointed a service provider(s), should refer to their 
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to 
take the appropriate action on their behalf.

11. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the 
CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a 
“CREST Proxy Instruction”) must be properly authenticated in 
accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications, 
and must contain the information required for such instruction, 
as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless 
of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an 
amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed 
proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be 
received by the Company’s agent (ID 3RA50), by the latest time 
for receipt of proxy appointments set out in paragraph 2 above. 
For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the 
time (as determined by the timestamp applied to the message 
by the CREST Applications Host) from which the Company’s 
agent is able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in 
the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time, any change 
of instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be 
communicated to the appointee through other means.

12. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors 
or voting service providers, should note that Euroclear UK & 
Ireland Limited does not make available special procedures in 
CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings 

and limitations will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of 
CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST 
member concerned to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST 
personal member, or sponsored member, or has appointed any 
voting service provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor 
or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be 
necessary to ensure that a message is transmitted by means 
of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, 
CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors 
or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those 
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations 
of the CREST system and timings.

13. Under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, members 
meeting the threshold requirements set out in that section 
have the right to require the Company to publish on a website 
a statement setting out any matter relating to: (i) the audit 
of the Company’s accounts (including the Auditor’s Report 
and the conduct of the audit) that are to be laid before the 
Annual General Meeting; or (ii) any circumstance connected 
with an auditor of the Company ceasing to hold office since 
the previous meeting at which annual accounts and reports 
were laid in accordance with section 437 of the Companies 
Act 2006. The Company may not require the shareholders 
requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses 
in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Act 
2006. Where the Company is required to place a statement 
on a website under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, it 
must forward the statement to the Company’s auditor not later 
than the time when it makes the statement available on the 
website. The business which may be dealt with at the Annual 
General Meeting includes any statement that the Company 
has been required under section 527 of the Companies Act 
2006 to publish on a website.

14. Any member attending the meeting has the right to ask 
questions. The Company must answer any such question 
relating to the business being dealt with at the meeting but no 
such answer need be given if: (a) to do so would interfere unduly 
with the preparation for the meeting or involve the disclosure 
of confidential information; (b) the answer has already been 
given on a website in the form of an answer to a question; or 
(c) it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good 
order of the meeting that the question be answered.

15. If you have sold or otherwise transferred all your ordinary 
shares in the Company, please forward this annual report and 
accounts to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, 
bank or other person through whom the sale or transfer was 
effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

16. The service agreements of the executive directors and copies 
of the letters of appointment of the non-executive directors are 
available for inspection during normal business hours on any 
weekday (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays) at 
the registered office of the Company and will be available for 
inspection for fifteen minutes prior to and during the Annual 
General Meeting.

17. You may not use any electronic address provided in this 
Notice, or any related documents including the proxy form, to 
communicate with the Company for any purposes other than 
those expressly stated.

18. A copy of this Notice, and other information required by  
section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, can be found at 
www.enterpriseinns.com.
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The Notice of the Annual General Meeting of the  
Company to be held on 5 February 2015 is set out on pages 129 
to 131 of the Annual Report and Accounts. The following notes 
provide an explanation as to why the resolutions set out in the 
Notice are to be put to shareholders.

Resolutions 1 to 15 are ordinary resolutions. These resolutions 
will be passed if more than 50% of the votes cast for or against 
are in favour.

Resolution 1 — Laying of accounts

The directors are required by the Companies Act 2006 to present to 
the shareholders of the Company at a general meeting the reports of 
the directors and auditor, and the audited accounts of the Company, 
for the year ended 30 September 2014. The reports of the directors 
and the audited accounts have been approved by the directors, and 
the report of the auditor has been approved by the auditor, and a 
copy of each of these documents may be found in the Annual Report 
and Accounts. 

Resolutions 2 and 3 — Directors’ remuneration report and 
directors’ remuneration policy

Following changes to the Companies Act 2006 which took effect on 
1 October 2013, the Directors’ Remuneration Report is now divided 
into two parts: an annual statement, which is shown on pages  
44 to 45 of the Annual Report and Accounts, and an annual report 
on remuneration, which starts at page 55 of the Annual Report and 
Accounts (together the “annual remuneration report”), and where a 
vote on the remuneration policy is proposed, the proposed directors’ 
remuneration policy (the “remuneration policy”), which starts at 
page 46 of the Annual Report and Accounts.

The Companies Act 2006 requires the Company to seek shareholder 
approval of the annual remuneration report on an annual basis. This 
is sought in resolution 2.

The Companies Act 2006 also now requires the Company to have 
received shareholder approval of a remuneration policy for its 
directors. This is a binding policy and, after it takes effect, the directors 
will not be entitled to remuneration unless such remuneration 
is consistent with the approved policy from time to time or 
shareholders otherwise approve the remuneration. The Company 
obtained shareholder approval for a policy at its AGM in February 
2014 and while, ordinarily, it would not need to seek fresh approval 
from its shareholders for its policy until its AGM in February 2017, 
the review of remuneration policy for directors which has occurred 
over the past year and, in particular, the adoption of new share plans 
which are the subject of additional resolutions at this year’s AGM, 
have led the Company to propose a new remuneration policy for its 
directors. Approval of the new policy is sought in resolution 3 and, 
if approved, the policy will take effect from the end of the AGM and 
will replace the policy approved by shareholders in February 2014.

Resolutions 4–8 — Re-election of directors

In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all of the 
directors of the Company will stand for re-election. Biographical 
information for the directors is shown on page 31 of the Annual Report 
and Accounts. Details of why the Board believes that the relevant 
directors should be re-elected are included in the Governance Report 
in the Annual Report and Accounts, starting at page 32.

Resolution 9 — Director appointed since the last Annual 
General Meeting

The Company’s Articles of Association require that directors appointed 
by the Board must seek re-appointment at the next following AGM. 
Accordingly, Adam Fowle is retiring and is seeking re-appointment. 
Biographical information for Adam Fowle is shown on page 31 of the 

Annual Report and Accounts. Details of why the Board believes he 
should be re-appointed are included in the Governance Report in the 
Annual Report and Accounts, starting at page 32.

Resolution 10 — Auditor’s re-appointment 

The Companies Act 2006 requires that an auditor is appointed at 
each general meeting at which accounts are laid, to hold office until 
the next such meeting. The resolution seeks shareholder approval 
for the re-appointment of Ernst & Young LLP. The Audit Committee 
keeps under review the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditor, further information on which can be found in the Annual 
Report and Accounts on pages 39 and 40. After considering relevant 
information, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of 
directors that Ernst & Young LLP be re-appointed.

Resolution 11 — Auditor’s remuneration

This resolution gives the directors the authority to determine the 
remuneration of the auditor for the audit work to be carried out by 
them in the next financial year. The amount of the remuneration paid 
to the auditor for the next financial year will be disclosed in the next 
audited accounts of the Company.

Resolution 12 — Authority to the directors to allot shares

The Companies Act 2006 provides that the directors may only allot 
shares if authorised by shareholders to do so. Resolution 12 will, if 
passed, authorise the directors to allot shares and to grant rights to 
subscribe for, or convert securities into, shares up to a maximum 
nominal amount of £8,432,957.24, which represents an amount 
which is approximately equal to two-thirds of the issued ordinary 
share capital of the Company as at 8 December 2014 (excluding 
treasury shares), the latest practicable date prior to the publication 
of the notice. The Company did not issue any shares during the 
period under review but, pursuant to the terms of convertible bonds 
previously issued by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, it 
has agreed to issue up to 50,800,000 shares on conversion of the 
bonds.

As provided in paragraph (a) of the resolution, up to half of this 
authority (equal to one-third of the issued ordinary share capital of 
the Company) will enable directors to allot and issue new shares 
in whatever manner (subject to pre-emption rights) they see fit. 
Paragraph (b) of the resolution provides that the remainder of the 
authority (equal to a further one-third of the issued ordinary share 
capital of the Company) may only be used in connection with a rights 
issue in favour of ordinary shareholders. As paragraph (a) imposes 
no restrictions on the way the authority may be exercised, it could 
be used in conjunction with paragraph (b) so as to enable the whole 
two-thirds authority to be used in connection with a rights issue.

The authority will expire at the earlier of the date that is fifteen months 
after the date of the passing of the resolution and the conclusion of 
the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Passing resolution 12 will ensure that the directors continue to have 
the flexibility to act in the best interests of shareholders, when 
opportunities arise, by issuing new shares. There are no current 
plans to issue new shares except in connection with employee share 
schemes and on conversion of the bonds.

As at 8 December 2014, the latest practicable date prior to the 
publication of the Notice, the Company had 555,977,435 ordinary 
shares of 2½ pence each in issue and held 50,000,000 treasury 
shares, which is equal to approximately 9.88% of the issued share 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) as at that date.

Explanatory Notes to the  
Notice of Annual General Meeting
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Resolution 13 — Approval of the new Long-Term Incentive 
Plan (“the LTIP”)

The Company’s current LTIP was approved by shareholders in 2005 
and expires in 2015. Therefore after extensive consultation with, and 
good support from, major shareholders, the Company is seeking 
shareholder approval for the Enterprise Inns 2015 LTIP. A summary of 
the principal terms of the LTIP is set out in pages 133 to 135 of these 
Explanatory Notes and details of the Remuneration Committee’s 
proposals in relation to the awards proposed to be granted in 2015 are 
described in the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period ended  
30 September 2014.

Resolution 14 — Approval of the new Save As You Earn 
Scheme (“the SAYE”)

The Company’s current SAYE was approved by shareholders in 
2005 and expires in 2015. Therefore the Company is seeking 
shareholder approval for the Enterprise Inns 2015 SAYE. A summary 
of the principal terms of the SAYE is set out on page 135 of these 
Explanatory Notes. 

Resolution 15 — Approval of the new Share Incentive Plan 
(“the SIP”)

The Company’s current SIP was approved by shareholders in 2005 
and expires in 2015. Therefore, the Company is seeking shareholder 
approval for the Enterprise Inns 2015 SIP. A summary of the principal 
terms of the SIP is set out on pages 135 to 137 of these Explanatory 
Notes.

Resolutions 16 – 18 are special resolutions. These resolutions 
will be passed if not less than 75% of the votes cast for and 
against are in favour.

Resolution 16 — Partial disapplication of statutory  
pre-emption rights

The Companies Act 2006 requires that, if the Company issues new 
shares for cash or sells any treasury shares, it must first offer them 
to existing shareholders in proportion to their current holdings. It is 
proposed that the directors be authorised to issue shares for cash 
and/or sell shares from treasury up to an aggregate nominal amount 
of £694,971.78 (representing approximately 5% of the Company’s 
issued ordinary share capital as at 8 December 2014, the latest 
practicable date prior to the publication of the Notice) without offering 
them to shareholders first in order to raise a limited amount of capital 
easily and quickly if needed. The resolution also modifies statutory 
pre-emption rights to deal with legal, regulatory or practical problems 
that may arise on a rights or other pre-emptive offer or issue. For 
example, the Company having to offer shares to shareholders in 
certain jurisdictions can result in significant compliance obligations 
and compliance with such obligations may be time consuming and 
costly. If resolution 16 is passed, this authority will expire at the same 
time as the authority to allot shares given pursuant to resolution 12.

The directors consider this authority necessary in order to give them 
flexibility to deal with opportunities as they arise, subject to the 
restrictions contained in the resolution.

Resolution 17 — Purchase of own shares by the Company

If passed, this resolution will grant the Company authority for a period 
of up to fifteen months after the date of passing of the resolution to 
buy its own shares in the market. The resolution limits the number of 
shares that may be purchased to 14.99% of the Company’s issued 
share capital (excluding treasury shares) as at 8 December 2014, the 
latest practicable date prior to the publication of the Notice. The price 
per ordinary share that the Company may pay is set at a minimum 
amount (excluding expenses) of 2½ pence per ordinary share and 
a maximum amount (excluding expenses) of the higher of: (i) 5% 

over the average of the previous five business days’ middle market 
prices; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent trade 
and the highest current independent bid on the trading venue where 
the purchase is carried out. This authority will only be exercised if 
market conditions make it advantageous to do so.

The directors’ present intention is that shares purchased pursuant 
to this authority will be cancelled immediately on purchase. 
Alternatively, the shares may be held in treasury, sold for cash or 
(provided Listing Rule requirements are met) transferred to an 
employees share scheme. The effect of any cancellation would be 
to reduce the number of shares in issue. For most purposes, while 
held in treasury, shares are treated as if they have been cancelled (for 
example, they carry no voting rights and do not rank for dividends). 
The directors will only make purchases under this authority if they 
believe that to do so would result in increased earnings per share and 
would be in the interests of the shareholders generally.

As at 8 December 2014, the latest practicable date prior to the 
publication of the Notice, the total number of options to subscribe 
for ordinary shares of 2½ pence each in the Company was 
18,606,404, representing approximately 3.68% of the issued share 
capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares) at that date. If 
the proposed market purchase authority were to be used in full 
and all of the repurchased ordinary shares were cancelled (but the 
Company’s issued share capital otherwise remained unaltered), the 
total number of options to subscribe for ordinary shares at that date 
would represent approximately 4.33% of the Company’s issued 
share capital (excluding treasury shares).

Resolution 18 — Approving the notice period for General 
Meetings

In order to maintain its ability to call general meetings (other than 
an Annual General Meeting) on 14 clear days’ notice, the Company 
must offer all shareholders the ability to appoint a proxy electronically 
(via the website of the Company or its registrars) and must obtain 
the approval of its shareholders by means of a special resolution 
passed each year. Resolution 18 seeks such approval. It is intended 
that a similar resolution will be proposed at future Annual General 
Meetings.

Appendix

Summaries of the principal terms of the Enterprise Inns 2015 
Long-Term Incentive Plan, the Enterprise Inns 2015 Save As You 
Earn Scheme and the Enterprise Inns 2015 Share Incentive Plan

Summaries of the principal terms of the Enterprise Inns 2015 Long 
Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), the Enterprise Inns 2015 Save As 
You Earn Scheme (the “SAYE”) and the Enterprise Inns 2015 Share 
Incentive Plan (the “SIP” and together with the LTIP and the SAYE, 
the “Plans”), are set out below. Certain provisions which apply to 
all the Plans are summarised at the end of the specific summaries 
below. 

LTIP

Eligibility 

Any employee (including an executive director) of the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries will be eligible to participate in the LTIP 
at the discretion of the Company’s Remuneration Committee (the 
“Committee”). 
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Grant of awards 

Awards under the LTIP may be made in the form of:

a) a conditional right to acquire shares at no cost to the participant 
(“Conditional Award”); 

b) an option to acquire shares at nil or nominal cost to the 
participant (“Nil-Cost Option”);

c) shares which are subject to forfeiture under the terms of the 
LTIP (“Forfeitable Shares”); or 

d) a right to acquire a cash amount which relates to the value of a 
certain number of notional shares (“Cash Award”)

and Conditional Awards, Nil-Cost Options, Forfeitable Shares and 
Cash Awards are together referred to as “Awards” and each an 
“Award”, as appropriate.

Awards may only be granted within the six week period following 
the approval of the LTIP by shareholders and the announcement of 
the Company’s results for any period, or on any day on which the 
Committee determines that exceptional circumstances exist, unless 
the grant of Awards is restricted as a result of legal or regulatory 
requirements, in which case Awards may be granted within six 
weeks of the day on which the restriction falls away. 

No payment will be required for the grant of an Award. 

Individual limit 

Awards may not be granted to a participant in respect of any financial 
year of the Company over shares with a market value (as determined 
by the Committee) in excess of 150% of basic salary. 

Performance and other conditions

Awards will be subject to the satisfaction of one or more performance 
conditions over a performance period (normally at least three years) 
which will determine the proportion (if any) of the Award to vest. 

The initial Awards will be subject to performance conditions relating 
to: (1) the Company’s Total Shareholder Return performance relative 
to a comparator group of other listed companies; and (2) Return 
on Capital Employed. The performance conditions for subsequent 
Awards will be set by the Committee prior to the grant date. In 
the case of executive directors, they will be consistent with the 
Company’s approved remuneration policy and disclosed in the 
relevant Directors’ Remuneration Report. 

Any performance condition may be amended if an event has 
occurred which causes the Committee reasonably to consider that 
the performance condition, without the amendment, would not 
achieve its original purpose and the amended performance condition 
would not, in the Committee’s reasonable opinion, be materially 
less difficult to satisfy than the un-amended performance condition 
would have been but for the event in question.

Vesting and exercise

Awards will normally vest as to one third of the shares on the 
Committee’s determination of the relevant performance condition 
following the end of the performance period, one third of the shares 
on the first anniversary of that determination and the remaining 
shares on the second anniversary of that determination (or, in any 
case, such later date as the Committee may determine). Awards will 
normally vest to the extent that the performance condition has been 
satisfied. 

Nil-Cost Options will normally remain exercisable from the date of 
vesting until the tenth anniversary of the date on which the Award 
was granted (or such earlier date as the Committee may determine 
on or prior to the grant date).

At any time before or after the point at which a Conditional Award has 
vested, or a Nil-Cost Option has been exercised, but the underlying 
shares have yet to be issued or transferred to the participant, the 
Committee may decide to pay a participant a cash amount equal to 
the value of the shares he would otherwise have received. 

Clawback and malus

The Committee may decide, at any time prior to the third anniversary 
of the end of the period over which any performance conditions 
applicable to an Award are measured, that a participant’s Award will 
be subject to clawback if in its opinion (i) there has been a material 
misstatement of the Company’s financial results which resulted 
in the Award over-vesting; (ii) the assessment of a performance or 
other condition applicable to an Award was based on an error or 
misleading or inaccurate information or assumptions which resulted 
in the Award over-vesting; or (iii) the participant ceases to be a Group 
employee or director as a result of material misconduct. 

The clawback may be satisfied by way of a reduction in: (i) the amount 
of any future bonus; (ii) the vesting of any subsisting or future share 
awards; (iii) the number of shares under any vested but unexercised 
award granted under the Company’s share incentive plans, and/or by 
requiring the relevant individual to make a cash payment.

In addition, at any time prior to the third anniversary of the end of 
the period over which any performance conditions applicable to an 
Award are measured, the Committee may determine to reduce the 
number of shares to which an Award relates or cancel an Award or 
impose further conditions on an Award in the event of a material 
misstatement of the Company’s financial results, a material failure of 
risk management by a member of the Group or serious reputational 
damage to a member of the Group. 

Dividend equivalents

The Committee may decide at any time prior to the transfer or release 
of the shares underlying an Award that participants will receive an 
amount (in cash and/or additional shares) calculated by reference 
to any dividends (including the dividend tax credit) that would have 
been paid on those shares by reference to dividend record dates 
falling between the time when the relevant Awards were granted 
and the time when the Awards vested. This amount may assume the 
reinvestment of dividends, may exclude or include special dividends 
and any such amount will be payable shortly after vesting, or (if 
applicable) exercise, of the relevant Award.

Cessation of employment

Except in the circumstances set out below, an Award will lapse 
immediately upon a participant ceasing to be employed or hold office 
with any member of the Group prior to the vesting date. 

Awards will however vest if a participant ceases to be employed or 
hold office with any member of the Group because of his death, 
injury or the sale of his employing company or business out of the 
Group or in other circumstances at the discretion of the Committee 
(“Good Leaver Reason”). 

If the individual leaves for a Good Leaver Reason during the 
performance period applicable to an Award, his Award will ordinarily 
vest on the originally anticipated vesting dates. However, the 
Committee may alternatively decide that his Award will vest when the 
participant leaves or following the assessment of the performance 
conditions. 
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The Committee will decide the extent to which an unvested Award 
vests in these circumstances, by reference to the extent to which 
the performance condition is satisfied at the end of the performance 
period or, as appropriate, at the date on which the participant ceases 
to be an officer or employee of the Group and, unless the Committee 
in its discretion determines otherwise, pro-rating for the period of 
time that has elapsed since the Award was granted until the date 
on which the participant ceases to be an officer or employee of the 
Group as a proportion of 36 months. 

If the individual leaves for a Good Leaver Reason after the end of 
the performance period, his Award will vest on the date of cessation 
in respect of the maximum number of shares in respect of which 
an Award may vest by reference to the satisfaction of the relevant 
performance condition, unless the Committee determines that 
the Award should vest in respect of those shares on the originally 
anticipated vesting dates. 

To the extent that Nil-Cost Options vest if a participant leaves for 
a Good Leaver Reason, they may be exercised for a period of six 
months following vesting and will lapse at the end of that period. 
If a participant ceases to be an officer or employee of the Group 
for a Good Leaver Reason whilst holding vested Nil-Cost Options, 
he will normally have six months from his cessation of office or 
employment to exercise those Nil-Cost Options after which his Nil-
Cost Options lapse.

Corporate events

In the event of a takeover, scheme of arrangement or winding-up 
of the Company, the Awards will vest early. If the takeover, scheme 
of arrangement or winding-up takes place before the end of the 
relevant performance period, the proportion of the Awards which 
vest will be determined by the Committee by reference to the extent 
that the performance condition has been satisfied and, unless the 
Committee determines otherwise, pro-rating for the period of time 
which has elapsed between the grant date and the relevant event as 
a proportion of 36 months. If the takeover, scheme of arrangement 
or winding-up of the Company takes place after the end of the 
performance period, Awards will vest in respect of the maximum 
number of shares in respect of which an Award may vest by 
reference to the satisfaction of the relevant performance condition. 

To the extent that Nil-Cost Options vest in the event of a takeover, 
scheme of arrangement or winding-up of the Company, they may 
normally be exercised for a period of one month from the relevant 
event and will otherwise lapse at the end of that period. 

In the event of an internal reorganisation of the Group, Awards will 
not vest but will (with the consent of the acquiring company) be 
replaced by equivalent new Awards over shares in the acquiring 
company.

In the event of a demerger, delisting, special dividend or other event 
which would affect the market price of shares, the Committee may 
determine that Awards vest on the same basis as set out above for 
a takeover. 

SAYE

General

The SAYE is an “all-employee” arrangement, proposed to satisfy 
the requirements of Schedule 3 to the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003 so that options granted under it will offer 
beneficial tax treatment to the participant and the member of the 
Group employing the participant. 

The SAYE will give participating employees the opportunity to save 
up to £500 per month (or such other amount permitted under the 

relevant legislation from time to time) in accordance with a HMRC-
approved savings contract for three or five years (a “Sharesave 
Contract”). The proceeds of the Sharesave Contract can be used to 
exercise an option to acquire shares at an exercise price per share 
which may not be less than 80% (or such other percentage as may 
be permitted by the relevant legislation) of the market value of a 
share on the date invitations are issued to participate in the SAYE. 
Invitations may only be issued within the six week period following 
the approval of the SAYE by shareholders or the announcement of 
the Company’s results for any period or on any day on which the 
Board determines that exceptional circumstances exist. 

Eligibility 

All UK tax-resident employees (including full-time executive directors) 
of the Company and any of its subsidiaries which participate in the 
SAYE at the Board’s discretion, who have been employed for a 
minimum period determined by the Board (not exceeding five years), 
and any other employees nominated by the Board may apply for an 
option on any occasion on which invitations are issued. 

Exercise of options 

Ordinarily, an option may be exercised within six months of maturity 
of the Sharesave Contract. Options may only be exercised using the 
proceeds of the Sharesave Contract.

Cessation of employment 

Options may be exercised (for a period of six months following 
the individual’s cessation of employment) if a participant leaves 
employment by reason of injury, disability, redundancy, retirement or 
the sale of the entity that employs him out of the Group or, provided 
the option has been held for at least three years, any other reason 
apart from summary dismissal. 

If an individual dies, his option may be exercised for a period of 12 
months from the maturity date of the Sharesave Contract if he dies 
within six months after the maturity date or 12 months from his 
death, if he dies before the maturity date.

If a participant ceases employment with the Group and any associated 
company of the Group in any other circumstances, any option he 
holds will lapse on the date on which he ceases employment. 

Corporate events 

Options may be exercised early in the event of a takeover, scheme of 
arrangement or voluntary winding-up of the Company. Alternatively, 
options may be exchanged (with the agreement of the acquiring 
company and the participant) for equivalent options in the new 
holding company. Options will be exchanged in the event of an 
internal reorganisation of the Group.

SIP

General 

The SIP is an “all employee” arrangement, proposed to satisfy 
the requirements of Schedule 2 to the Income Tax (Earnings and 
Pensions) Act 2003 so that Awards granted under it will offer 
beneficial tax treatment to the participant and the member of the 
Group employing the participant. 

Under the SIP, eligible employees may be:

(i) awarded up to £3,600 worth of free shares (“Free Shares”) each 
year;

(ii) offered the opportunity to buy shares with a value of up to the 
lower of £1,800 and 10% of the employee’s pre-tax salary per 
year (“Partnership Shares”);
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(iii) given up to two free shares (“Matching Shares”) for each 

Partnership Share bought; and/or

(iv) allowed or required to purchase shares using any dividends 
received on shares held in the SIP (“Dividend Shares”).

The limits set out above are the current limits under the applicable 
SIP legislation. The Board may determine that different limits will 
apply in the future should the relevant legislation change in this 
respect.

SIP Trust

The SIP operates through a UK-resident trust (the “SIP Trust”). The 
SIP Trust purchases or subscribes for shares that are awarded to or 
purchased on behalf of employees under the SIP.

An employee will be the beneficial owner of any shares held on his 
behalf by the trustee of the SIP Trust. Any shares held in the SIP Trust 
will rank equally with shares then in issue. If an employee ceases to 
be employed by the Group he will be required to withdraw his Free, 
Partnership, Matching and Dividend Shares from the SIP Trust (or 
the Free Shares or Matching Shares may be forfeited as described 
below).

Eligibility

Each time that the Board decides to operate the SIP, all UK tax-
resident employees (including executive directors) of the Company 
and any of its subsidiaries that participate in the SIP must be offered 
the opportunity to participate. Other employees may be permitted to 
participate. Employees invited to participate must have completed 
a minimum qualifying period of employment (determined by the 
Board) before they can participate. That period must not exceed 18 
months (or such other period as may be prescribed by the legislation 
from time to time).

Free Shares

Free Shares must be awarded on the same terms to each employee, 
but the number of Free Shares awarded can vary by reference to 
the employee’s remuneration, length of service, number of hours 
worked and/or objective performance criteria. 

The award of Free Shares can, if the Company so chooses, be 
subject to the satisfaction of a pre-award performance target which 
measures the objective success of the individual, team, division or 
business.

There is a holding period of between three and five years (the precise 
duration to be determined by the Board) during which the employee 
cannot withdraw the Free Shares from the SIP Trust (or otherwise 
dispose of the Free Shares) unless the employee leaves employment 
with the Group.

At its discretion, the Board may provide that some or all of the Free 
Shares will be forfeited to the extent permitted by the relevant 
legislation. 

Partnership Shares

The Board may allow an employee to use pre-tax salary, up to the 
applicable limit, to buy Partnership Shares. If a minimum amount of 
deductions is set, it will not be greater than £10 (or such other limit 
prescribed by the legislation from time to time). The salary allocated 
to Partnership Shares can be accumulated for a period of up to 
twelve months (the “Accumulation Period”) or Partnership Shares 
can be purchased out of deductions from the employee’s pre-tax 
salary when those deductions are made. Partnership Shares must be 

bought within 30 days of, as appropriate, the end of the Accumulation 
Period or the deduction from pay. If there is an Accumulation Period, 
the number of shares purchased will be determined by reference 
to the market value of the shares at the start of the Accumulation 
Period, or the proposed acquisition date or the lower of the two. 

An employee may stop and start (or, with the agreement of the 
Company, vary) deductions at any time although an employee may 
only restart deductions once per Accumulation Period without 
the Board’s approval. Once acquired, Partnership Shares may be 
withdrawn from the SIP by the employee at any time (subject to the 
deduction of income tax and National Insurance contributions) and 
will not be capable of forfeiture.

Matching Shares

The Board may offer Matching Shares free to an employee who has 
purchased Partnership Shares. If awarded, Matching Shares must be 
awarded on the same basis to all employees up to a maximum of 
two Matching Shares for every Partnership Share purchased (or such 
other limit prescribed by the legislation from time to time). 

There is a holding period of between three and five years (the precise 
duration to be determined by the Board) during which the employee 
cannot withdraw the Matching Shares from the SIP Trust.

The Board can, at its discretion, provide that the Matching Shares 
will be forfeited if the associated Partnership Shares are withdrawn 
by the employee (other than on a corporate event or where the 
employee leaves employment with the Group other than in specified 
“good leaver” circumstances) or if the employee leaves employment 
with the Group other than in specified “good leaver” circumstances. 

Reinvestment of dividends

The Board may allow or require an employee to reinvest the whole 
or part of any cash dividends paid on shares held in the SIP. Dividend 
Shares must be held in the SIP Trust for three years, unless the 
employee leaves employment with the Group. Once acquired, 
Dividend Shares are not capable of forfeiture. 

Corporate events

In the event of a general offer being made for the Company or a similar 
takeover event taking place during a holding period, employees will 
be able to direct the trustee of the SIP Trust as to how to act in 
relation to their shares held in the SIP. Where participants receive 
other securities for the shares held for them in the SIP, those other 
securities are held in the SIP on the same basis. 

Variation of capital

Shares acquired on a variation of share capital of the Company 
will usually be treated in the same way as the shares acquired or 
awarded under the SIP in respect of which the rights were conferred 
and as if they were acquired or awarded at the same time. In the 
event of a rights issue during a holding period, participants will be 
able to direct the trustee of the SIP Trust as to how to act in respect 
of their shares held in the SIP.

Rights attaching to shares

Any shares allotted under the SIP will rank equally with shares then 
in issue (except for rights arising by reference to a record date prior 
to their allotment).

136 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI

136 Enterprise Inns plc Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 30 September 2014

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI



23605.04   9 December 2014 9:48 AM   Proof 8

Sh
a

re
h

o
ld

e
r i

n
fo

rm
a

tio
n

Provisions which are common to the LTIP and the SAYE

Adjustments 

In the event of a variation of the Company’s share capital and (in 
the case of Awards granted under the LTIP) a demerger, delisting, 
special dividend or other event which affects the market price of 
shares, the number of shares subject to an Award and/or the exercise 
price applicable to an Award may be adjusted. Any adjustment to an 
option under the SAYE may only be made in accordance with the 
requirements of the applicable tax legislation. 

Terms of options  

Awards and options are not transferable (other than on death). 

Provisions which are common to the plans

Overall limits 

The Plans are subject to the following overall limit. In any ten year 
period, the number of shares which have been issued or may be 
issued under the relevant plan and under any other employee share 
plan adopted by the Company may not exceed 10% of the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company from time to time.

The LTIP is subject to the additional following limit. In any 10 year 
period, the number of shares which have been issued or may be 
issued under the relevant plan and under any other discretionary 
share plan adopted by the Company may not exceed 5% of the 
issued ordinary share capital of the Company from time to time. 

Shares held in treasury will be treated as newly issued for the 
purpose of these limits until such time as guidelines published by 
institutional investor representative bodies determine otherwise.

Termination 

The Plans will usually terminate on the tenth anniversary of their 
approval by shareholders but the existing rights of participants will 
not be affected by any such termination. 

Operation 

The operation of the Plans will be supervised by the Board or a duly 
authorised committee appointed by the Board. In the case of the 
LTIP, the duly authorised committee appointed by the Board will be 
the Committee. 

Amendment 

The Board may amend the Plans at any time, provided that prior 
approval of the Company’s shareholders will be required for 
amendments to the advantage of eligible employees or participants 
relating to eligibility, limits, the basis for determining a participant’s 
entitlement to, and the terms of, the shares or cash comprised in an 
option or Award and the impact of any variation of capital. 

However, any minor amendment to benefit the administration of the 
Plans, to take account of legislative changes, or to obtain or maintain 
favourable tax treatment, exchange control or regulatory treatment 
may be made by the Board without shareholder approval.

Amendments to the SIP require the consent of the trustee of the 
SIP Trust.

Share rights 

Except as set out above in relation to the SIP, Awards will not confer 
any shareholder rights until the participants have received their 
shares. Any shares allotted when an Award is satisfied under the 
Plans will rank equally with shares then in issue (except for rights 
arising by reference to a record date prior to their allotment).

Satisfying Awards

Awards may be satisfied using newly issued shares, shares held in 
treasury or shares purchased in the market.

Pensionable earnings 

Benefits delivered under the Plans will not form part of pensionable 
earnings.

Documents available for inspection

The rules of the Plans will be available for inspection at the office 
of Deloitte LLP (Company Secretarial Department), 2 New Street 
Square, London EC4A 3BZ on any weekday (Saturdays, Sundays 
and public holidays excluded) until the close of the Annual General 
Meeting, and will also be available at the place of the Annual General 
Meeting for at least 15 minutes before and during the meeting.
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Award Winners

Pub name/operator Awarding body Award name

Alford Arms, Frithsden The Times The UK’s best Gastropub

Anchor Inn, Cowes CAMRA Isle of Wight Pub of the Year 2013

Anchor Inn, Wingham The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Best Entertainment Pub

Bay Horse, Hurworth on Tee The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015 Top 
50 UK Pubs

Michelin Guide 2015 Retained Bib Gourmand 2015

Be at One Ltd Publican Awards 2014 Best Pub Brand/Concept 
Finalist: Best Drinks Offer, Best Late Night 
Operator; Best Business Initiative

Beehive, Waltham The Times Top 25 Country Dining Pubs

Bell Inn, Welford on Avon The Good Pub Guide Top ten Dining Pub of the Year

Black Lion, Thirsk AA One AA rosette

Butchers Arms, Woodsetts CAMRA Runner-up: Rotherham Pub of the Year 2013

Camberwell Arms, Camberwell The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015 Top 
50 UK Pubs

Canton Arms, Nine Elms, 
London

Budweiser Budvar Top 50 Gastropubs 2014 No.18 – Top 50 Gastropubs

Michelin Guide 2015 Retained Bib Gourmand 2015

Chequers, Bath AA Two AA rosettes

Clissold Arms, East Finchley The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Finalist: Best Family Pub

Crown, Old Basing The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015 Top 
50 UK Pubs

Earl of March, Chichester The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015 Top 
50 UK Pubs

El Gato Negro Tapas, Ripponden Michelin Guide 2015 Retained Bib Gourmand 2015

Friday Street Farm, Eastbourne Budweiser Budvar Top 50 Gastropubs 2014 Business Innovation of the Year

Publican Awards 2014 Highly Commended: Best Food Offer (2-50 
sites)

Grafton, Kentish Town The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Great British Pub of the Year 2014 and Best 
Partnership Pub

Harwood Arms, Fulham Budweiser Budvar Top 50 Gastropubs 2014 No.8 – Top 50 Gastropubs

The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015 Top 
50 UK Pubs

Michelin Guide 2015 Retained 1 Michelin Star

Horse Guards Inn, Petworth The Good Pub Guide Top ten Pub of the Year and Dining Pub  
of the Year

New Inn, Shalfleet The Good Pub Guide County Dining Pub of the Year 2015 for the 
Isle of Wight
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Pub name/operator Awarding body Award name

Nursery Tavern, Coventry CAMRA Coventry & North Warwickshire Pub of the 
Year 2013

Office, Brighton The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Best Spirits Bar/Pub

Parkers Arms, Newton Budweiser Budvar Top 50 Gastropubs 2014 No.48 – Top 50 Gastropubs

VisitEngland Awards for Excellence 2014 Taste of England Gold Award

The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Finalist: Best Food Pub

Plough, Longparish Budweiser Budvar Top 50 Gastropubs 2014 No.29 – Top 50 Gastropubs

The Great British Menu 2014 Main course

The Good Food Guide Finalist: Waitrose Good Food Guide 2015  
Top 50 UK Pubs

Princess Victoria, Shepherds 
Bush

The Great British Pub Awards 2014 Finalist: Best Wine Bar/Pub

Royal Oak Inn, 
Appleby-in-Westmorland

BII Finalist: Licensee of the Year 2014

Snug Bars Ltd Publican Awards 2014 Finalist: Best Drinks Offer; Best Pub Brand/
Concept

Sunray Hotel, Weymouth British Roast Dinner Week Best Dressed Pub 2013

Swan Inn, Thornbury BII Finalist: Fundraiser of the Year 2014

The Lazy Cow Group Publican Awards 2014 Finalist: Best Food Offer (2-50 sites)

The Sweet Olive at the 
Chequers, Aston Tirrold

BII Finalist: Fundraiser of the Year 2014

Three Hats, Milton CAMRA Swale Pub of the Year 2013

Three Oaks, Gerrards Cross Michelin Guide 2015 New Bib Gourmand 2015

Three Tuns, Romsey Michelin Guide 2015 Retained Bib Gourmand 2015

Tolcarne Inn, Newlyn Michelin Guide 2015 Retained Bib Gourmand 2015

Unicorn, Canterbury CAMRA Canterbury Herne Bay & Whitstable Pub of the 
Year 2013

Victoria Works, Studley CAMRA Redditch & Bromsgrove Pub of the Year 2013

Viper Rooms, Sheffield ALMR Total Hospitality Award
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COMMUNITY HEROES - REGIONAL WINNERS

The Keel Row, 
Seaton Delaval
North East

Merrie Monk, 
Sheffield
Sheffield & Grimsby

The Rose in June, 
Portsmouth
South Coast

The Jolly Sailor, 
Canterbury
South East

The Crosswells Inn, 
Oldbury
South Midlands 

The Maypole Inn, 
Thurloxton
South West 

Cross Keys,  
Tunbridge Wells
Sussex & Surrey

Old George Inn, 
South Cerney
Thames Valley

The Bell Inn, 
Haughton
West Midlands

The Lion Hotel, 
Treorchy
Bristol & South Wales 

The Arion,  
Ainsdale
Cumbria & Lancashire 

Three Jays, 
Clacton on Sea
East Anglia 

The Bottle and Glass, 
Scothern
East Midlands 

Hare & Hounds, 
Leyton
Greater London

The Grafton,  
Kentish Town
Greater London

Beggar & Gentleman, 
Hoyland
Hull & Yorkshire

Myrtle Tavern, 
Meanwood
Leeds & Bradford 

Red Lion,  
Prestatyn
Manchester & North 
Wales

1 410

2 51110

3 12

4 413

5 51413

6 15

17 416

28 51716

39 18

www.enterpriseinns.com
Stock code: ETI
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Enterprise Inns plc

3 Monkspath Hall Road 
Solihull 
West Midlands 
B90 4SJ

Tel: +44 (0) 121 733 7700 
Fax: +44 (0) 121 733 6447

www.enterpriseinns.com
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